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Company Profile and Group Structure
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CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS)
COMPANY LIMITED

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
00291), is a beer listed subsidiary company of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"). The Group focuses on the
manufacturing, sales and distribution of beer products. China
Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB") is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

In 2015, the Company successfully completed its business
restructuring and transformed itself into a beer-focused enterprise,
and was renamed from “China Resources Enterprise, Limited” to
“China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited".

The Group has been in the beer business in China since 1993. Its
total sales volume ranked No.1 in the China market since 2006.
The flagship brand “ Z 1€ Snow" is the largest single beer brand by
volume worldwide.

As a member of China Resources Group, we are dedicated to
leading the business progress and building a better life together
with our consumers, shareholders, staff and business partners, and
make the Group a trusted and beloved beer enterprise.
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* Certain items included the recognized impairment loss, the compensation and staff
resettlement expenses related to production capacity optimization and operational
reform, as well as the one-off annuity provision of its staff cost for 2017.
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Milestones in 2018

FELE el P&
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HEHERBEEBURNFRARE
ZAEAMEABENEZ O M BE
KIEsuperX ] LT R HED) T IBH
Tl lFmfig  # 'K HER
M= DEEET -

Launched its new core product
“Brave the World superX”, the
Group's first core product aimed
at younger generation after its
rebranding. This product promoted
the three transformations in
the beer industry: products
development, promotion model and
sales model.

4 APRIL

48 B 7 8T 53R dn BT R AL A
Chnbrand 51 % #9 [ 2018 & [E 54 k&
T (C-BPP) &2 miE] - BE M
R B2014F £2018F E L5
#WEXC-BPI®E — BRI M -

CRSB won the “2018 China Brand
Power Index (C-BPI®) Gold Brand”
granted by the brand rating agency
Chnbrand. The “Gold Brand”
recognizes the brands which have
ranked C-BPI® number one for 5
consecutive years from 2014 to
2018.

SHMAY

HEBREE (FX) BR A RRIE
TRETEFE T4 F7782£9100
FFF o

China Resources Snow Brewery
(Wuhan) Co., Ltd. relocated and
expanded its beer product line, with
an annual production capacity of
about 1 million kiloliters.

/1 06

8 HAUGUST

REHE T8 A 54K E — KA 4 7= Heineken SR FlA R KBS IS & 1E &
H HT11 A BZITRMH RN  th B ERNRER R T A5 i B E
Mz ROBEHE  KALRAKNERANNES -

The Group agreed to establish a long-term strategic partnership with the
Heineken Group in August, the world's second-largest beer producer, and
entered into a share purchase agreement on November 5. The co-operation
represents an important strategic and long term

growth, and value enhancing proposition for the !_

Group to expand into the premium beer market. .

MEREEmRAEEHEREMEH [ [ELEE]
Fean T e

The “Craftsmanship”, a customized product for
consumers who pursue a better quality of life was
launched.

11 HNOVEMBER

TR EEEFH L REHIES
ETIEXFE XRELASHERABS
BRRFERNZFRAEIPESTRZRNE
REHEEARGEETRIPHX —FE5HE -
The new building of memorial hall of
the Society for the Study of Chinese Architecture, the “Snow Hall” was
officially inaugurated in Beijing. This was another significant event in the
“"Ancient Chinese Architecture of Popularization and Inheritance Series”
in co-operation with CRSB and the School of Architecture, Tsinghua
University.

12HDECEMBER

[EAABRRBEANARSENAINMEEBELSBETRARRS
KEITR B THFEBELHE2BEARZRCORBRARETE  HITHIK
BIEPRMAEKRTF - MM B WERZEEL TNt oM - EBREAITIL
e ERM

The projects “Research and Application of Key Technologies for Beer's
Syrup” and “Research and Practice of Efficient Operation Technology
for Beer's Packaging Line” were passed appraisal on the scientific and
technological achievements of the Technical Committee of China Alcoholic
Drinks Association. Both projects achieved the leading international
standard and have significant economic and social benefits, strong
industrial demonstration and promotion effects.
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The regional companies of CRSB in Henan, Sichuan and Harbin were
granted the bronze medals, and the regional companies in Hangzhou,
Shenzhen and Xi'an, were granted the merit awards at the Hong Kong
Green Awards held by the Hong Kong Green Council. The companies
were recognized for their outstanding performance in implementing

RIET 2018 Fam eV L F &R -
ME2018F E [FEmEFEARK—F EREITILNO]RIH
R &AW AN @ETOP10 RIAK o

Leveraging on the outstanding performance of its branding in 2018,
CRSB won “China Brand Annual Award — China Beer Industry
No.1” and “China Beer Most Influential Brand TOP 10" awards
from the World Brand Laboratory of the year.

R )N\FHEM
Milestones in 2018

HAE TR A mESR R E

\.Illi LI CRTLER TEIUI YU RN

iy
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environmental protection policy.

[EOEE] = mT 2018 F £ 3R1FM
RNEFRIEITAK - BREEARFA L
1H4AE %K - One Show | H AR ES
E LR - Pentawards E Br B 2
BRI ALS L RIEBEHHALNE
R -

“Craftsmanship” product won four
international design awards in 2018,
including the “ltaly Platinum A’
Design Award”, “Gold Pencil at the
One Show Advertising Grand Prix”,
“Gold Pentawards for Worldwide
Packaging Design Awards
Competition”, and “German Design
Award”.

[ B8] X superX ] TS M K75
MiAEHED - T2018FRKES
PMERINEHTIAR - BIFETF
(CAm# ) RK2018FHRE T
ERMKER  TENFHERK2
UGCHEBEHZEN - BB
R ET2018FERBEN : &
B BB SUETFOBER
EEEQHTAEHERX  AABTREGUEKRNPEREERE  RRRE
RIB2CKEERAEHRER | HEFN I EAKEZFTZRF2018F 2 ER
[B2BRIENAEHK ] FIR2018RIEZERROF T [ EHAUF R e &K
RIR2018FREMBFERRGAMAR —mEEHAK] -

The marketing activities of the launching of “Brave the World superX”
won several domestic and international marketing industry awards.
The “Hot Blood Dance Crew” ({FAMm & ££H)) won the “2018 China
Advertising Great-wall Awards — Silver Award”; the new NetEase's World
Cup User-Generated Content (UGC) marketing campaign won the “2018
Gold Medal” at the China International Advertising Festival; the creative
holographic elevator advertisement (£ 8.8 #/ &€& ) won the “London
International Award for Best Innovation Marketing Award” (1& 2 [ fr 32
RESF T E 4 %K), becoming the first Chinese consumer brand to
receive this honor. It also won the Goldsmith Award “B2C Best Integrated
Marketing Awards” (B2C & EE A EHK %K) and 2018 Goldsmith Award
for “B2B Best Marketing Content Awards” (B2B&{ER A E 44 2) in co-
operation with iQiyi (2 & Z), internet media; the Creative International
Innovation Festival 2018 (2018 %t & E Fx € ¥ 1) “Marketing Innovation
Gold Award" (E458I%728 e £¥); and the 2018 China Brand Annual Award
(P ESEFEAK) “Special Grand Prize — Brand Marketing Award” (455)]
AK—mBEEHEKRK).
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Awards and Recognition in 2018

2HFEBRUARY

MerComm, Inc.

Mercury Awards

2016 F iR — BRI - RBHER| R
Annual Report 2016 — Overall Presentation:
Beverages — Bronze Winner

2016 F R — A TLIRIT : FrAIBIVERAR — 4R
Annual Report 2016 — Interior Design: Special
Production Techniques — Bronze Winner

3HMARCH

2%—H

Economic Digest
AHARELE LW ERAR
Outstanding ESG Award
ANHERL 2B EIRKRK 2018

Outstanding ESG Award 2018

(WS ERIFE

Corporate Governance Asia

2017 FETMELESRH AR

Corporate Director of the Year Award 2017
Ml ES

Asian Corporate Director

2017 FEIM B ERRH AR

Corporate Governance Asia Recognition
Awards 2017

Tl B IR #5E
Asia’s Icon on Corporate Governance

BRERFEEFRAELWHITHO
RBHEFHE

Tsinghua SEM China Business
Research Center and National
Business Daily

2018 E £ A B M AEMMER

Chinese Listed Companies By Brand Value
2018

BB TOP100

Top 100

SHMAY
ERRAEREMS

Hong Kong Investor Relations
Association
FOEREBRAERRAR

HKIRA 4th Investor Relations
Awards
RERREXRRAF - KRB

Best IR Company — Large Cap
RERAERRZ(MS EK) - KERKR
Best IR by CFO - Large Cap
RERBEXRREA-RER

Best IRO - Large Cap

BERRES - KRR

Best Investor Meeting — Large Cap
BRERFZRRZIBARHPI

3 years IR Awards Winning Company

FERm .

k ]
H Pt Winring Compary

6HJUNE

MM ERY T E
Corporate Governance Asia
2018 FE NS MRIMKH AR
Asian Excellence Recognition Awards 2018
THZEERHRITE RAEXRR)
Asia’s Best CEO (Investor Relations)
TMREERMSE (REEXR)
Asia’s Best CFO (Investor Relations)
HERRERFEW

Best Investor Relations Company
HERREXRREAR

Best Investor Relations Professional

n® 3
ASIANEXCELLENCE

/108

(LI R EIRE

Institutional Investor

2018 FEIWMX AR EEHIBE

2018 All-Asia Executive Team survey
BZEEM I (MEERRBITIL)

Most Honored Company (Consumer staples
sector)

BREEENTEE B (WHBHEBRHRTL)
Best CEO (first place) — Consumer staples
sector
BREEEVSEE=Z2(XHHEBHRTL)
Best CFO (third place) — Consumer staples
sector

BERBREXRRAAE B (UFEFRITL)
Best Investor Relations Professional (first
place) - Consumer staples sector
BERREXRZAAFZ-E (MEHEFERTLL)
Best Investor Relations Professional (second
place) — Consumer staples sector
BERBREXRRIEE B (UFEFRITL)
Best Investor Relations Program (first place) —
Consumer staples sector
HECWERE B (LRHEMTL)

Best Corporate Governance (first place) —
Consumer staples sector

RERNE 2 RER /ML RERTIER
E—R(UEHTERITL)

Best ESG SRI Metrics (first place) — Consumer
staples sector

RESMABE B (LFHEEMTL)

Best Analyst Days (first place) — Consumer
staples sector

7HJULY

(R
The Mirror
FEERAHBUHSTER

The 7th Outstanding Corporate Social
Responsibility Award

ARl STER

Outstanding Corporate Social Responsibility
Award

XEERET KRR

League of American
Communications Professionals
LLC (LACP)

2017 FHRMHER

2017 Vision Awards Annual Report
Competition
EERm-RMRRELR &R
Consumer Consumables — Food/ Beverage/
Tobacco Category: Gold Award

0K X £ R 80 58 HE 44 55 44 L

Ranked 44th in Top 80 Winners Reports —
Asia-Pacific Region

X EF 4R 6058

Top 60 Chinese Reports

BARKFR

Technical Achievement Award
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KEEFET LR

League of American
Communications Professionals
LLC (LACP)

2017 T HREMKER

2017 Vision Awards Specialized Report
Competition
HER-RM R REAR &R
Consumer Consumables — Food/Beverage/
Tobacco Category: Gold Award

AKX 1R 8058

Top 80 Winners Reports — Asia-Pacific Region
X FIR6058

Top 60 Chinese Reports

AR K

Technical Achievement Award

M E PED)ZF
Fortune China
R E 500 58 1)l
Fortune China 500
5% 25241
Ranked 252nd

BEERES IS

The Hong Kong Institute

of Financial Analysts and
Professional Commentators
Limited

2018 FEEBRESMMNS EHATAR
IFAPC Outstanding Listed Company Award
2018

FHRBEIFEFERR

Outstanding Listed Company of the Year

-

o

13

L J

"
S
=
-

8 HAUGUST

MerComm, Inc.

EFRARC F R AR

International Annual Report Competition
(ARC) Awards

HERS AR @R (EHERE &)
Manufacturing & Distributing Category: Gold
Award (Cover Photo/Design)
EGFR—R

Traditional Annual Report — Bronze Award
HEERE RiT-REE

Cover Photo/Design — Honors Award

ARC AWARDS

TR )\ER TR
Awards and Recognition in 2018

11 HNOVEMBER

E@F—RAY#EE
Economic Digest

10HOCTOBER

am730 - Y03 23 3k K 3% i 18
am730, PR Asia and

Roadshow 2018 FEEBAHBWIKAIL
AHEEHT AT KIEL2018 Hong Kong Outstanding
Listed Company Excellence Awards Enterprises Parade 2018
2018 BENE Emdl

Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprise Award

ERRA AR
Excellence Award

AN ETARARR (EHR—AKTE)
Listed Company Excellence Awards
(Main Board — Large Market Capitalization)

(IR REIRE
Institutional Investor

2018 4F 2 YU B 4 £k B TR A BA
2018 All-Asia Executive Team Most
Honored Companies Award

MerComm, Inc.

[ BR Galaxy 2211
International Galaxy Awards
FIREMRITEE -7/ TREAR BESBEE (BEANEITL)

Gold Award for Annual Reports Cover Most Honored Company (Consumer staples
Design: Places/Products sector)

TAXIFESFRIZIHLEFR BRI - REERBITE
Honors Award for Non-Traditional Annual Special Achievement Award — Best CEO
Reports — Asia Pacific

IR Magazine

IR Magazine X I — 2018 & K Fr 4 ith [X

IR Magazine Awards — Great China 2018
FRERLERREE

Best corporate governance & disclosure
BRERAERZ-VFEHEER

Best in sector — consumer staples

IR Magazine

2018 F IR Magazine £ 3k ¥

IR Magazine Global Awards 2018
BERREXRFZ-VBHFHEE®
Best in sector — consumer staples

dnoup ayy 1noqy
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Financial Highlights

HE-ZF—)\F+-A=+—H I For the year ended 31 December 2018

= Ml B BREXREERF
TURNOVER BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER
SHARE
31,867 29,732 28,694 0.30 0.36 0.22
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
ARME 77t RMB million ARMIT RMB
—E-)\F —F—+F —E-REF
2018 2017 2016
ARTMBEATR ARTBEATT ARMBEATT
RMB million RMB million RMB million
S A Turnover 31,867 29,732 28,694
/NG & by Profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company 977 1,175 629
FREARKERF Basic and diluted earnings per share RMB0.30 RMBO0.36 RMBO0.22
BRES Dividend per share
—Hh 8 —interim RMB0.09 RMB0.07 =
—RH —final RMB0.03 RMB0.07 RMB0.08
RMBO0.12 RMBO0.14 RMB0.08
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Financial Highlights

F==—N\&F+=FB=+—H As at 31 December 2018

NG| EIVEE S BREAFRE: KEE
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NET ASSETS PER SHARE:
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY BOOK VALUE

18,848 18,421 17,601 5.81 5.68 5.43

2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016

ARME 77t RMB million ARMIT RMB

F-8-)\F F-B-tF FoI-AF
t=A=+-B +ZA=t—-H +ZA=t+-H

As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2016
ARTMEBEATR ARTBERT ARMBEATT
RMB million RMB million RMB million
/NG SR Equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company 18,848 18,421 17,601
BRI Non-controlling interests 62 64 66
B Total equity 18,910 18,485 17,667
SAU4L,/(B3) %%  Consolidated net cash/(borrowings) 1,212 (1,030 (3,677)
plGleS Gearing ratio’ %3 4 Net Cash 5.6% 20.8%
ML & Current ratio 0.46 0.49 0.53
BRE=2E Net assets per share:
—KEE - book value RMB5.81 RMB5.68 RMB5.43
BfE - Note:
1. ARLEXRESEBREAS ENEGEMLLLH - 1. Gearing ratio represents the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to total equity.

SI9pjoyaieys InQ oL
S EHOHL N
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B R RS BB T 48 A 20 A o
Analysis of Turnover and Earnings before Interest and Taxation

HE-ZF—)\F+-A=+—H I For the year ended 31 December 2018

/112

2018 2017
BoEZE WA S BEoMELT AL
Turnover proportion Turnover proportion
by segment by segment
KX . X X
Eastern region Central region Southern region
2018 2017
12%
BBz RITRE B2 RITFE
RBmaT 2R S RBIATER St
EBIT proportion 25% EBIT proportion
by segment by segment 52%

63%

3%

KX

Eastern region

FIX

Central region

X

Southern region
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Analysis of Turnover and Earnings before Interest and Taxation

HE-_Z—)\F+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

—E-)\F —E-tF #m/ L)
2018 2017 Increased/
ARMEAT ARMBATT (Decreased)
ERB2ELEH Turnover by segment RMB million RMB million %
KX Eastern region 16,065 15,605 2.9%
FX Central region 7,860 6,971 12.8%
Bx Southern region 8,867 7,893 12.3% g
c
32,792 30,469 7.6% (’%‘—
XD BRI 2 R 5 Elimination of inter-segment transactions (925) (737) 25.5% Q
]
i
B# Total 31,867 29,732 7.2% ©
—E-)\&E —ET—tF i,/ Ch>)
2018 2017 Increased/
ERWZzRITRER Earnings before interest and ARTEAT ARTBERTT (Decreased)
BLUT A0 2 A taxation by segment RMB million RMB million %
KRIX Eastern region 199 877 (77.3%)
_
X Central region 396 63 528.6% °
S Southern region 1,003 1,014 (1.1%) s
1,598 1,954 (18.2%) g
NGB (E2 Net corporate expenses (133) (103) 29.1% g’
B Total 1,465 1,851 (20.9%)
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Chairman’s Statement

[SintEAEHRERHEH -4
EEHBETE o AEHRE - AREMS
M E IR SRS 21 - RERS B AR IR
g EARRTULFREERNVE - H
HRAMABENIEK - |

“Premiumization is one of the
Group’s core business strategies for
driving business growth. The Group
believes that management and
strategic initiatives with forward-
looking vision can help the Group to
seize the opportunities, consolidate
its industry position and achieve
remarkable profit growth in the
future.”

Pk BA
CHEN LANG
ZE

Chairman

& HA A 47

“EBE-N\F AFEZFREZYRPEEHN
B 2EHSERREENREFIRE
LR HEFEK AL FERNE—
;N AN SR E T G RKIF AN o
AEFBESGIQFAR AR - BR=
BRI ZKREB T SHR - BB RS
€ MEEY EXE - ODRNEH A
DEEMTREME M S — RIIE R B
MEMZIIE NmEAREE—HE TR
BERA - BE-_T—-N\FE+-_A=+—H
IHEE  REFANGZAE LT RKREREN S
LRE A5 R Y9 AR 31,867,000,000 7T
N9 AR 977,000,000 7T @ FHFIEK7.2%
KR 16.9% c AEFATF T — N\FHRIT
FMERBMIMATBFIZEF TE209% AR
M 1,465,000,000 7T °

/I 16

FINAL RESULTS

In 2018, Chinese economy continued to perform steadily with
sustained momentum of progress. The total retail sales of
consumer goods maintained steady growth, retail consumption
continued to be the strongest economic growth driver, and the
market demand for premium products continued to increase.
Focusing on its three key management themes of “Innovative
Development, Transformation and Upgrade, Quality Growth”,
the Group made solid moves in 2018, implementing a series
of strategic measures encompassing lean sales management,
brand repositioning, operational reform, expanding internet sales
channels, organizational restructuring and capacity optimization.
The themes helped the Group seize market opportunities and
provided a solid foundation for future success. For the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Group's consolidated turnover
and profit attributable to the Company’'s shareholders were
RMB31,867,000,000 and RMB977,000,000, representing an
increase of 7.2% and a decrease of 16.9%, respectively compared
with 2017. The Group’s earnings before interest and taxation in
2018 decreased by 20.9% to RMB1,465,000,000 compared with
2017.
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RHEARE
BEECBENUT T —AFXA+mAkH
B oR-E-AFERA=ZTHRINEARNGK
REMOBREREABEZ_ZE—N\F+=A
—+t—HIEFERBRE SR ARM0.03
T(ZFE—tF R ARM0.077T) ° &
BEFREBEESRARM00OTT —F—N
FEMNREEFANERARM012T(=ZF
—+tF BRARMO0.147T) » AEIBAR R
AR o

KEEHAT

—E-N\F  FEZLFRERBEE K G
iz H B F RILEL: - BEE ST E SR
i o ANEH T BB E RN D~ M
EEIEENE MR SEEEHSEK
4.8%  FEREMH — SR FEKFEY
HENBRZFE—LEFLEH123% - BEXR
TR ETNBRESHNEM - LRI
MiA N RERNEXNEER D NEH
F_E-N\FHRBEHER-_ZF—tFT
F%4.5% Z£911,285,000 F F o M4 & KA
MEA RS R BEA L3k R~
MEMF —HRA ML - A EK
Fx - \FHNEFR=_F—tF L
F11.7% = AR 11,198,000,000 7T °

REFHTF_E-—N\FRHEHETHERHEES
B ReEFARASEE  BXzhHik %
BREANEN  FEAEERSHEAR
TE—EFEAH111A% o AEFHTRIMEE
NHETFODLFSITY - EXEHEYEE
—F—tF—A—H Bt FZE-N\F
BN AR —tEENR TS
B4 ARM117,000,0007T ° tEoh - 2#IA
WEERFRERFHRBEDNNARD
961,000,000 7T & A & 340,000,000 7T °
AERATRIMFENERIEE 138 EEH
T RETESI FEYRE - RIRFA
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Chairman’s Statement

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) recommends a final dividend
of RMBO0.03 per share for the year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: RMBO0.07 per share), payable on or around 14 June 2019 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 30 May 2019. Together with the interim dividend
of RMBO0.09 per share, the total dividend for 2018 will amount
to RMBO0.12 per share (2017: RMBO0.14 per share), to show its
appreciation to shareholders for their support of the Group.

STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION

The Chinese economy maintained steady growth in 2018. The
beer market continued to see an upgrade in consumption, with
continuous growth in the total retail sales of beer products. During
the year under review, the Group adjusted the price of certain
products moderately and recorded a growth of 4.8% in mid- to
high-end beer sales volume, which further boosted the product
mix upgrade. As a result, the Group's overall average selling price
recorded a year-on-year increase of 12.3%. However, with the
decrease of volume in the northeastern market and intensified
competitions, as well as the decline in sales volume resulted from
the increase of product price in certain areas, the Group's overall
beer sales volume in 2018 decreased by 4.5% year-on-year to
11,285,000 kiloliters. The cost of sales increased due to the rising
cost of certain raw materials and packaging materials, and also the
further upgrade in the product mix. Based on the above mentioned
factors, the gross profit in 2018 recorded a year-on-year increase of
11.7% to RMB11,198,000,000.

The Group continued to carry out lean sales management in 2018
to enhance cost input and output ratio. However, the increase
in transportation and advertising costs resulted in an increase
of 11.1% in overall selling and distribution expenses compared
with 2017. The Group embarked on a new corporate annuity
plan during the year under review, which was effective from 1
January 2017. Therefore, the Group recorded an one-off provision
of its staff cost for 2017 in 2018 with an approximate amount of
RMB117,000,000. In addition, the recognized impairment loss of
fixed assets and inventory for 2018 were RMB961,000,000 and
RMB340,000,000 respectively. To increase the average scale of
production plants, 13 breweries ceased operation during the year
under review. With a view to enhancing the productivity per staff
and organizational efficiency, the Group continued the production
capacity optimization and organizational restructuring during the
year under review. As a result, there were compensation and staff
resettlement expenses of approximately RMB483,000,000 in 2018
(2017: RMB215,000,000). The overall general and administrative
expenses thus recorded an increase of 26.8% compared with
2017. As at the end of 2018, the Group operated 78 breweries
in 24 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in
mainland China, with an aggregate annual production capacity of
approximately 21,000,000 kiloliters.
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In terms of execution of the premiumization strategies, the Group
staged a campaign to reposition its brand to diversify its product
portfolio with the launch of its new products “Brave the World
superX” and “Craftsmanship” in 2018. Besides, the Group entered
into a master share purchase agreement with the Heineken Group
for the acquisition of the Heineken China Businesses, a trademark
licensing agreement with the Heineken Group for the exclusive use
of the Heineken® brand in mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau,
and a framework agreement with the Heineken Group in relation
to a long-term strategic partnership between the Group and the
Heineken Group on 5 November 2018. Under the aforementioned
agreements, the Heineken Group will license the Group the right to
use the Heineken® brand on an exclusive basis in mainland China,
Hong Kong and Macau. The Heineken Group’s beer operations
in mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau will be combined with
the Group’s beer operations. Other international premium brands
owned by the Heineken Group may be licensed by the Heineken
Group to the Group for use exclusively in mainland China, Hong
Kong and Macau in the future. In addition, the Group and the
Heineken Group will work together to support the acceleration of
the international development of the Group’s Chinese beer brands.
This long term strategic collaboration will provide an important
strategic opportunity for the Group to strengthen its presence in
the premium beer market in China. On 6 March 2019, the State
Administration for Market Regulation issued a written decision to
not restrict the acquisition from a concentration of undertaking
under the PRC anti-trust law. The completion of the transactions is
still subject to the fulfillment of other conditions precedent.

PROSPECTS

In 2018, the Chinese economy remained steady while making
progress, and the consumption growth continued to drive
economic development. The Chinese beer market has steadily
shifted from the stage of “high-speed volume growth” to “high-
quality development”. The high-end beer market is growing
rapidly. The demand for personalized, diversified and premium
products is constantly increasing, and the cost pressure has also
been rising. These transformation in the industry bring in not only
challenges, but also valuable opportunities. The Group believes
that management and strategic initiatives with forward-looking
vision can help the Group to seize these opportunities, consolidate
its industry position and achieve remarkable profit growth in the
future.

The Group will continue to improve the impact of its brand and mid-
to high-end products by adhering to the three key management
themes of “Innovative Development, Transformation and Upgrade,
Quality Growth” and by further implementing strategic measures
encompassing lean sales management, brand repositioning,
operational reform, expanding internet sales channels,
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Chairman’s Statement

organizational restructuring, capacity optimization, channel reform,
information technology upgrade and corporate culture rebuilding.
Premiumization is one of the Group's core business strategies for
driving business growth. For the development of the market in
high-end products, in addition to continuous promotion of existing
products, including the newly launched nationwide products of
“Brave the World superX” and “Craftsmanship” in 2018, the Group
will also continue to diversify its product portfolio by launching
new products or refining existing products. Coupled with the
enhancement of sales capability for high-end products, these
initiatives are expected to propel the sales growth of mid- to-high
end products.

To cope with the rising costs, the Group will continue to adopt
different measures, such as production capacity optimization,
organization restructuring, operational reform, expansion of
procurement channels and enhancement of procurement
measures to improve efficiency and to mitigate the heightened
cost pressure. The Group's financial performance is expected to be
affected by the implementation of production capacity optimization
continuously.

Looking forward to 2019, there are increasing variables affecting
the global economy and external environment, and the landscape
of Chinese beer industry will continue to change. Amidst the
uncertainties, the Group believes that the Chinese economy
will maintain steady growth, and is confident in the Group’s
premiumization strategy and profit growth. The Group will also
continue to closely monitor the changes in the Chinese beer market
and the possible impact of Sino-US trade friction on costs, and
make corresponding forward-looking actions swiftly.

As a leading beer enterprise in China, the Group strives to lead the
advancement in the beer industry and brew a better life. We look
forward to working together with all stakeholders to create higher
corporate values and to make the Group a trusted and beloved beer
enterprise.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my gratitude to our shareholders, management and
employees for their support, commitment and contributions, as
well as to our customers and business partners for their long
term trust. Looking ahead, we will continue to offer more quality
products to our customers and deliver attractive returns to our
shareholders.

CHEN LANG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2019
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The Group strongly believes that maintaining mutual trust and
effective communication with shareholders and the investing
community is one of the key elements of good corporate
governance. The Group endeavours to pro-actively communicate
with investors to ensure timely and accurate information is
provided. The Group continues to highly value the opinions from
the shareholders and investors with a view to further enhancing
its operational performance and bringing forth better returns for its
stakeholders as a whole.

In 2018, the Group remained in close contact with institutional
investors, analysts and potential investors alike through a variety
of channels. In addition to regular results-related events, frequent
one-on-one meetings, luncheons, conference calls as well as
company visits and field trips to the distribution channels of
beer business were conducted, through which the Group stayed
connected with close to 1,600 fund managers and analysts via
approximately 300 meetings.
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On 3 August 2018, the Company announced the formation of a
long term strategic collaboration with Heineken Group, providing
an important strategic opportunity for the Group to strengthen
its presence in the premium beer market in China. To facilitate a
thorough understanding of the transaction details and its vision
for future business development, the Group acted promptly
by arranging a teleconference with investors on the same day.
Thereafter in September 2018, a roadshow was held across the
United Kingdom allowing the management of the Group to meet
with overseas institutional investors and discuss about the status of
the transaction and the latest business development of the Group.

The Group's efforts in maintaining good corporate governance
and investor relations were well paid off and the Company earned
numerous deserved accolades from renowned organizations in
2018. These included “Best in Sector — Consumer Staples” for
Global Awards, “Best Corporate Governance and Disclosure” and
“Best in Sector — Consumer Staples” for Great China Awards by IR
Magazine; “Most Honored Company”, “Best CEOs (first place)”,
“Best CFOs (third place)”, “Best IR Professionals (first place and
second place)”, “Best IR Programs (first place)”, “Best Corporate
Governance (first place)” and “Best ESG SRI Metrics (first place)”

etc. in the consumer staples sector in Asia by Institutional Investor.

RAAH-B-OFE_ZT-/)\FNEREINERSRKE
EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE OF THE COMPANY FOR 2014-2018

0.30
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| |
2 0 2
ARMIT RMB
HE -

1. AEAF-F-—AFAA-AHEEF@TLS -
2. E-F-RFEHBRFEBUHE -

3. G- RERMNHBIRESRET 1230518
BitH -

4, HFARRFZZE—R"E+A+—BREUIEL
HAEEEEL9% BN —FE—NFNEREARK
S 2 T R R AN A R AE YR B /S 15 A O AR AR L A1
(U 8151% KRUIAF100%) 1T E ©

BREMN (2FERTEEREEFRORE ARREMW)
Earnings per share (including the effect of asset revaluation
and major disposal of non-core assets/investment)

BRRPH - R RFERIARS B

Total of interim, final and special dividend per share

10.08 (HK$12.30)

Notes:

1. The Group disposed of its non-beer businesses on 1 September 2015.

2. Adjusted upon rights issue in 2016.

3. Adjusted upon distribution of special dividend at HK$12.30 per share in 2015.

4. Since the Company completed the acquisition of 49% stake in CRSB on 11
October 2016, basic and diluted earnings per share for the year was calculated

according to the Company'’s shareholdings before and after the acquisition (51%
before acquisition and 100% after the acquisition).
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Additionally, the Group was awarded for consecutive years the
titles of “Asia’s Best Corporate Director”, “The Best of Asia —
Icon on Corporate Governance”, “Asia’s Best CEO (Investor
Relations)”, Asia’s Best CFO (Investor Relations)”, “Best Investor
Relations Company” and “Best Investor Relations Professional”
by Corporate Governance Asia; as well as “Best IR Company —
Large Cap”, “Best IR by CFO - Large Cap”, “Best IRO - Large
Cap” and “Best Investor Meeting — Large Cap” etc. by the Hong
Kong Investor Relations Association. Furthermore, the Company
was again commended by MerComm, Inc. for the high quality of its
annual reports, and was awarded the “International Annual Report
Competition (ARC) Awards"” and “International Galaxy Awards".
Looking into the future, the Group will maintain steadfast in
enhancing shareholder value and promoting healthy development
of the Group.

SHARE PERFORMANCE

Investor concerns mounted amid stock market fluctuations across
the globe in 2018. In the light of an economic slowdown and the
dampened operating environment in China, coupled with escalating
protectionist trade measures laid down by the United States, the
overall performance of the Hong Kong stock market was affected.
Despite the sluggish market sentiment, the Company’s closing
share price was slightly down by 2.5% year-on-year to HK$27.35 as
of 31 December 2018, which performed better than the Hang Seng
Index for the year. The Company’s market capitalization stood at
HK$88.728 billion at the end of 2018.

DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO

The Group is committed to creating and enhancing the value
of the Company in recognition of the unwavering support of its
shareholders. On 21 November 2018, the Company announced
the approval and adoption of a dividend policy in order to provide
returns to the shareholders. In accordance with the said dividend
policy, the annual dividend to be distributed by the Company to
the shareholders shall be no less than 20% of the Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year, subject to the
criteria set out in the policy. In proposing any dividend payout, the
Board shall also take into account the Group's actual and expected
financial performance, shareholders’ interest, general business
conditions and strategies, the Group's expected working capital
requirements and future expansion plans, possible effects on the
Group's creditworthiness, general economic conditions, business
cycle of the Group’'s businesses and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company, and other factors that
the board of directors deems appropriate.

The total dividend of the Company reached RMBO0.12 per share,
with a dividend payout ratio of 40% in 2018. Advancing ahead, the
Company will make every effort to maintain a respectable dividend
payout level while preserving healthy financial position so as to
foster sustainable growth of its business.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The consolidated turnover of the Group in 2018 was
RMB31,867,000,000. This represents an increase of 7.2%
compared with 2017. The Group’s consolidated profit attributable
to the Company’s shareholders and earnings before interest
and taxation in 2018 decreased by 16.9% and 20.9% to
RMB977,000,000 and RMB1,465,000,000 respectively, compared
with 2017.

During the year under review, the Chinese economy maintained
steady growth. The beer market continued to see an upgrade in
consumption, with continuous growth in total retail sales of beer
products.

During the year under review, the Group adjusted the price of
certain products moderately and recorded a growth of 4.8% in mid-
to high-end beer sales volume, which further boosted the product
mix upgrade. As a result, the Group's overall average selling price
recorded a year-on-year increase of 12.3%. With the decrease of
volume in the northeastern market and intensified competitions, as
well as the decline in sales volume resulted from the increase of
product price in certain areas, the Group's overall beer sales volume
in 2018 decreased by 4.5% year-on-year to 11,285,000 kiloliters.
The cost of sales increased due to the rising cost of certain raw
materials and packaging materials, and also the further upgrade
in the product mix. Based on the above mentioned factors, the
gross profit in 2018 recorded a year-on-year increase of 11.7% to
RMB11,198,000,000.

The Group continued to carry out lean sales management in 2018
to enhance cost input and output ratio. However, the increase
in transportation and advertising costs resulted in an increase
of 11.1% in overall selling and distribution expenses compared
with 2017. With a view to enhancing the productivity per staff
and organizational efficiency, the Group continued the production
capacity optimization and organizational restructuring during the
year under review. As a result, there were compensation and
staff resettlement expenses of approximately RMB483,000,000
in 2018 (2017: RMB215,000,000). Along with the provision and
impairment loss resulted from production capacity optimization, the
overall general and administrative expenses recorded an increase
of 26.8% compared with 2017. Moreover, the Group embarked on
a new corporate annuity plan during the year under review, which
was effective from 1 January 2017. Therefore, the Group recorded
an one-off provision of its staff cost for 2017 in 2018 with an
approximate amount of RMB117,000,000.
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The Group staged a campaign to reposition its brand in 2017 to
diversify its product portfolio with the launch of its new product line,
“Concept Series”, with the theme “You Define Your Future”, and
the new products “Brave the World superX” and “Craftsmanship”
in 2018. In particular, “Brave the World superX”, as the Group'’s first
core product for brand repositioning, targets young consumers with
emphasis on internet marketing. Through the strategy of “trendy
product launch activity + IP-based promotion + spokesperson-fans
economy + scenario-based marketing”, it achieved a breakthrough
in the marketing of beer products, which created an innovative
marketing method that conformed to habits and interests from
the perspective of consumers. Such move not only contributed
to the successful marketing of “Brave the World superX” but
also provided a strong impetus to the value enhancement and the
renewal of the entire brand of “ E £ Snow".

The recognized impairment loss of fixed assets and inventories for
2018 were RMB961,000,000 and RMB340,000,000 respectively.
The Group continued to optimize its deployment of production
capacity by removing the inefficient production capacity and
increasing the average scale of production plants. During the
year under review, 13 breweries ceased operation. As at the
end of 2018, the Group operated 78 breweries in 24 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in mainland China, with an
aggregate annual production capacity of approximately 21,000,000
kiloliters.

In terms of execution of the premiumization strategies, the
Group entered into a master share purchase agreement with
the Heineken Group for the acquisition of the Heineken China
Businesses, a trademark licensing agreement with the Heineken
Group for the exclusive use of the Heineken® brand in mainland
China, Hong Kong and Macau, and a framework agreement with
the Heineken Group in relation to a long-term strategic partnership
between the Group and the Heineken Group on 5 November 2018.
Under the aforementioned agreements, the Heineken Group will
license the Group the right to use the Heineken® brand on an
exclusive basis in mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. The
Heineken Group's beer operations in mainland China, Hong Kong
and Macau will be combined with the Group's beer operations.
Other international premium brands owned by the Heineken Group
may be licensed by the Heineken Group to the Group for use
exclusively in mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau in the future.
In addition, the Group and the Heineken Group will work together
to support the acceleration of the international development of the
Group’s Chinese beer brands. This long term strategic collaboration
will provide an important strategic opportunity for the Group to
strengthen its presence in the premium beer market in China. On
6 March 2019, the State Administration for Market Regulation
issued a written decision to not restrict the acquisition from a
concentration of undertaking under the PRC anti-trust law. The
completion of the transactions is still subject to the fulfillment of
other conditions precedent.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Looking ahead, competition is expected to remain fierce in
the industry. The Group will continue to focus on three main
management themes — “Innovative Development, Transformation
and Upgrade, Quality Growth"”. The Group will strive to implement
a series of strategic measures such as lean sales management,
brand repositioning, operational reform, expanding internet sales
channel, organizational restructuring, capacity optimization,
channel reform, information technology upgrade and corporate
culture rebuilding, to enhance the market share of mid- to high-
end beer volume, productivity per staff, average size of production
plants and capacity utilization. The Group's financial performance
is expected to be affected by the implementation of production
capacity optimization continuously. To cope with the pressure from
the rising cost of raw material, the Group will continue to expand
procurement channels and enhance procurement measures to
mitigate the heightened cost pressure. In addition, the Group
has also established an integrated taskforce to coordinate the
integration of businesses and develop a joint business plan to
better prepare for the long-term strategic collaboration with the
Heineken Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
CAPITAL AND FUNDING

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s consolidated cash and
bank deposits amounted to RMB1,925,000,000. The Group's
borrowings as at 31 December 2018 were RMB713,000,000 with
RMB704,000,000 repayable within 1 year and RMB9,000,000
repayable after 1 year but within 5 years.

The Group was in a net cash position as at 31 December 2018.
On the basis of the Group's net borrowings relative to the
shareholders’ funds and non-controlling interests, the Group’s
gearing ratio was approximately at 5.6% as at 31 December 2017.

The Group's principal assets, liabilities, revenue and payments are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. As
at 31 December 2018, 1.6% of the Group's cash and bank deposit
balance was held in Hong Kong dollars, 85.9% in Renminbi and
12.5% in US dollars; whereas 98.2% of the Group's borrowings
was denominated in Hong Kong dollars and 1.7% in Renminbi with
0.1% in US dollars. The Group's borrowings are principally on a
floating rate basis.
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As at 31 December 2018, the Group's current liabilities and current
ratio were RMB18,370,000,000 and 0.46, respectively. The current
liabilities as at 31 December 2018 included receipts in advance
on sales and accruals on promotion and marketing expenses of
RMB7,168,000,000, majority of these amounts would be offset
by trade receivables or be realized through sale discounts in the
future, with no significant net cash outflow in short run. Taking into
account the gearing ratio, historical and expected future cash flows
from operations and unutilised available banking facilities of the
Group, management expected the Group has adequate resources
to meet its liabilities and commitment as and when they fall due
and to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, assets with a carrying value of
RMB67,000,000 (31 December 2017: RMB79,000,000) were
pledged for notes payable.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2018.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a staff size of around
40,000, amongst which more than 99% were employed in the
Chinese Mainland, whilst the rest were mainly in Hong Kong.
Remuneration packages are assessed in accordance with the
nature of job duties, individual performance and market trends with
built-in merit components, paid in the form of cash bonuses.

By order of the Board
CHEN LANG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2019
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Geographical Distribution of The Group’s Breweries

& /™ Provinces/Cities IR G

F=ZZF—-N&E+=FB=+—H As at 31 December 2018

& /™ Provinces/Cities I BE#HHE

No. of [\ [o}o}
breweries breweries
1. BT Heilongjiang 4 13. AL Zhejiang 5
2. Ho Jilin 2 14. & Fujian 1
3 T Liaoning 9 15. IS Guangdong 4
4. XKE  Tianjin 2 16. NI Hunan 1
5. At Hebei 2 17. FIM  Guizhou 4
6. i Shanxi 2 18. )1 Sichuan 10
7. Il Shandong 3 19. PaiE Tibet 1
8. JI7%  Jiangsu 5 20. HF  Gansu 1
9. 8 Shanghai 1 21. M= Inner Mongolia 3
10. Z#  Anhui 7 22. TE  Ningxia 1
11, A Henan 3 23. Bk7E  Shaanxi 1
12. el Hubei 5 24. J P8 Guangxi 1

1l

ANNUALPRODUCTIONCAPACITY

21,000,000 ki ()

(TEREFLECNEEREREXANEE)
(Excluding those breweries ceased operation and
determined by management to be closed)

EEWB BEK
TOTAL NUMBER OF
BREWERIES IN
OPERATION

KLY
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MRBA SE &
Mr. Chen Lang

MR. CHEN LANG AGED 53

has been appointed as Chairman of the Board of the Company in
August 2012. Mr. Chen was Chief Executive Officer (previously
named as Managing Director) of the Company from January
2009 to August 2012. He is Executive Director of the Company,
Executive Vice President of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, Director of CRH (Beer) Limited, Director and Chairman
of China Resources Enterprise, Limited as well as the Chairman
of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Investment Co.,
Ltd. He has been appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board
of Director and a member of strategy committee of Shanxi
Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Ltd., which is a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, in September 2018. He was
previously the Director of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited and China Resources Company Limited (formerly known
as China Resources National Corporation), the Chief Executive
Officer of China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd., the Chairman of
China Resources Ng Fung Limited and China Resources C'estbon
Beverage (China) Investment Co., Ltd., and Vice Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of China Resources Logic Limited (now
renamed as China Resources Gas Group Limited). Prior to that,
he was Chairman and General Manager of China Resources
Development and Investment Co., Limited and was in charge of
a number of substantial investments in Canada and Thailand of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Chen holds a
Bachelor of Economics degree from Anhui University, China and
a Master of Business Administration degree from the University
of San Francisco, USA. He is currently the visiting professor of
Anhui University, China, Chairman of China Resources Association
for Science and Technology, and Chairman of Committee on
Innovation, Development and Intellectual Property Rights of China
Resources Group. He joined China Resources Company Limited
and China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1986 and
1989 respectively.
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MR. JIAN Y| AGED 42

has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company in July 2018. He
was appointed as the Director and Chief Executive Officer of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, a controlling shareholder of the Company, in May 2018.
He is Chairman of China Resources Ng Fung Limited and Pacific Coffee
(Holdings) Limited, and Director of China Resources C'estbon Kirin Beverage
(Holdings) Company Limited. He served as Senior Vice President of China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“CR Power”) and
General Manager of China Resources Coal (Group) Co., Ltd. from April 2016 to
May 2018. From March 2007 to April 2016, he successively served as Deputy
General Manager and General Manager of the President’s Office of CR Power,
Assistant President and Director of Strategic Development of CR Power, as
well as Deputy General Manager of the Thermal Power Division of CR Power
and General Manager of the Hunan Branch of CR Power. From 2003 to 2007,
he worked in China Europe International Business School (CEIBS), responsible
for corporate leadership development and management education. Mr. Jian
holds a Bachelor of Laws, a Master of Laws and a minor degree in Economics
from Peking University. Mr. Jian joined China Resources Group in 2007.
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MR. HOU XIAOHAI AGED 50

has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company in April 2016. He was appointed as general manager of China
Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in March 2016 and was the
director of its sales and marketing departments from December 2001 to
December 2007. He has been appointed as a Director and a member of each
of strategy committee, compensation and appraisal committee, and audit
committee of Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Ltd., which is a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, in September 2018. He was
appointed as general manager and assistant general manager (also a general
manager of its distribution headquarter) of the branch of China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in Guizhou Province and a general manager of its
branch in Sichuan Province from January 2009 to February 2016. Mr. Hou has
a Bachelor of Statistics Degree from the People’s University of China. He has
previously worked in Shougang Corporation, Gallup Poll and Pepsico. Mr. Hou
joined China Resources Group in 2001.
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MR. LAI PO SING, TOMAKIN AGED 52

has been appointed as an Executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer and
the Company Secretary of the Company in June 2016. He was appointed
as the Finance Director of the Company in June 2014. He was previously
the Audit Director of the Company. He joined the Company in September
2008. He is currently the Vice President, the Chief Financial Officer and the
Company Secretary of China Resources Enterprise, Limited. He is also the
Non-Executive Director of Scales Corporation Limited which is a company
listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange. Prior to joining the Group, he had
worked for international accounting firms in Hong Kong, and also acted as the
financial controller and company secretary of Zhong An Real Estate Limited,
China Oriental Group Company Limited and Hon Po Group (Lobster King)
Limited (now known as China Energy Development Holdings Limited), which
are listed companies on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Lai has extensive experience in internal and external auditing,
finance and accounting, regulatory and compliance and company secretarial
matters. Mr. Lai holds a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business
Administration degree from the University of Manchester, UK. He is a Fellow
Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
& Wales. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in the UK and of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. He is a Certified Internal Auditor and holds a Certificate in Risk
Management Assurance conferred by the Institute of Internal Auditors. He is
also a Certified Information Systems Auditor of ISACA.
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MR. CHEN RONG AGED 46

has been appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company in April 2016.
Mr. Chen was appointed as Director of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group
Limited, in May 2016 and designated as its Non-Executive Director in June
2016, and was appointed as Non-Executive Director of China Resources Land
Limited in April 2017, both are listed companies on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was also appointed as General Manager
of the Finance Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
February 2016 and was the head of tax management of the same department.
Mr Chen was deputy general manager and chief financial officer of China
Resources Vanguard Company Limited. Mr. Chen has previously worked in
Epson Technical Limited, Walmart China Investment Limited and Fuji Electric
Technical Services Limited. Mr. Chen holds MBA degree from Xi'an Jiaotong
University. He is an Intermediate Accountant and a Certified Tax Agent in China.
He is also a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Chen joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
May 2007.
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MR. LAI NI HIUM, FRANK AGED 57

has been re-designated from an Executive Director to a Non-Executive Director
of the Company since June 2016. He was an Executive Director and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company between June 2009 and May 2016, and
the Company Secretary between August 2009 and May 2016. Mr. Lai was
previously the Executive Director, Non-Executive Director, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of China Resources Microelectronics Limited.
Prior to that, he served as the Chief Financial Officer of Eagle Brand Holdings
Ltd. (now known as Nam Cheong Limited), which is a company listed on the
Singapore Exchange and before then, he served as the Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of Logic International Holdings Ltd. (now known as
China Resources Gas Group Limited). He was appointed as Executive Director
and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited,
which is a listed company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, in June 2016 and became its Chief Executive Officer in March
2017. Mr. Lai obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of
Western Australia and a Graduate Diploma in Business and Administration from
the Curtin University of Technology of Western Australia. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of CPA Australia.
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MR. HOUANG TAI NINH AGED 65

has been a Director of the Company since 1988. He was a Director and
Chairman of Sino Resources and Energy Holdings Limited, Sino Petrochem
Development Limited, Sino Mining Investments Limited and a Director of
China & Overseas Resources Limited. Mr. Houang obtained his Bachelor of
Business Studies degree from the Polytechnic of North Staffordshire, United
Kingdom.
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DR. LI KA CHEUNG, ERIC FCPA(PRACTISING), GBS, OBE, JP
AGED 65

has been a Director of the Company since March 2003. He is Senior Partner
of Li, Tang, Chen & Co., Certified Public Accountants (Practising), member
of the Thirteenth National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and former member of the Legislative Council of the
Hong Kong SAR. Dr. Li holds directorships in a number of listed companies
including Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited, Hang Seng Bank Limited,
SmarTone Telecommunications Holdings Limited, Transport International
Holdings Limited and Wong's International Holdings Limited. Dr. Li was a
Director of RoadShow Holdings Limited.
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DR. CHENG MO CHI, MOSES GBM, GBS, OBE, JP AGED 69

has been a Director of the Company since November 2005. Dr. Cheng is a
practicing solicitor and a consultant of Messrs. P.C. Woo & Co. after serving
as its senior partner from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng was a member of the
Legislative Council of Hong Kong. He is the founder chairman of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors of which he is now the Honorary President and Chairman
Emeritus. He is now also serving as chairman of the Insurance Authority. Dr.
Cheng currently holds directorships in K. \Wah International Holdings Limited,
China Mobile Limited, Towngas China Company Limited, Kader Holdings
Company Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, Guangdong Investment
Limited, Tian An China Investments Company Limited and The Hong Kong and
China Gas Company Limited, all being listed companies in Hong Kong. He was
an Independent Non-Executive Director of ARA Asset Management Limited, a
company whose shares were formerly listed on the Singapore Exchange.
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MR. BERNARD CHARNWUT CHAN GBS, JP AGED 54

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He is the Executive
Director and President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (being a listed
company in Hong Kong) and Asia Insurance Company Limited. He acts as an
Advisor of Bangkok Bank (China) Company Limited. Apart from the roles in the
business community, Mr. Chan serves as a Hong Kong Deputy to The National
People’'s Congress of the People’s Republic of China and the Convenor of the
Non-official Members of the Executive Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He is a
former member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Chan is
the Chairman of Hong Kong Palace Museum Limited, the Hong Kong-Thailand
Business Council, the Committee on Reduction of Salt and Sugar in Food and
the Steering Committee on Restored Landfill Revitalisation Funding Scheme.
He also serves as the Chairperson of The Hong Kong Council of Social Service.
In addition, Mr. Chan holds directorship in Chen Hsong Holdings Limited,
Yau Lee Holdings Limited and Cathay Pacific Airways Limited (all being listed
companies in Hong Kong) and Bumrungrad Hospital Public Company Limited
(being a listed company in Thailand). Mr. Chan was a Director of City e-solutions
Limited.
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Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon
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MR. SIU KWING CHUE, GORDON GBS, CBE, JP AGED 73

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He had been a
career civil servant for over 36 years before retiring from the civil service in
2002. Mr. Siu rose to the rank of Secretary, Government Secretariat in 1993
and served a number of high ranking government positions, namely the
Secretary for Economic Services, Secretary for Transport, Head of Central
Policy Unit and eventually retired from his last posting as Secretary for
Planning, Environment & Lands. Mr. Siu was an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Television Broadcasts Limited and Transport International
Holdings Limited.
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Corporate Risk Management

MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY

The Board is committed to achieving excellence in corporate
governance and believes that good corporate governance leads to
the long-term success of the Group's business. The Group values
its Code of Conduct, company policies and regulations, which
serves as the basis for our corporate governance. Compliance with
the national policies as well as the laws and regulations should
be the focus and goal in the business operation of the Group, to
protect the Company's interests. We will continuously review our
governance practices and keep on improving in accordance with
the latest regulatory requirements.

The Board believes that risk management is an integral part
of corporate governance. Effective and efficient corporate risk
management will facilitate the Group’s business development and
operation by setting the appropriate risk appetite, maintaining an
acceptable risk level and more importantly, proactively responding
to risks. It therefore helps protect shareholder value and safeguard
the Group's reputation. Through putting in place proper risk
management process over the Group’'s business and carrying
out regular reviews and updates, the Group strives to reduce
the likelihood and the impact of risks before they occur, and deal
with problems effectively when they arise. While the Group's risk
management is the responsibility of every management team
member and is embedded in the business planning and daily
operation of the Group's business, our risk management process
is based on a decentralized model with a centralized monitoring
system. The Group's strategy is to maintain a streamlined risk
management process to identify, analyze and mitigate various risks
in an efficient and effective manner.

RISK STRATEGY AND APPETITE

The Group adheres to a robust and prudent operation strategy. The
Group believes that achieving strategic and business objectives
comes with moderate risks. The risks involved must be consistent
with the Group's strategies and capabilities, be fully identified and
effectively managed, and will not violate the Group's core values
and social responsibilities. The Group must also avoid incidents
such as serious violations of national regulations, major quality
or safety accidents, adverse social impacts, any damage to the
Group and brand reputation, and major financial losses or business
interruptions. In this regard, the Group will continue to pursue a
balanced development of efficiency, quality and scale, emphasizing
conformity between business development and risk-taking.
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Based on our risk tolerances and identified significant risks, the
Group’s management has adopted different strategies to manage
risks including risk reduction, transfer and avoidance. In accordance
with the strategies adopted, the effective risk management
measures will be formulated to analyze the key causes of risk,
establish appropriate risk monitoring indicators if necessary,
conduct continuous monitoring, and ensure the timely detection
of major risk events and adoption of effective risk mitigation
measures.

RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group's risk management structure is based on the “three lines
of defense” model, which clarifies the roles and responsibilities of
management and business units and functional departments on
risk management. The first line of defense consists of business
units and functional departments at all levels, responsible for
daily risk management, including participation in risk assessment
of the Group, development of risk mitigation measures and
monitoring procedures; the second line of defense consists of risk
management functions, responsible for organizing, promoting and
coordinating the risk management, and monitoring the Group's
major and potential risks; the third line of defense consists of the
Group's internal audit function, responsible for risk management
supervision and inspection, internal assurance activities,
assessment of internal risk management and monitoring.

B4R

ULTIMATE RESPONSIBILITY
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Board of Directors
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Corporate Risk Management

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Risk Monitoring: The Board of Directors continuously monitors
risk management and internal control systems and reviews the
effectiveness of internal control systems on a semi-annual basis via
the Audit Committee.

Reporting on regular and ad hoc basis: The management of the
Group reviews audit reports, internal controls and risk management
issues, and continuously assesses and updates major risks faced
by the Group and respective risk mitigation measures. The Board
of Directors oversees the management’'s monitoring activities
via Internal Audit Function and the Audit Committee, and the
effectiveness of the implemented monitoring measures.

BUSINESS UNIT

Step 1: Risk Identification

The Group's risk assessment is conducted annually through a
top-down and bottom-up risk assessment process. By engaging
the relevant procedures, the Group's risk management function
initiates the risk assessments at all levels of business units and
functional departments, identifies and estimates risks both at the
Group and business unit levels by evaluating corporate strategies,
sales, marketing, operations, productions and human resources,
and incorporate risk management into our business planning. At the
end of each year, the Group’s business unit undertakes a review of
potential risks which falls within its business and operation area by
the means of expert interviews, management team questionnaires,
and analysis on the impact of changes of the operating
environment, with a view to performing risk positioning, analysis
and evaluation of their probability and impact of risks. Identified
risks are reported together with the explanation of its nature and
proposed risk management strategies to the Group during the
business plan review session at the beginning of each year. In
addition to the annual exercise, our regular reporting system of the
Group’s business unit also facilitates ongoing risk identification and
the reporting of risks.

Step 2: Risk Analysis, Evaluation and Mitigation

After identifying the risk, the designated risk owner is responsible
for analyzing the likelihood and potential impact of the risk event.
Risks of higher likelihood and potential impact will be given
priority. The risk owner then designs and implements appropriate
procedures and controls to mitigate the risk. In the design of the
action plan, the implementation cost will be considered at the
same time, and in the implementation process, we emphasize the
balance between risk and benefit to ensure the long-term stable
development of the business.
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Step 3: Risk Monitoring and Performance Evaluation
After risk identification, analysis, evaluation and mitigation, risk
owners will establish risk monitoring indicators, where appropriate,
based on quantifiable and practicable principles, to regularly
monitor and give warnings of potential risks, and take effective
mitigation measures in a timely manner. At the same time,
evaluation reports are submitted to the Group by the business
units through the regular reporting mechanism. To prevent the
same risks from occurring again, preventive actions and procedures
to improve operational efficiency are also incorporated into the
risk management and internal control systems. In addition, our
Internal Audit Function undertakes independent reviews on risk
management and internal control systems, and our management
is responsible for ensuring appropriate actions which are taken
to rectify any control deficiencies highlighted in the audit reports
within a reasonable period of time.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group constantly faces a number of principal risks and
uncertainties in a highly competitive business environment and
the risks must be properly managed to avoid significant impacts
on the Group’s business. Thorough risk assessment and mitigation
measures help ensure these risks are well managed and governed
effectively. During the business planning process in 2018, the
Group focused on addressing the following principal risks:

SALES AND MARKETING CAMPAIGN RISKS

The Group formulates corresponding sales and promotion policies
based on the actual market environment. A badly designed sales
policy or poor execution will lead to a difference between the cost
investment and sales promotion effect, which may adversely affect
the achievements of the Group's business objectives.

The Group will strictly control the risks of sales and marketing
activities and ensure compliance with regulations, to enhance the
management and control on selling expenses and improve the
utilization rate of the selling expenses. The Group will update and
optimize its sales policies regularly with a view to keeping abreast
of the market environment at the time.

PUBLIC SENTIMENT AND REPUTATION RISKS

The prevalence of mobile communication and the internet, in
addition to the rapid development of new media, increase the
contact base and push the rapid diffusion of public sentiment and
reputation risks, which leads to new challenges for the Group’s
public sentiment and reputation risk prevention system.
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Corporate Risk Management

The Group is committed to maintaining a good market image. We
take the initiative to monitor the events that may potentially put
our reputation at risk, and strictly prohibit any business activities
that will damage our reputation or cause material adverse effects.
In order to prevent and reduce the impact of public sentiment on
the Group, we constantly improve the system and structure of
public opinion and reputation risk management, establish a sense
of public sentiment and reputation risks, form a good value of public
sentiment and reputation risk management, and carefully handle
the crisis that damages the reputation and image of the Group to
minimize the negative impact on the Group.

MARKET SUPPLY AND DEMAND RISKS

The production materials required by the Group are affected by
market supply and demand. In addition to the growing purchase
price, they pose a greater pressure on production costs to the
Group.

The Group is actively exploring opportunities to alleviate the
pressures of rising costs, including closely tracking market
changes, adopting different procurement strategies, improving
supplier management and expanding supply channels with a view
to ensuring the adequate supply and quality of the products, and
controlling the procurement cost at a reasonable level.

COMPETITION RISKS

Changes in the Chinese beer market, advancement of industrial
structure, and the development of emerging products and sales
channels have led to fierce market competition.

The Group will continuously adjust its competition strategic plan
based on market changes, and strive to maintain a leading position
in the industry by strengthening strategic deployment, optimizing
product diversification, monitoring competitors’ product mix
strategies, and strengthening the establishment of sales channels.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT RISKS

The inappropriate management or malfunctions of production
facilities may lead to excessive pollution in the production process
and thus, violate the national or local government regulations.
Natural disasters, emergencies, etc. could cause production safety
issues, which may result in personal injury and property damage.

The Group is committed to protecting the environment and
attaches great importance to production safety. Through adhering
to clear health, safety and environment guidelines and initiating
staff training and cultural promotion, strengthening organization
and system construction, continuous monitoring and initiating
investigations into hidden dangers and energy conservation and
emission reduction measures, the Group can minimize the risks of
health, safety and environment.
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As a leading beer enterprise in China, the Group has not only been
diligently and relentlessly pursuing excellent financial performance,
but also actively exercising its corporate social responsibility, with a
move to bring more and better changes to the public.

Adhering to the philosophy of “Better Life Together” throughout
the years, the Group has strived to become a trusted and beloved
beer enterprise. With its business strength and extensive business
network, the Group is committed to contributing to society in
the areas of community care, environmental protection, energy
conservation and emission reductions, human resources, product
and service quality upgrade as well as supply chain management.
As such, the Group has moved on further and issued independent
environmental, social and governance reports in the last two years,
detailing its performance and various measures laid down in related
respects and disclosing more information on a voluntary basis. This
speaks eloquently about the Group’s commitment to sustainable
development.

COMMUNITY CARE

The Group has all along placed value on community development.
In 2018, implementing rules and regulations for charitable and
social welfare activities were drawn up internally to regulate the
Group’s engagement on such activities in a more systematic
manner. This helps foster the development of the Group's
charitable undertakings while.

Committed to cultural inheritance, promotion and preservation, the
Group has joined hands with the School of Architecture, Tsinghua
University since 2008, to co-publish the books of “Ancient Chinese
Architecture of Popularization and Inheritance Series”, which
have received constant enthusiastic feedback among overseas
readers and experts. Up to 2018, the Group published a total of
41 volumes of the Ancient Architecture series in Chinese and
English, in addition to the latest issue that was compiled and
produced during the year under review. The latest set comprises
five books, namely “Map of Shandong Ancient Architecture”, “Map
of Shanxi Ancient Architecture
Volume One”, “Map of Yunnan
Ancient Architecture”, “Map of
Xinjiang Ancient Architecture”
and “Map of Hebei and Tianjin
Ancient Architecture”. The Group
continued to donate books to public
libraries, school libraries, relevant
ancient architecture management
departments and research
departments in China to promote
the inheritance and popularization of
ancient Chinese architecture as well
as Chinese culture.
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Furthermore, to promote the preservation status of Chinese white
dolphins and to better comprehend the history and culture of Tai
O in Hong Kong, our staff members visited Lantau Island West
in New Territories, Hong Kong in March 2018. A guided tour was
arranged to allow our staff to gain a thorough understanding of the
Chinese white dolphins and Tai O, and to raise their awareness on
marine conservation.
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ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group has attached great importance to the management and
control of environmental, health and safety (“EHS"). Adopting a top
to bottom approach, inspection orders from the headquarters have
been carried out at all business units, to continuously strengthen
awareness towards potential safety hazards and prevent underlying
risks. During the year under review, the Group conducted
unannounced EHS inspections at nine breweries among five
regional companies, and completed mutual EHS inspections at 30
breweries among 14 regional companies. Additionally, onsite EHS
inspections were implemented at the new breweries in Wuhan,
Qinhuangdao and Qiannan upon construction or relocation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, AND ENERGY
CONSERVATION AND EMISSION REDUCTIONS

The Group has strictly adhered to the national or local pollutant
emission standards, and conformed to internal control parameters
that are stricter than the national or local standards. In this
respect, an established, comprehensive three-level system
encompassing the headquarters, regional companies and local
breweries that covering organizational responsibilities in the areas
of environmental protection, energy conservation and emission
reductions has been in place. Through continual and systematic
evaluations and unannounced inspections on environmental
protection, energy conservation and emission reduction projects,
the Group has constantly enhanced its management standard in the
said areas.

In terms of energy conservation and emission reductions, in
2018, CRSB invested approximately RMB80 million in 145
environmental protection, and energy conservation and emission
reduction projects, achieving significant results. These included
an investment of over RMB10 million in coal-to-gas conversion
project carried out at three breweries, phasing out coal-burning
boilers and having them replaced with ones using natural gas
and steam from external purchases. As at the end of December
2018, 90% of the breweries under the Group were using either
purchased steam or natural gas, and coal consumption dropped by
more than 60% year-on-year. On top of this, the Group invested
approximately RMB17 million in an integrated online monitoring
system specializing in monitoring its breweries’ nitrogen and
phosphorus emissions from wastewater. As at the end of
December 2018, 46 breweries have approved and initiated the
addition of such system. Upon implementation of the system, real-
time monitoring over wastewater discharges at these breweries
can be achieved. Besides, breweries in Tianjin, Henan and Beijing
set off to revamp gas-burning boilers into low-nitrogen systems,
successfully reducing the nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions. In 2018,
CRSB's emissions of sulfur dioxide (SO2) and nitrogen oxide (NOx)
decreased by more than 50% and approximately 40% year-on-year,
respectively. Major wastes generated from the beer production
process, such as distiller's grains and waste yeast, have a recycling
rate of 100%.

The Group has implemented a series of policies for effective and
efficient uses of resources, continuously optimizing its energy
consumption structure, raising clean energy proportion to achieve
higher efficiency in energy consumption; encouraging and
promoting the recycling of biogas generated from wastewater
at its breweries by adding biogas boilers or steam generators,
thereby lowering methane and other greenhouse gas emissions
while reducing steam consumption. In 2018, 20 breweries were
implementing biogas boilers or invested in relevant transformation,
with recycling biogas close to 4 million cubic meters and generating
steam over 46,000 ton. Furthermore, the Group has continued to
carry out its lean management strategy and pushed forward the
reform on the use of vehicles for business purposes to reduce
gasoline consumption. In 2018, the consumption of gasoline was
down by more than 30% year-on-year.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group has deemed highly the location and construction
of its breweries and the potential impacts they might have on
the surrounding ecological environment. As such, the quality of
water source has been used as a key assessment indicator for
site selection. So long as the water quality indicator fails to meet
relevant process requirements, no new brewery could be built on
the location. Additionally, as a design principle, “zero pollution,
low energy consumption and clean production” are required
for the most stringent control over water source quality, which
demands that no polluting enterprise should be erected and no
land with heavy metal and radioactive substances be found within
the 2-kilometer-radius zone. The Group also concerned about
the possible impacts of the operation of the breweries on the
surrounding environment and residents. By adding sound insulation
barriers, fixing sound insulation and absorption facilities, improving
work processes as well as other initiatives, the Group has managed
to minimize the noise impact on the surroundings. At the same
time, the Group has installed odor and tainted air collection facilities
to improve the air quality in the ambience. In 2018, the Group
carried out a total of 13 noise prevention and tainted air treatment
projects, investing close to RMB13 million.

PROMOTING ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

During the year under review, the Group held “Open Days of
Breweries"” with five breweries in Shenyang, Sichuan, Guangdong
and Henan as pilot spots. Residents in the surroundings,
government authorities, staff's family members and relevant
parties were invited to visit the breweries. On top of this, teachers
and students from the Resources and Environmental Management
Institute of Xichang University in Sichuan Province made a visit
to the local production base, allowing them to learn more about
the process of beer production as well as the Group's efforts and
achievements in environmental protection, energy conservation
and emission reductions.
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The Group's brewery in Shenyang also participated in the corporate
energy conservation and low carbon emission seminar held by
the Shenyang Energy Conservation Association in the “Energy
Conservation Week 2018" to publicize and report on the Group's
energy conservation and environmental protection work, and
appreciate the latest development and technological applications
of energy conversation and low carbon emissions in China. In
addition, the Group continued to take part in an array of nationwide
environmental protection campaigns, including the “World
Environment Day”, “National Energy Conservation Week" and
“National Low-Carbon Day"” in 2018.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group has consistently and strictly adopted the national
and local laws and regulations on labour and remuneration
management, and has taken a proactive approach to talent
development so as to strengthen the staff's skill sets and
efficiency. During the year under review, the Group further
implemented organizational restructuring and enhanced the
average staff efficiency. At the same time, the Group launched
job positions management enhancement and career development
projects, helping in optimizing remuneration system and improving
career path development for staff establishment; modified
evaluation methods for the managers and middle management
personnel; standardized labour management system; and unified
approval process for various businesses. All these helped to
promote the construction of labour and employment information
and regulate execution and management for better efficiency.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

In 2018, the Group's average staff training hours reached 18.3
hours, surpassing that registered in 2017. The coverage rate of full-
time staff training continued to maintain at 100%. To support the
Group's strategic transformation and quality business development,
multi-level training programs were organized, including trainings
for sales management, sales and finance management as well
as operational management personnel to promote strategic
execution and implementation. Targeting managerial professionals
in key positions, the Group provided trainings, product innovation
workshops and brand training camps for middle and high level staff
in marketing department and regional companies to advance their
business skills and capabilities. Aside from this, the Group also
provided capability improvement training for frontline staff as well
as core management training for team leaders in breweries so as
to upgrade the job skills of staff members at junior level. All these
initiatives have embodied fully the all-round, all-level and system-
wide “three-in-one” training system of the Group.

B e

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Group's safety production management is deeply rooted in
its management philosophy to production operations featuring
a people-oriented approach and development in a safe manner,
and has strictly observed the national laws and administrative
regulations on safe production and occupational health. In 2018, to
further enhance the accountability of respective responsibilities on
EHS and the establishment of a sound EHS accountability system,
staff at all levels were required to sign a letter of accountability on
EHS. Moreover, all staff members took part in safety observation
activities related to identification of hazard sources and factors
as well as dangerous behavior in order to remind them how to
follow procedural control and to regulate their safety practices.
By carrying out unannounced inspections and reviewing video
surveillance and inspections, the Group has managed to investigate
and rectify potential safety hazards, promoting the implementation
of various safety production undertakings. During the year under
review, the Group conducted investigations and inspections for
safety management of liquid ammonia, forklift, hazardous chemical
substances, transportation logistics and construction projects at
some of its breweries for upgrade of management standard.
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The Group has further improved the working environment by
continuously improving, optimizing and upgrading its work on the
management system for safety production, the protection facilities
against occupational hazards. In 2018, CRSB set-up a special
fund of approximately RMB76 million for production safety to
improve the overall standards of safety production management
and technical equipment. The Group is dedicated to protecting the
health of its staff members, and implemented an accountability
system for human resources units and improved the system for the
monitoring, prevention and control of occupational hazards. Some
of the Group’s breweries have received the occupational health
and safety management system certification (OHSAS18001). In
addition to reporting and regularly monitoring dangerous hazards
such as noise and dust in the working environment, various
technical initiatives have been taken to improve the working
environment and create a healthy workplace for staff. Moreover,
a wide range of publicity and education programs on occupational
health have been launched, aiming at enhancing staff's sense of
law and social responsibility as well as raising their awareness
of self-protection. When new staff signs a labour contract, the
Group will fulfill all of its duties by informing them of the potential
hazards of occupational diseases and purchase work-related injury
insurance for them in accordance with the law. For staff members
who are engaged in operations that could cause occupational
diseases, occupational health examinations will be conducted
before, during and after their employment. The Group has also
emphasized on safety education. In 2018, CSRB's staff received a
total of 520,000 training hours on safety education. More than 570
emergency drills with over 18,000 participants were conducted.

The Group has enhanced its rescue capability through daily
exercises, trainings, technical competitions, experience exchanges
and simulated combat exercises. A “one-file-per-staff” occupational
health record has also been set up. During the year under review,
CRSB attained 100% in the coverage of training sessions on safety
education, health examinations for the prevention and treatment
of occupational diseases, notifications of occupational hazards in
the workplace and the setting of warning signs. Moreover, the
Group continued the training, appraisal and certification of key
personnel. Business executives and safety management staff at
different levels at CRSB have all obtained qualification certificates
in safety management. At the end of 2018, approximately 150 staff
were certified as PRC registered safety engineers, and all staff
who engaged in special operations possessed valid qualification
certificates.
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STAFF CARE

The Group has strived to create a caring working environment for
its staff members. “Snow Relief Fund” was established in 2006 for
the sake of providing assistance to staff that are in need through
internal donations. In 2018, the fund assisted approximately 40
staff in total. During the year under review, the Group’s senior
management continued their interaction with frontline staff and
conducted in-depth communications with them to find out about
their needs and challenges, strengthen team building and deepen
staff care. In addition, the Group carried out a “Cool Gift” campaign
during the peak production period in summer, where heat stroke
prevention products were distributed to frontline production
workers. Meanwhile, the “Running Health” campaign and other
related regular events promoted work-life balance and raised
awareness of occupational diseases and improved both physical
and mental health of all staff.

FOOD SAFETY AND PRODUCT QUALITY

With the aim of “brewing the best beer in the world”, the Group
has formulated its policy on product quality that emphasizes
“quality first, consumers as top priority, be innovative and
excellent and fulfill social responsibilities”. The Group has stayed
focused on strengthening its quality management system and
standard development, and helping various production units to
make further progress in the management system certification
including quality management system (ISO9001), food safety
management system (ISO22000) and Hazardous Analysis and
Critical Control Point (HACCP). In 2018, the Group established the
“Technical Standardization Project Team” to launch the technical
standard optimization and carry out troubleshooting of the internally
controlled quality standard system, extensively benchmarking
it with the national standard, industry and relevant products in
the market in order to ensure product quality. Furthermore, the
Snow logo and design has been recognized as a distinguished
trademark in 2018, allowing the Group to better combat counterfeit
and substandard products and safeguard its legal rights in related
trademarks.
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The Group has placed great emphasis on quality management
during production process as well as food safety management,
ensuring the product quality from the source. The Group has
facilitated extended quality management which features the
unification of headquarters planning, management from nearby
regions as well as consolidation and sharing of information, so as
to achieve better synergies between the headquarters, regional
companies and local breweries.

The Group's beer products have won a 100% pass rate in ex-factory
quality, spot test by the National Safety Supervision and Inspection,
and effective quality complaint handling rate. In the internal quality
control management system, the comparable quality, outlook
and integrated quality of the Group’s products are at the forefront
among Chinese domestic enterprises, reflecting fully the Group's
excellent quality management level.

The Group has not only pursued refinement in product quality,
but has been working hard in new product and special product
development in order to satisfy the diverse demands of the new
generation of consumers. In 2018, the Group launched new
products including “Brave the World superX” and “Craftsmanship”,
both new products obtained total three awards from the Beer
Professional Committee of the China National Food Industry
Association, namely “Beer Esthetic Design Award”, “Quality New
Product” and “Packaging Design Golden Award”. At the same
time, CRSB also yielded results in two scientific research efforts,
namely the “high efficiency operation technical research and
practice in beer packaging lines” and “research and application
of using key syrup technology in beer”. Based on the expert
validation organized by the Technical Committee of China
Alcoholic Drinks Association during the year under review, it was
unanimously agreed that the overall technology of the two projects
reached international advanced standard and provided a good
demonstration and promotion for the industry. Random testings on
food safety indicators of those materials in contact with the beer
like raw and auxiliary materials in beer production and packaging
materials were performed by third party vendors. During the year
under review, random checks for food safety indicators were
conducted on a total of around 140 suppliers, 170 batches and
more than 10 types of items. All these checks achieved passing
results.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group has had stringent internal guidelines in place for its
supply chain management. The process for co-operation with
suppliers has been assessed monthly with regard to seven
indicators: quality, timeliness, accuracy, declined orders, returned
goods, violation behaviors and flawed products to ensure quality
services and production quality. During the year under review,
the Group reviewed more than 300 raw and auxiliary ingredients,
packaging and non-productive material suppliers based on onsite
inspection and certification, co-operation process evaluation and
after-sales service, and the passing rate was 98%. The Group has
continued to renew its internal supplier list and implement dynamic
management. During the year under review, the phase out ratio
of suppliers was around 2%, while the successful rate for new
supplier introduction was around 3%.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION AND CONSUMER
DATA PROTECTION

To enhance its customer service quality and allow consumers to
enjoy excellent service of the Group, the Group has established
a rapid market complaint response system, utilizing a unified
national customer service hotline to standardize the process of
handling customer complaints. The Group has also improved its
factory production information management to ensure the trace
of production information rapidly and accurately. The Group has
constantly improved its production quality and service standard
as well as minimizing customer complaints to systematically
enhance customer satisfaction. In 2018, through improving
recycling methods and optimizing the management of sources
of beer bottles, the Group eliminated the risk of producing beer
with impurities from the source. To prevent the production of
contaminated beer in the production process, the Group has done
a series of work in five areas, namely the management of the
sources of beer bottles, photodetector machine management,
improvement in bottle rinsing equipment, bottle rinsing process
improvement and evaluation incentives, thereby designating key
control points throughout the production chain, strengthening
control over key production process and continuously enhancing
customer satisfaction.

The Group has placed high importance on the protection of
consumer privacy, and through strict information encryption and
permission settings, information hierarchy management and
isolation, the Group has successfully prevented the leakage of
consumer information. Relevant staff are required to comply
with China’s confidentiality legislation and the “Policy Governing
Confidentiality”, and to sign a “Letter of Undertaking on
Confidentiality” to fulfill their duty of confidentiality and to ensure
information security.
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MAJOR HIGHLIGHTS OF THE COMPANY'’S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:

1.

A balanced portfolio of Board members by age and length of
Board services. Besides, the directors draw a vast experience
and diversified knowledge across different disciplines,
including the areas of trading and commerce, accounting and
finance, legal, banking and civil services.

ES2BRSFEH

Length of Board services
_10FNAR : 6

less than 10 years: 6

10F KA E : 5

r 10 years or above: 5

Board committees are a vital part of the Board effectiveness.
To facilitate more professional advices of various areas in
the committees, the members of Nomination Committee,
Compensation Committee and Audit Committee are mainly
constituted by independent non-executive directors and
each committee is chaired by a different independent non-
executive director.

In 2018, a majority of the independent non-executive
directors, together with management, have been arranged
a site visit to a brewery in Nanjing to discuss about risk
management at operational level.

It is the firm belief of the Company that a good and solid corporate
governance framework is essential to the successful growth of
the Company and the enhancement of shareholder value. The
Company is committed to attaining and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance and adopts principles of corporate
governance emphasising a quality Board, accountability to all
stakeholders, open communication and fair disclosure.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

On 8 April 2005, the Company adopted the Corporate Governance
Practice Manual (“CG Manual”). The CG Manual, which was
revised on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010, 21 March 2012,
7 December 2015,18 March 2016 and 21 November 2018,
incorporates almost all the Code Provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”) and
includes the implementation details for the Code Provisions and,
where appropriate, the Recommended Best Practices. The CG
Manual can be downloaded from the Company’s website and
copies are available on request to the Company Secretary.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions set out in the
CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, save and
except the following:

In respect of Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all the non-
executive directors are not appointed for a fixed term. The Board
does not believe in any arbitrary term of office. The current
arrangement will give the Company sufficient flexibility to organize
the composition of the Board to serve the needs of the Group.
Further, the Articles of Association of the Company requires that
one third of the directors (including executive and non-executive
directors) shall retire each year and every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The directors
to retire each year shall be those appointed by the Board during the
year and those who have been longest in office since their election
or re-election. A retiring director is eligible for re-election.

In respect of Code Provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, the Board did
not have a policy concerning diversity of the Board members before
21 November 2018 and the Board resolved to adopt a diversity
policy at its meeting held on 21 November 2018.

In respect of Code Provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the Company
has not provided all members of the Board with monthly updates
to enable the Board as a whole and each director to discharge their
duties. However, the Company has based on business situation,
provided to the Board from time to time, updated business
information to enable the Board as a whole and each director to
discharge their duties.
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In respect of Code Provision D.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company
did not have formal letters of appointment for directors. However,
all directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company. In addition, all directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued
by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”,
and, if applicable, “Guide for Independent Non-Executive
Directors” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in
performing their duties and responsibilities as directors of the
Company. Besides, the directors are required to comply with the
requirements under the Listing Rules, the responsibilities under
statute and common law, legal and other regulatory requirements.

In addition to meet the requirements of the Listing Rules, the
inclusion of the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual Report
is intended to keep our shareholders abreast of the corporate
governance practices of the Company and their development
throughout the reporting year and to invite our shareholders’ views
thereon.

THE BOARD

The Board represents shareholders in managing the Company's
affairs. The directors recognise their responsibilities to enhance
shareholder value and to conduct themselves in accordance with
their duty of care and integrity.

The major issues which are brought before the Board for their
decisions include:

1. direction of the operational strategies of the Group;

2

setting the policies relating to key business and financial
objectives of the Company;

3. monitoring the performance of the management;
4.  approval of material acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposal of assets or any significant capital expenditure of the

Group;

5. ensuring a prudent and effective risk management and
internal control systems;

6. review of the financial performance and results of the
Company; and

7.  recommendation on final dividend and the declaration of any
interim or special dividends to shareholders of the Company.



F 3R / Annual Report 2018 // 55

B

BEENTETELERTNED.S1EE
A EVREREE - MBS - EESW
NS N BHE ¢

1. BT AAS T AR B ED W E R T E
BEMES  HRESSREEI

2. RUMEREEMNSZEEEARMNE
YIFFL T R

3. RITMERARFEETERNEMN
AEMEFREHE T A BERMES

Ea

FIE RITMUERERTFAR
Aﬂ%%%?ﬁﬁﬂﬂbﬁ?%@u
g): &k

5. RKRIUARFZEET LN
TR R (bl E R IR & P B9 <7 A
BEEF -

B2 TAFERFNTATRLERED :

MERRFNELERRS &

. Lﬁ$ilﬂmﬁﬁ&W$MT%%
BRZABFEZTHENER

%%AA VA B4R ER IV 55 3R 3R O 4 5]

Wﬂﬁﬁfﬁf& ?ﬂ&%ﬁﬁl?
ﬁ%@mlﬂﬁﬂ WERASRE - M5
ﬁ%%%ﬂ%zﬂﬁi R B X AR &
B BRI H B BT B ey 1T - AR AR &
H 2 MBARA ST RO EHE R REHR
TEZRACTEN UNULEFHEEZEXRRIE
B2 TR B @b 5 RIE L TG -

Al A iR 4

Corporate Governance Report

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code, and in this regard
the duties of the Board shall include:

1. to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and the senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in accordance
with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board considered the following
corporate governance matters:

° approval of the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company; and

o review of the results of the internal audit work on the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The financial statements are prepared
and presented to enable a clear and balanced assessment of the
financial position of the Group. Regular management reports on
the financial position and prospects of the Group are reviewed by
the Executive Committee to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the performance of the Company.
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In the financial year ended 31 December 2018, and up to the date
of this Report, there was the following changes to the membership
of the Board:

Mr. Jian Yi was appointed as an Executive Director on 5 July 2018.

As at the date of this Report, the Board comprises 11 directors,
including four executive directors, two non-executive directors and
five independent non-executive directors. The biographical details
of the directors (including gender, age and length of service) are set
out on pages 30 to 36 of this Annual Report and can also be found
on the Company's website. The relationships (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships) if any,
among members of the Board are disclosed. There is no such
relationship as between the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer.

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company has received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive directors confirming his independence
from the Company, and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

The experience and views of our independent non-executive
directors are held in high regard and contribute to the effective
direction of the Group. Throughout the year of 2018, the Company
complied with the requirements under the Listing Rules by
maintaining the proportion of its independent non-executive
directors to at least one third of the total members of the Board.

The Company has put in place a tailored induction programme
for its newly appointed directors. Continuing development and
information are provided to the directors to keep them abreast
of the latest developments involving the Group’s business and
operations.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed from
time to time to ensure that the Board has a balanced composition
of skills and expertise appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. Appointments are first considered by the
Nomination Committee. The recommendations of the Nomination
Committee are then put to the full Board for decision.
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All directors (including executive and non-executive directors) are
not appointed for a fixed term. The Board does not believe in any
arbitrary term of office and would like to retain sufficient flexibility
to organise the composition of the Board to serve the needs of
the Group. All directors are subject to re-election by shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting following their
appointment and at least once every three years on a rotation basis.
The Articles of Association of the Company require that one-third of
the directors (including executive and non-executive directors) shall
retire each year. The directors who are required to retire each year
shall be those appointed by the Board during the year and those
who have been longest in office since their election or re-election.
A retiring director is eligible for re-election.

During the year of 2018, the positions of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer were held separately and their roles were
exercised by different individuals. The role of Chairman was held
by Mr. Chen Lang and Mr. Hou Xiaohai held the position of Chief
Executive Officer. The segregation of duties of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer ensures a clear distinction in the
Chairman’s responsibility to manage the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer's responsibility to manage the Company's
business. The respective responsibilities of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer are more fully set out in the CG Manual.

Mr. Chen Lang, the Chairman attended the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 24 May 2018. The Chief Executive Officer
and either the chairman or at least one member of the Audit
Committee, Compensation Committee and Nomination Committee
attended the annual general meeting to ensure effective
communication with the shareholders of the Company. Separate
resolution was proposed at the annual general meeting on each
substantially separate issue, including re-election of each retiring
director and was put to vote at the meeting by way of poll. Detailed
procedures for conducting a poll were explained at the meeting.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Between these regular meetings,
the Board meets to discuss and consider major issues (whether
or not required by the Listing Rules) and also on other occasions
when Board decisions are required. With respect to regular
meetings of the Board, directors usually receive at least 14 days
prior written notice of the meeting and an agenda with supporting
Board papers no less than 3 days prior to the meeting. With respect
to other meetings called, directors are given as much notice as
is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. The directors
have full access to information on the Group and independent
professional advice whenever deemed necessary by the directors.
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BEE2T T \FHBF6XLIW (B During the year of 2018, 6 meetings (including meetings by
:F:ﬁdwim) EEET T \FEHFEAR way of circulation of written resolutions) were held by the
RR& - S8 FRERSLSLIW - F  Board. The attendance of the directors at general meeting(s),
@Hiﬁﬁﬁu&ﬁ%iiﬁﬁuﬁ’jﬁ\ g,  Board meeting(s), Audit Committee meeting(s), Compensation
FT&: Committee meeting(s) and Nomination Committee meeting(s) held

in 2018 is set out in the table below:

#HZER2 REzhs

REAEAS Ex2 BHRERS Compensation Nomination
Annual General Board Audit Committee Committee Committee
Meeting (SWERERER (SNEERE  (SWHERE  (SWEERR
(AWHERH Meeting(s) attended/ Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
Meeting attended/ TR B held) attended/ attended/ attended/

ETRH held) R S TR B held) AT RH held) ETRH held)

178 % Executive Directors

BHEE Mr. Chen Lang N 44 22

HHEE Mr. Jian Yi TER NA* 203+ 22

eyl Mr. Hou Xiaohai on 44 112

BRERE Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin N 44 0 0

FH#17ES Non-Executive Directors

BEREE Mr. Chen Rong Vi 24 22

PhriErE Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank Vi 44 22

3 3 T EE Independent Non-Executive Directors

BATRE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh n 44 22 22 44 22

TRERT Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric 01 44 11 0 44 bl

AEEET Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses on 44 1" 11 44

BEBLE Mr. Bemard Charnwut Chan on 44 1 11 20

REEE Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 11 44 22 44 20

“E-)\EENFLRR

Total number of meetings held in 2018 1 6 2 40 28

BSE -
Notes:

R: T 14 1 Regular Meeting
S 5 5l & 1 Special Meeting

* F-Z-NFLALR AZAERZENARARNITES

Mr. Jian Yi was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 5 July 2018

(1) FMERASRN  EFRAASNER#ETT  ERRRUPEANERREA BT -
Among the Compensation Committee resolutions, two were passed by way of physical meeting and two were passed by way of written
resolutions.

(2) REZRLARY  ERF KRS WA #TT  ER—RUPERNEREA @
Among the Nomination Committee resolutions, one was passed by way of physical meeting and one was passed by way of written
resolutions.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and professional
development program for directors.

Each newly appointed director would receive an induction package
covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of
a listed company and the Company’s business and governance
policies. The Company also provides briefings and other training to
develop and refresh the directors’ knowledge and skill.

All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Company has sent reading materials to directors on regulatory
updates or information relevant to the Company or its business.

In 2018, a majority of the independent non-executive directors,
together with the management, have been arranged a site visit
to a brewery in Nanjing to discuss about risk management at
operational level.
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KNG CEREHRESTFERNESESELT  The Company has received from all directors records of their
WAREBIzLFE - BRx1FEHEHTTER:  continuous professional development trainings during the year.
Details of which are set out in below table:

FEETLRR 225
Type of Continuous Professional Development

BRI HERTS -

E/HelR/Bittz
RFHiEL KR FARAEXEARRHLSE
SR/ RILERH ZEHEERAREH
Receiving training, Reading regulatory
attending and/or giving updates or information
talks at seminar and/or relevant to the Company
conference and/or forums or its business
# 4T E = Executive Directors
BREAS & Mr. Chen Lang v v/
(R Mr. Jian Yi v v
EEZGEE Mr. Hou Xiaohai v v
REFEE Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin v v
3E#h.1T E=E Non-Executive Directors
BRoR k& Mr. Chen Rong v v
L od it Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank v v
1837 3E T EE Independent Non-Executive Directors
BATEE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh v v
TREFL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric v v
MEEEL Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses v v
BREBEE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan v v
A Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon v v
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While the Board retains at all times full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the Company, certain responsibilities of the Board are
delegated as follows:

(a) Committees — various committees have been established
by the Board to administer certain specified functions
of the Company’s affairs. The main committees include:
the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Compensation Committee. The terms of reference of the
Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Compensation Committee which set out,
among other things, the duties, functions and composition of
these committees are set out in the CG Manual and available
on the Company'’s website; and

(b)  Chief Executive Officer — the day-to-day management of

the Company’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer who is accountable to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh (Independent Non-Executive
Director)
Members:  Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan,

Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (all are Independent
Non-Executive Directors) and Mr. Lai Po Sing,
Tomakin (Executive Director)

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
performance, structure, size and composition of the Board and
to make recommendation after such review and to assess the
suitability and qualification of any proposed director candidate.
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then
put forward for consideration and adoption, where appropriate, by
the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
setting out its duties and procedures were revised on 21 March
2012, 7 December 2015 and 21 November 2018, and are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting and passed a written resolution. A
summary of work done by the Nomination Committee during the
year include, among other things:

o review the performance, structure, size and composition of
the Board.

° make recommendations on the appointment of Mr. Jian Yi as
Executive Director to the Board.

The Board adopted the nomination policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of the directors, and ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company's
business.

Major terms of the nomination policy are disclosed as follows:

(1)  The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited to
(collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@)  Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender,

age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b)  Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect
of available time and relevant interest;

(c) Qualifications, including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company's
business is involved in;

(d) Independence;

(e)  Reputation for integrity;

(f)  Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to
the Board; and

(@)  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
retiring director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving
due consideration to the criteria including but not limited to:

(@) The overall contribution and service of the retiring
director(s) to the Company, including but not limited to
the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or its
committees and general meetings where applicable, in
addition to the level of participation and performance on
the Board and/or its committees; and

(b)  whether the retiring director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the
Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
candidate(s) for the position(s) of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company by giving due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to those
set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject
to any amendments as may be made from time to time, in
addition to the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a director in accordance with the following
procedures and process:

(@) The Nomination Committee will, giving due
consideration to the current composition and size of the
Board, develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and
experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

(b)  The Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party agency
firm and proposals from shareholders of the Company
with due consideration given to the Criteria;

(c)  The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third party reference checks;

(d)  The Nomination Committee will consider a broad range
of candidates who are in and outside of the Board’s
circle of contacts;
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(e) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

(f)  The Nomination Committee will provide the
relevant information of the selected candidate to
the Compensation Committee for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

(@ The Nomination Committee will thereafter make
the recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment, and where a non-executive
director is considered, the Compensation Committee
will make the recommendation to the Board on the
proposed remuneration package;

(h)  The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not
members of the Nomination Committee and the Board
will thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as
the case may be; and

(i) All appointment of directors will be confirmed by the
filing of the consent to act as director of the relevant
director (or any other similar filings requiring the relevant
director to acknowledge or accept the appointment
as director, as the case may be) to be filed with the
Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection,
appointment and reappointment of directors.

The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually,
in the Corporate Governance Report, on the composition
of the Board, and launch a formal process to monitor the
implementation of this policy as appropriate.

The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to
review this policy periodically to ensure that it is transparent
and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s needs and
reflects the current regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practice. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.
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The nomination policy is available on the website of the Company.

During the year, the Committee considers that diversity of the
Board has been achieved through consideration based on a number
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments have
been based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
may bring to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of a
diverse Board.

The Board also adopted the diversity policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity at the
Board.

A summary of the diversity policy is disclosed as follows:

(1)  The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having diversity, including diversity on gender, age, cultural
and educational background or professional experience at the
Board in order to enhance the performance of the Company.
These benefits include (i) ensuring that a range of different
perspectives can be brought to the table when reviewing
and considering issues within the Board; (ii) enabling the
Company to connect effectively with its stakeholders as
appropriate; and (i) supporting the Company’s commitment
to improve its corporate governance practices.

(2)  With a view to achieving sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

(3)  Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates may bring to the Board. The Nomination
Committee should set measurable objectives periodically for
implementing the diversity policy.
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(4)  The Nomination Committee will review the diversity policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the diversity
policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

(5)  The Company aims to promote diversity not just at the Board
but also at the senior management level where appropriate
taking into account the Company's own circumstances. The
Company welcomes diversity at the senior management
level, with a view to further contributing to the attainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

The diversity policy is available on the website of the Company.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (Independent Non-
Executive Director)
Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric and Dr.

Cheng Mo Chi, Moses (all are Independent Non-
Executive Directors)

The duties of the Compensation Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure of remuneration of directors and senior management,
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on remuneration and determining the specific remuneration
packages for all directors and senior management. The terms of
reference of the Compensation Committee setting out its duties
and procedures were revised on 21 March 2012 and 7 December
2015, and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

The remuneration of the directors and senior executives is
determined with reference to the performance and responsibilities
of the individual, the performance of the Group, prevailing market
conditions and remuneration benchmarks from comparable
companies. Directors and employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the performance of the Group and the
individual.
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During the year under review, the Compensation Committee met
twice and passed two written resolutions. A summary of work
done by the Compensation Committee during the year include,
among other things:

o determining the policy for the remuneration of executive
directors and making recommendations on the Directors fees
to the Board.

° approving the remuneration packages of the directors of the
Company.

o conducting review of the incentive award to the Senior
Management of the subsidiary of the Company.

For the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the Remuneration
Committee adopted the model described in code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairman: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric (Independent Non-Executive
Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses and

Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan (all are Independent
Non-Executive Directors)

One of the members of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. No member of this Committee is a
member or partner of the former or existing auditors of the
Company. The membership of the Audit Committee has complied
with the Listing Rules requirement that the majority of its members
must be independent and one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualification. The existing terms of reference of the
Audit Committee which were revised on 18 November 2010, are
modeled on “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee” issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and have also
adopted the principles set out in the CG Code for the time being in
force. Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, the terms of reference of the Audit Committee was further
revised on 21 March 2012, 7 December 2015 and 21 November
2018, and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.
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The duties of the Audit Committee include considering and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditors, review of the Company'’s financial
information and oversight of the Company'’s financial report system
and internal control procedures. During the year under review, the
Audit Committee met on two occasions. The work of the Audit
Committee in 2018 included reviews of:

o the external auditor’s report to the Audit Committee in
respect of 2017 audit;

o the 2017 annual report and annual results announcement;

o audit strategy memorandum in respect of the 2018 audit by
the external auditor;

o connected party transactions;

o the 2018 interim report and interim results announcement;

° the reports of internal audit activities;

° the effectiveness, staffing and resources of the Group's
Internal Audit Department; and

o the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff, training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee met with the
external auditor on two occasions.

The Audit Committee has considered the performance and
independence of the external auditor of the Company. The Audit
Committee concludes that the independence of the external
auditor of the Company has not been compromised by the non-
audit services performed for the Group. The statement by the
external auditor about its reporting responsibilities relating to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 90 to 101.
During the year under review, audit fees paid and payable to the
Company'’s external auditor amount to approximately 11 million
(2017: approximately RMB11 million); fees related to non-audit
services paid and payable amount to approximately RMB5 million
(2017: Nil).
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The interests held by the directors in the Company's securities as at
31 December 2018 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report on pages
79 to 81 of this Annual Report. On 8 April 2005, the Company
has adopted a Code of Ethics and Securities Transactions (“Code
of Ethics”) which incorporates the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Code of Ethics has
been amended, approved and reconfirmed by the Board on 6 April
2006, 4 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and further revised on 31 March
2009, 18 November 2010 and 7 December 2015 respectively. The
prohibitions on securities dealing and disclosure requirements in
the Code of Ethics also apply to specified individuals who include
the Group's senior management and persons who are privy to
inside information of the Group. The Code of Ethics is on terms no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code.
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, all directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the Code of Ethics during the year ended 31
December 2018.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board assumes overall responsibility to establish and
maintain sound systems in risk management, internal control and
governance to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. The
Board confirms that it is the overall responsibility of the Board
to establish and effectively implement the risk management
and internal control systems to ensure the smooth operation of
business, safeguard the Group's assets and shareholders’ interests
as well as ensure the reliability of financial statements.

OVERVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group adopts the control framework consistent with the
frameworks recommended by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission in the United States
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants as the
standards in establishing risk management and control systems
among our Group companies. The Group's risk management and
internal control systems include five key elements, namely the
existence of an effective control environment, risk management,
communication and information system, cost effective control
activities and monitoring mechanism. The specific implementation
tasks of the Group’'s risk management and internal control are
mainly shared by the management and employees.
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The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation and, maintenance of internal controls. The
Group has established policies and procedures to communicate
management instructions to all employees, and monitor business
operations. The monitoring activities include approval and
verification, review, asset protection, and division of duties.
Our internal self-assessment monitoring process requires each
business unit to evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls,
formulate mitigation measures in a timely manner, and reduce the
recognized significant risks.

MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group requires its business unit to identify and assess
the risks and impact at least once every year. The executive
management team of the business unit is accountable for the
conduct and performance of each operation in the business unit
within the agreed strategies and similarly the management of each
operation is accountable for its conduct and performance. Policies
and procedures are designed for safeguarding corporate assets,
maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring transactions
are executed in accordance with management authorisation.
Monthly management reports on the financial results and key
operation indicators are reviewed by the Executive Committee
of the Board. Regular meetings are held with the executive
management team of the business unit to review the actual
performance against budget.

Our Internal Audit Function, reporting to the Audit Committee and
Chairman of the Board respectively, is responsible for assessing
the Group's risk management and internal control systems,
adopting the risk-based internal audit method to determine whether
the Group's major risks can be controlled by main monitoring
measures, formulating an impartial opinion on the effectiveness
and efficiency of the systems, and reporting its findings to the
Executive Committee and the Audit Committee. Follow-up
review will be conducted by the Internal Audit to ensure that
audit recommendations are being properly implemented. The
Internal Audit conducts independent reviews on the Group's risk
management and internal control systems on an on-going basis.

Depending on the nature and risk exposure of the Group's
business, the scope of work performed by the internal audit
function covers all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.
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Results of internal audit activities are reported to the Audit
Committee at least once semi-annually for the year ended 31
December 2018 and the corrective actions are taken by the
business unit. The Audit Committee will review whether the
Group's risk management and internal control systems (including
financial, operational and compliance control measures) are
adequate and effective, and consider the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications, and experience. The Board conducts regular
reviews of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems through the Internal Audit Function and the Audit
Committee.

With respect to internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information, the Company shall assess the circumstances
under which inside information may arise from time to time and
disclose inside information as soon as reasonably practicable
in accordance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules. The Company conducts its business affairs
with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission and
imposes a strict prohibition on the unauthorised use of confidential
or inside information by directors, employees and other relevant
persons (such as external service providers and project working
team members).

Based on the assessment for the year ended 31 December 2018
for purpose of reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems, the Board and the Audit Committee
believe that the risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate, provide reasonable assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded and there is no significant area of
concerns that may affect shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the
directors are required to call a general meeting if the Company
has received requests to do so from members of the Company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
members having a right to vote at general meeting. Such requests
must (a) state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the
meeting. Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company in hard
copy form (by depositing at the registered office of the Company
for the attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by email:
ir@cre.com.hk); and (b) must be authenticated by the person
or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors must call a meeting within
21 days after the date on which they become subject to the
requirement under Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance and
such meeting must be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that
the Company must give notice of a resolution if it has received
requests that it do so from (a) the members of the Company
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate. Such requests (a)
may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing
at the registered office of the Company for the attention of the
Board) or in electronic form (by email: ir@cre.com.hk); (b) must
identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must
be received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the
annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (ii) if later,
the time at which notice is given of that meeting. Section 616 of the
Companies Ordinance provides that the Company that is required
under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance to give notice of a
resolution must send a copy of it at the Company’s own expense
to each member of the Company entitled to receive notice of the
annual general meeting (a) in the same manner as the notice of
the meeting; and (b) at the same time as, or as soon as reasonably
practicable after, it gives notice of the meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report

PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Articles 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a director retiring at a meeting
shall, unless recommended by the directors, be appointed a
director at a general meeting unless at least seven days' previous
notice in writing (to be lodged no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election
and no later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting) shall
have been given to the Company of the intention of any member
qualified to vote at the meeting to propose any person other than
a retiring director for election to the office of director with notice
executed by that person of his willingness to be appointed.

Not less than three nor more than twenty-eight days before the
date appointed for holding a general meeting notice shall be
given to all who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting of
any person in respect of whom notice has been duly given to the
Company under Article 112.1 of the Articles of Association of the
Company.

The aforesaid procedures are available on the website of the
Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The new Articles of Association of the Company was adopted on
25 May 2016 by special resolution at the annual general meeting in
order to ensure compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

There is no change to the Articles of Association of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and fair disclosure of information to its
shareholders. Accurate and fair disclosure is necessary for
shareholders to form their own judgement on the operation and
performance of the Group.

The Company has established a Shareholder’s Communication
Policy and the said policy is available on the website of the
Company.

Based on this policy, legitimate questions arising from generally
disclosed information deserves a reasonable reply. The Investor
Relations Department is responsible for managing investor
relations and will respond to such shareholders’ and analysts’
enquiries.
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EBHP : ir@cre.com.hk

B8 1E : 852-2829 9889
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The Company's website provides shareholders, investors, existing
and prospective partners and counterparties with information on
the Company’s corporate governance practices. Copies of such
information can be obtained from the Company Secretary upon
written request.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations Department

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
39th Floor, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: ir@cre.com.hk

Tel No.: 852-2829 9889

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar.

By order of the Board
CHEN LANG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2019
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in presenting to the shareholders their
report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has been principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are shown on pages 164 to 167. An analysis of the
Group's performance for the year by regional segments is set out in
Note 6 to the financial statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out on page 102 and
shows the Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends a final dividend of RMB0.03 per share for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMBO0.07 per share)
payable on or around 14 June 2019 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 30 May
2019. The final dividend, if approved, is to be payable in cash
in Hong Kong dollars which will be converted from RMB at the
average CNY Central Parity Rate announced by the People’s Bank
of China for the five business days prior to and including the date
of the Annual General Meeting (as defined in the below section
headed “Closure of Register of Members”). Together with the
interim dividend of RMB0.09 per share, the total dividend for 2018
will amount to RMBO0.12 per share (2017: RMBO0.14 per share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 20 May 2019 to Friday, 24 May 2019, both days inclusive,
during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to determine the identity of members who are
entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting to be held
on 24 May 2019 (the “"Annual General Meeting”), all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Standard
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 17 May 2019 for
registration.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (Continued)

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, the proposed final dividend will be payable to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company after the close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
30 May 2019, and the register of members of the Company will
be closed on Thursday, 30 May 2019, during which no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 29 May 2019 for registration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 is set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”,
“Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
“Corporate Risk Management”, “Corporate Social Responsibility”
and “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 10 to 11, pages
16 to 19, pages 23 to 26, pages 37 to 41, pages 42 to 51 and pages
52 to 74 respectively of this Annual Report.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those having
significant impact on the Group. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and business unit from time to time. As far as the
Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Company.

FIXED ASSETS

Movements in the fixed assets of the Group during the year are set
out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are set
out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB2,000,000.
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Lang (Chairman)

Mr. Jian Yi (Appointed on 5 July 2018)

Mr. Hou Xiaohai (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin (Chief Financial Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Rong
Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

In accordance with Article 110 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Chen Rong, Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank, Mr. Houang
Tai Ninh and Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon shall retire by rotation at
the Annual General Meeting and are eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 115 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Jian Yi will retire at the Annual General Meeting
and is eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent company or the
subsidiaries of its parent company were a party and in which a
director of the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of directors are set out on pages 30 to 36.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors and alternate director who have served on
the board of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report is available on the Company’s website
at www.crbeer.com.hk under “Investor Relations — Corporate
Governance”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him as such director in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (“SFO"), which have been notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO, including interests and short positions which the directors and
chief executive of the Company are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be and are
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing
Rules were as follows:

() FARABE ATEERKRMEXEK (A) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES AND
% #E KN UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

HENFFDLE

i &r g =] Aggregate

EEHS 6, %Ko Number of percentage of

Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest' (%)

B BA S 400,000 0.01
Chen Lang Long position

&G aen 918,000 0.03
Hou Xiaohai Long position

LT S 149,498 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position

FRFE ase) 271,817 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Long position

BT -

1. BARNRBRMDFOFCEREARARET
—E-N\F+-A=+—-HERTTRH
BHHWBEDL

2. EXmBEBEZ NGRS ERARERE
AZENEE -

Notes:

1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the Company as at
31 December 2018.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS

As at the same date, certain directors had interests in the
issued ordinary shares of associated corporations (within the

2 E meaning of the SFO):
() T REMERELA - EEBEHER (i) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
NaE (([EEEH]) BATER corporation, China Resources Land Limited (“CR
[ R E Land");
HERZESL
il §E| Aggregate
EEHA Bt %K Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest' (%)
B Se 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
TR [EEE) 50,000 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Long position

ME

1. BT O R AE AR D B b &
HEM T T -—N\F+=-A=+—HE
BITRD BHHB DL -

Notes:

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares of CR Land to the total issued shares of CR Land as at 31
December 2018.

2. EXFBEE s NahASESTAERAE 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his
AZEHDEE - capacity as beneficial owner.

(i)  F—EHEBOER — £ EAMSIER (i)  Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
BRAR ([HEERS])) B X1T corporation, China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR
LB N as Gas"):

HENZBHDLE?

i & g =] Aggregate

EENS 6 %Ko Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest' (%)
R ety 10,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Long position

5% -

1. BEFCME RNERRSED B8 A%
HRST-_Z2-N\F+-_A=+—HE
RITHRGD BEHHIB AL ©

2. EXMBEREZNELHAERALER
BAZEGTE -

Notes:

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
in shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of CR Gas as at 31
December 2018.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

(B) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(iif)

Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Power Holdings Company

LB 2 N Limited (“CR Power"):

HENFF DL
i & g =] Aggregate
EENS #6, %Ko Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest' (%)
&5 asen 1,200,000 0.02

JianYi Long position
BRL SRe) 10,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Long position

BT -

1.

RIF O PSR B4 HE AR B A4
HENT-ZE-—NF+-_A=+—HZ
ERITROBHNBESLL »

Notes:

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
of CR Power to the total issued shares of CR Power as at 31 December
2018.

2. 815 S E WAL N A B B2 18 2 1,200,000 2. Mr. Jian Yi was deemed to be interested in 1,200,000 shares through
AR AR A9 2 1N 35 © interests of his spouse.

3. KRB E2 S BFATIEEIN - EXFTH TR 2 X 3. Save as otherwise specified under note 2, all interests disclosed above
HEHHESUEZRAEAZEHES - are being held by the director in his capacity as beneficial owner.

(iv)  T—EEBCER —4EKEIZAR (iv) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
AR (T4£EKE]D B AT corporation, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
TR 2 W a (“CR Cement"”):

HENRZEBSLE

Ro#HE Aggregate

EENR 6, #Ke Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest' (%)
BRI Sse 40,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Long position

BT -

1.

BEFCME RNERICRER D B 8# A%
HKET-_Z-N\E+-_A=+—HE
RITBRO BHEBE AL -
EXFREZRGELBAEEUREH
BAZEDE -

Notes:

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of CR Cement as at 31
December 2018.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, other than the interests and short
positions as disclosed above, the following persons have interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as they fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company:

BEERBEARAR
RENZWRHEHE

Number of shares HREF 7L

Be/ %0 in which the interested  Percentage of

Long position/ party is deemed to  shareholding

BERBELER Name of interested party Short position have interests (%)

FEEEER A A China Resources Company i7h 1,684,077,366 51.91
([ EE]) (FHE1) Limited ("CRC") (Note 1) Long position

LERNBRANE China Resources Co., Limited e 1,684,077,366 51.91
([ Bk MR (FHET) (“CRCO") (Note 1) Long position

CRC Bluesky Limited (fif;£1) ~ CRC Bluesky Limited (Note 1) ey 1,684,077,366 51.91
Long position

L (ER) BRAR China Resources (Holdings) ) 1,684,077,366 51.91
([ E&RA]) (FHE1) Company Limited Long position

("CRH") (Note 1)

LBERE (40]) BRAF CRH (CRE) Limited (Note 1) i B 1,676,338,664 51.67
(FHE1T) Long position

LR LER AR (FHET) China Resources Enterprise, ) 1,676,338,664 51.67
Limited (Note 1) Long position

BRHE (@) BR AR CRH (Beer) Limited (Note 1) i & 1,676,338,664 51.67
(FHE1) Long position

Gaoling Fund, L.P. (Ff;¥2) Gaoling Fund, L.P. (Note 2) ey 196,016,767 6.04
Long position

Hillhouse Capital Hillhouse Capital o 195,384,399 6.02

Management, Ltd. (fft333)

Management, Ltd. (Note 3)

Long position

ME -

Notes:

1. HHEH (BB BER AR KA REBR AR D5
HEFAANNE,676,338,664 1% K 7,738,702 %
i - SRS R (BB) BR A RREEILE
RARNEREAR @ M4 Bl ERAR
REEER (4£0) ERABHNERHELQF
LHER () BERARIRERBR AR A
HHE AR IS BE AR - 4E%EH N CRC
Bluesky Limited A 55 25 % R i J& 22 &) + 1 CRC
Bluesky Limited R4 ER 1 £ & A o B H
ERELENEREIESRWEQR - B, 4
SEEH] ~ CRC Bluesky Limited ~ 4% () KA E
B NS HTF AR EF1,684,077,366 i & 17
FRIAA N ©

2. Gaoling Fund, L.P. AR EISEz5 458 A ©

3. Hillhouse Capital Management, Ltd. LA#& ‘7R £ 32
SN - 27 179,678,767 B 1% H Gaoling
Fund, L.P.[B#Z #4& * 12,863,632 % {3 1 YHG
Investment, L.P.[8] £ £ A + 2,842,000 f% 1 £
Hillhouse InRe Fund, L.P. [l 45 F o

1.

CRH (Beer) Limited and Commotra Company Limited directly held
1,676,338,664 shares and 7,738,702 shares in the Company respectively. CRH
(Beer) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH (CRE) Limited.
CRH (CRE) Limited and Commotra Company Limited are beneficially wholly-
owned subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is a beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary
of CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRCO. CRCO is
an ultimately beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC. Thus, CRH, CRC
Bluesky Limited, CRCO and CRC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate
of 1,684,077,366 shares in the Company.

Gaoling Fund, L.P. is the beneficial owner of the shares.

Hillhouse Capital Management, Ltd. held the shares in the capacity of
investment manager. 179,678,767 shares of which were indirectly held by
Gaoling Fund, L.P.. 12,863,632 shares of which were indirectly held by YHG
Investment, L.P.. 2,842,000 shares of which were indirectly held by Hillhouse
InRe Fund, L.P..
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with
connected persons which constituted “connected transactions”
or “continuing connected transactions” under the Listing Rules.
Particulars of these transactions are also set out in Note 32 to the
financial statements headed “Material Related Party Transactions”,
with respect to which the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Details of those transactions which are subject to the
reporting requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are
summarised as follows:

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT
TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015
AND STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2018

On 22 December 2016, the Company renewed the
Framework Loan Agreements in connection with the intra-
group lending arrangement with members of group of CRCO
and CRH and their respective subsidiaries (the “Framework
Loan Agreements 2016") for a term of three years from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019. CRCO is the controlling
shareholder of CRH, which in turn holds a controlling interest
in the Company and thus CRCO and CRH are both connected
persons of the Company as defined under the Listing
Rules. The connected transactions contemplated under the
Framework Loan Agreements 2016 will be continuously
carried out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, thus constituting continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual lending cap which can be lent by the Group on any
single day (inclusive of interest received and anticipated to
be received) under both of the Framework Loan Agreements
2016 is HK$1,700,000,000. Such maximum daily amount is
applicable for each day during the relevant year, and such
maximum daily amount is calculated on an individual basis as
outstanding at the end of each day during the relevant year
without aggregating with the daily amount incurred on the
days before.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 22 December 2016.
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FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT
TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015
AND STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2018 (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did not
carry out any lending transaction or receive any interest
pursuant to the Framework Loan Agreements 2016.

On 9 December 2015, the Company renewed the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements with China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"”, a subsidiary of CRCO) and China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”, a subsidiary of
CRCO) respectively for a term of three years from 1 January
2016 to 31 December 2018, pursuant to which CR Bank
has agreed to provide certain deposit and other commercial
banking services to the Group, and CR Trust has agreed to
provide certain financial services and products to the Group
(“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2015"). CRCO holds
more than 50% of the registered capital of CR Bank and
CR Trust respectively and thus CR Bank and CR Trust are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.
The connected transactions contemplated under the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2015 will be continuously carried
out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
thus constituting continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The deposit and other commercial banking services to be
provided by CR Bank on normal commercial terms which
apply to other customers of CR Bank. Any deposit made with
CR Bank under the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2015
will bear the same interest and be on the same terms and
conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by any
other customer of CR Bank which rates are determined with
reference to that published by the People's Bank of China or
such other preferential rates.
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TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015
AND STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2018 (Continued)

From time to time, the Group may use the commercial
banking services of CR Bank including, but not limited to,
letter of credit, letter of guarantee, granting of loans with
collaterals, bill acceptance and discount services, account
receivable factoring services, Renminbi and foreign currency
settlements, provision of entrustment loans and security,
wealth and cash management services, financial consulting
service and other financial services as agreed by the parties.
These services will be provided on normal commercial terms
which apply to other customers of CR Bank.

CR Trust provides financial services and products including,
but not limited to, cash management, asset management,
custodian trust loan services, equity cooperation, share
nominee services, account receivable factoring services,
buying and resale consulting services, debenture
underwriting services and other trust and financial services
to the Group. These services will be provided on normal
commercial terms and will be charged at a rate no less
favourable as would apply to similar services provided to any
other customers of CR Trust.

The proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive of
interest payable, which may be placed by the Group with CR
Bank is HK$1,300,000,000 for each of the three years ending
31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the maximum daily
aggregate amount of outstanding deposits placed by the
Group with CR Bank was approximately RMB802,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$912,000,000), and the
aggregate interest income arising from such deposits was
RMB9,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,000,000).

The proposed maximum daily amount of the financial services
and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the Group
on an aggregated basis (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding
the daily deposit amount placed by the Group with CR Bank)
is HK$1,300,000,000 for each of the three years ending 31
December 2016, 2017 and 2018.
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FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT
TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2015
AND STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2018 (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did not use
any financial services and products provided by CR Bank or
CR Trust, nor incurred any fees and commissions therefor.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 9 December 2015 and 23 December 2015.

The Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2015 have been
renewed on substantially similar terms as the existing terms
under new strategic cooperation agreements between
the same parties dated 29 November 2018 (“Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2018"). Each of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2018 was for a term of three years
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. Pursuant to
the terms of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018,
the proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive
of interest payable, which may be placed by the Group
with CR Bank is HK$1,200,000,000 for each of the three
years ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021; and the
proposed maximum daily amount of financial services and
products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the Group on
an aggregated basis (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding
the daily deposit amount placed by the Group with CR Bank)
is HK$1,200,000,000 for each of the three years ending 31
December 2019, 2020 and 2021. CRCO holds more than
50% of the registered capital of CR Bank and CR Trust
respectively and thus CR Bank and CR Trust are connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. The
connected transactions contemplated under the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2018 will be continuously carried
out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
thus constituting continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 29 November 2018.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(B)

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 21 December 2017, China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited ("CRSB", a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
together with its subsidiaries, “CRSB Group”), renewed
the beer supply framework agreement (“Beer Supply
Framework Agreement”) with Gain Land Limited (”Gain
Land”, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, together with
its subsidiaries, “Gain Land Group”) with a term commencing
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020, pursuant to
which the CRSB Group agreed to supply its beer products to
the Gain Land Group from time to time for the purposes of
retail and distribution of the same by the Gain Land Group.
The transactions shall be conducted on normal commercial
terms and the terms, as a whole, shall be no more favourable
than those terms offered to independent third party
retailers and distributors of the CRSB Group in relation to
the supply of beer products of similar nature and quality.
It is estimated that the maximum amount of purchases to
be made by the Gain Land Group under the Beer Supply
Framework Agreement will not exceed RMB297,000,000,
RMB323,000,000 and RMB348,000,000 respectively for
the three years ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020
as set out in the announcement issued by the Company on
21 December 2017. As Gain Land is an indirect subsidiary
of CRH which is in turn holds a controlling interest in the
Company, Gain Land is an associate of a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The connected
transactions contemplated under the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement will be continuously carried out in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, thus constituting
continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 December 2017 and 23 January 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate
amount of purchases made by the Gain Land Group from the
CRSB Group under the Beer Supply Framework Agreement
was approximately RMB102,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$120,000,000).

The aforementioned continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Framework Loan Agreements 2016,
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2015, Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2018 and the Beer Supply Framework Agreement
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules and are therefore subject to annual review by
the independent non-executive directors and the auditors of the
Company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the directors engaged
the auditor of the Company to perform certain work on continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has provided a letter to the directors of
the Company and confirmed that, for the year ended 31 December
2018:

(@)  nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to its attention that causes
it to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(c) nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions;

(d)  with respect to the aggregate amount/daily balance of each
of the relevant continuing connected transactions, nothing
has come to its attention that causes it to believe that such
continuing connected transactions have exceeded the annual
cap/maximum daily balance as set and disclosed by the
Company.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 are set out on pages 164 to 167.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries of its parent company, or its parent
company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the respective percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers and
the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group's five largest
customers was less than 30% of the Group's total value of
purchases and total turnover.

AUDITOR

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 May
2018, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers was re-appointed as the
auditor of the Company.

Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

On behalf of the Board
CHEN LANG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2019
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To the Members of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 102 to 163, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

° the consolidated profit and loss account for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

° Impairment assessment of goodwill
° Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses
° Impairment assessment of fixed assets

o Deferred tax on tax losses
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BTN R IT AL ERERIT S
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

AEARETE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

B2RSEEVS/REMNE=(F) EE21THIT—1E
HTREEREIRMETEIEE]

Refer to Note 3A “Critical Accounting Estimates
— estimated impairment of goodwill” and Note 17
“Goodwill” to the consolidated financial statements

FZE-NET+A=+—H8 " ZEETIEFEMN
W R g 7= S~ SHE R 4R L S5 4 AR 8,390
BATHEE -

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had goodwill
of RMB8,390 million arose from acquisitions of
businesses engaging in the manufacture, sales and
distribution of beer products in previous years.

HEKEELIEESX I BHRRINS R EL
i BREREHMXAOART 2320877 FEIHIX S
ARME8IBE L TMEEIMX A ARMB,232B7TT °
EREHITRETE  REEBNEGEREN K
Bl& - FSEMKEEHFTLLR - £ REM
M AR BT SR AR A9 T LE R A0 A TN BA 2 f B TR ER U A 3
KENEBEREBIE AN

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated
to the relevant cash generating units (“CGU") in
various regional segments including eastern region
of RMB2,320 million, central region of RMB838
million and southern region of RMB5,232 million.
Management conducted an impairment review by
comparing the recoverable amounts of the goodwill,
estimated based on value in use calculation, with
their carrying amounts. The key assumptions and
judgements adopted by management in the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts included discount
rates and expected revenue growth rates beyond the
five-year projection period.

HFF-ZE— \F+-A=Z+—HERINBHZK
A A RAE 1T K EE A 7] W E e % e & K )
W BATARAX R — N BHEITED -

Because of the significance of the carrying amounts
of goodwill as at 31 December 2018, together with
the use of significant judgements in estimating the
recoverability of such carrying amounts, we had
identified this matter as a key audit matter.

TEAN IR X AN AL RS - FATX B R H IR E Tl 4R
BRI LTl SR ETONRIT T A TR

In addressing this matter, we had performed the
following procedures on the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management that supported
the impairment assessment:

o BEUANEEHEMEEEMENTERITE
B MEIeREMNFOXBEABREZEDS
b

o assessed the reasonableness of key input
data in the cash flow forecasts by comparing
them with the historical actual information and
management’s approved budget;

e BREMNHZEHOMEBKAEKESHEID
TIATNE - b7l R - #HITHER ¢

o compared the expected revenue growth rates
beyond the five-year projection period to
relevant market expectations such as industry
information;

o RERNMINUSHBEAMTIHAEN  HSEM
LB A RHITHR - RNA D EEAI© R~ &
BAIEHTLEE

° tested the discount rates assigned to the CGUs
with reference to our understanding of the
business, compared to those used by other
similar companies, and our broader market
considerations;

o Y FIKEIRTPARANERNEGRE Kz
SEFFRAMITERERY &

o evaluated the methodologies adopted and
checked the mathematical accuracy of the
value in use calculation used to estimate the
recoverable amounts; and

o XUREWME XA AREMRIRHEITERME
S LT REBRIEF S BTG T AT E &
A

o performed sensitivity analysis on the key
input data and assumptions to the impairment
assessment, to understand the impact of
reasonable alternative assumptions that would
have on the estimated recoverable amounts.
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Key Audit Matter
e s8R 5 RV HAIA

Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses

B2 RSAEVSRENEZ= (L) EZSIHEIT-TUR
TEEE R 28 A ) M F =+ 09 [ 2R 5 R H A Rz 4<F 5k 30m
Refer to Note 3B “Critical Accounting Estimates —
accruals on promotion and marketing expenses”
and Note 24 “Trade and Other Payables” to the
consolidated financial statements

HEZZ—)/\F+ZA=+—HIEFE ' "EHABKX
MR RS BA DRl TR MaRFBHIANE
ER(2IT2ANE WD) HEERDHTER o
AR FZE-NF+ZA=T—HtbBERIAMNEX
TR ZE A e

The Group had significant amounts of promotion
and marketing expenses and recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account as sales rebates
(accounted for as a reduction of revenue) or selling
and distribution expenses for the year ended 31
December 2018. Meanwhile, the related accruals
were also significant as at 31 December 2018.

BTN R IT AL ERERIT S
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

AR IR XA EEET - FATHIT T AT RRF
In addressing this matter, we had performed the
following procedures:

o IBMAITEEEZEIRA - AT IR RS
ZE AR 2R A I IRAR K HIRAE - FF TR B
PRI AT

° understood, evaluated and selectively tested
the key controls associated with management's
process of identification, estimation and
recognition of promotion and marketing
expenses and accruals;

o ERBANIXBITEE —E D - BAIN EFEHT
RLAEALERHET T BEFEOTIRSEA
RASAEEERREANSTHITLLR - AT
ERREMITIRTRREFERE

° as part of our risk assessment, evaluated the
outcome of the prior year accruals by comparing
the historical accruals to the actual amounts
utilised in the current year to ascertain if
management bias existed in the estimation
process;
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BTN R IT AL ERERIT S
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

R R R ABTIA ()

Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses (Continued)

EEERESHELZNTENME XD HE A
BXEVRR R IR R R E R B AE I SV I o - Bl anEk
SO M S HREHEREST AR E
Management records accruals for promotion and
marketing expenses according to the relevant terms
in the agreements with a large number of distributors
in various regions in Mainland China, taking into
consideration of the nature of the promotion activities,
such as volume rebates, allowances, discounts, etc.

MRRBHEEDSRKEEEMER - MARKEASHEN
NEWFURK D o T —MRITHIE SN B AE R AN
WHARNEERDEERAPHRE LM A -

If the promotion activities are related to future sales
volume, the related costs are treated as a reduction
of revenue. The costs related to general marketing
activities are classified as promotion and marketing
expenses in selling and distribution expenses.

B 7E AT 5 B R 80 T4 2% AR DA SRR R L AR D SR AR
ERDHTRNDRTENRESHE  ITENHINE
KRN - XS RERNEERE G A
sigy

Determining and calculating the accruals as at period
ends and the respective classification as either
a reduction of revenue or selling and distribution
expenses requires application of various accounting
principles relating to classification, measurement and
recognition, which involved significant management
estimates and judgements.

BTHPERNODHANENSZ  REZE-FT-N\F+=
A=+T—BHLFENRATREHERE 2R UR
FIAFI 9 KA @ TS R ER A - BAVAR
XN RBOEITEM -

Because of the large number of distributors involved
and the significance of the accruals for promotion and
marketing expenses for the year ended 31 December
2018, together with the significant judgements
involved in determining the amounts to be recognised
and classified, we had identified this matter as a key
audit matter.

REBEERENAANE 2ESZE55H8
WEREZR  REZINMERANAITZHEOS
FoOBACHERESITHNERMSHEA A LN AR
KM EBERRRBMETRA &

based on input data prepared by management
that included references to the underlying
contracts with distributors, nature of promotion
activities provided and amounts of expected
expenses to be incurred, tested the key accruals
made by management by comparing them with
signed contracts with distributors and issued
invoices; and

BES/HBALITNERMAEN EZHITHET
BORMAA AN E 22 AN 9 o

tested the recognition and classification of
expenses during the year by comparing them
with signed contracts with distributors and
issued invoices.
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Key Audit Matter
& B R 7= BB E T

Impairment assessment of fixed assets

B2RSEEVSHREMNE= (R IEE21THIT—1E
THEE &R E ] RME TR TEE 77~

Refer to Note 3C “Critical Accounting Estimates —
estimated impairment of fixed assets” and Note
16 “Fixed Assets” to the consolidated financial
statements

FZE-NAF+ZA=1+—8 " HREHANEEE~K
HAEBESINARMI9632ALT °

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had fixed assets
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB19,632
million.

MRASR-HEBLNATFERELR  EBES
B AEERRILE IR 4 PR AU & 8k # 1T R
BEITE - BER~AI KB EIMAEANERNR N
BERHEKANRSE o 78NS 7R E TN AT
KAMFTIEEME A K ERERNEE R RREBRIZMH
If impairment indicators exist on the cash generating
units ("CGUs") to which the assets belong,
management conducted an impairment review by
estimating the recoverable amounts of the relevant
CGUs, using the higher of value in use calculation and
fair value less costs of disposal. The key assumptions
and judgements adopted by management in the
relevant discounted cash flow forecasts included
discount rates and revenue growth rates, etc.

BTN R IT AL ERERIT S
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

FEANIBIX AN [ELRRS - BATHRAT T A TR ¢
In addressing this matter, we had performed the
following procedures:

o MXBEEXNINE R EECAKDETE R~
TR E T R & HI o 1714

° tested management’'s assessment as to
which groups of fixed assets have indicators
of impairment, together with management'’s
grouping of such assets in the relevant CGUs;

e NWTBERETRMI SR~ ELUNETER> -
MR EREERGOEXTLUEISREIN - £
7

° for those CGUs that included fixed assets with
impairment indicators, tested the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by
management, including:

o BEUTHERRMIENEEEMAENTIEH
TR - TEARETN RO RBEA
BEREEE:

. assessed the reasonableness of key
input data in the cash flow forecasts by
comparing them with historical actual
information and management’s approved
budget;

. B ER A K R SRR TR TON - B
AT R - AT

o compared the expected revenue growth
rates to relevant market expectations such
as industry information;
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BTN R IT AL ERERIT S
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

B 3 % 7= BB B 1Tl (52)

Impairment assessment of fixed assets (Continued)

BEEEENITHER  AAEMS1BHTEHIE
FARERHRESHR - MR AR E E & 7K
HEZARE S -

Based on the result of management’s assessment, an
impairment loss for the year of RMB961 million was
recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of certain
fixed assets to their recoverable amounts.

HTFF=S - \F+ZA=+—HBBERIANE TR
KEE (ST EFEEBRETIRNET R ) - ARE
i i AE ok & 7= 89 P UR [B] & AT % K B K HIB - ATIA
NIXZB—DNRBEHN=ITED -

Because of the significance of the carrying amounts of
fixed assets as at 31 December 2018 (including those
with impairment indicators), together with the use of
significant judgements in estimating the recoverable
amounts of the relevant assets, we had identified this
matter as a key audit matter.

BRBSTRMBEEFRTEHR

Deferred tax on tax losses

B2REAEMEREOME=Z(THIEE21THIT—
B REFT 1S L 2 7 BB A ) R B E = 4 7< [0 A B T
Refer to Note 3D “Critical Accounting Estimates
— recognition of deferred tax assets” and Note 26
"Deferred Taxation” to the consolidated financial
statements

o  BEBMMILSHER  BEMEXIASR
FERMMLSITRIATIZNER - S
HAARLLE A BHTE R - SR i

o tested the discount rates with reference
to our understanding of the business
including the future business plans of
the relevant CGUs, comparisons to other
similar companies and broader market
considerations;

e WEAKEEFIFEAXANFERANEGE
RZEMRAMITERNERT &

° evaluated the methodologies adopted and
checked the mathematical accuracy of the
value in use calculation used to estimate
the recoverable amounts; and

o XREEITHAXRE ABENRIEHITH
RS AT BRIBEFHE BT
AT B S ER A R o

° performed sensitivity analysis on the
key input data and assumptions to the
impairment assessment, to understand
the impact of reasonable alternative
assumptions that would have on the
estimated recoverable amounts.

FEANIBIX AN [ELAES - BAVHRAT T A TR -
In addressing this matter, we had performed the
following procedures:

° Mt RN TFZE-—NFF+_A=Z+—H%R
WRLS S - BIEEXNE QRS S A 8%
RAISHSITEREBRSERGEEE —

o tested and agreed the selected tax losses at
31 December 2018, including the respective
expiry periods, to the tax computations and tax
correspondences for the relevant subsidiaries;



1R / Annual Report 2018 /] 97

REFITEM

Key Audit Matter
BEXBSSIMMB LB (£R)

Deferred tax on tax losses (Continued)

F=F-N\F+ZH=1—H  "EH2IEEHBF
SR ERRERIUA = WARM 1658 77T © It
AN - S E T E 2 B8 o< YRR A I B A £
WS SMAART2,738A AT °

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had recorded
deferred tax assets attributable to tax losses of
RMB165 million. In addition, there were tax losses
relating to certain subsidiaries in Mainland China
of RMB2,738 million that were not recognised as
deferred tax assets as at the same date.

T BB ER A 7= 58 2 BUR T BB ZE 1T EEX
MiE N R FRKEFHNRE TR B R MFLFE A
ARG SM -

The recognition of tax losses as deferred tax assets
depends on management’s assessment as to whether
the relevant subsidiaries would have adequate future
taxable profits to utilise these tax losses within a
period of five years from the year of occurrence.

WERRNARAEEERE SR ERBEDEDN
b 55 1+ K 38 28 I FIUM 3 AR Sk Rz 4 B A Y < 20 K B AL
BT o LE BT P RE IR E K E R b 1T &b o
Determining the adequacy of future taxable profits
requires assessment of projection of both the
amounts and timing of future taxable profits which
are based on approved business plans or profit
forecasts, and such assessments involve significant
management estimates and judgements.

BTFF-=— N \F+ A=+ HHAFRSSH
LA R AE B8 IA R AR T IA B E B TP 02 R ) 28 K 1) -
BATARNXR— DN AR FITEI

Because of the significance of the amounts of tax
losses as at 31 December 2018, together with the
significant judgements involved in determining the
amounts of respective recognised and unrecognised
deferred tax, we had identified this matter as a key
audit matter.

T ST A% K00 4
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BTN R IT AL ERERIT S
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEBREAENTE - I 8RR HIE AR
MBI - L Tl F R - AT T EAE R
Bt JE 22 B A F & A TN A ) ok i A 2R R &
B(BERRNMNTEFENNE) BEEE
assessed the reasonableness of key input data
and underlying assumptions adopted in the
profit forecasts (including the timing of future
taxable profits) for the relevant subsidiaries by
comparing them with management'’s approved
budget, historical actual information and
relevant market expectations such as industry
information;

ZREEEXBFTONATR AR It E A ER M
&

checked the mathematical accuracy of
the forecasts profit or loss prepared by
management; and

BEEEMOKE RS BT RHETHR KM
EIRE I IR H E R TN X R anEE AR 1T E
IEREEE

tested management's reconciliation of the above
profit forecasts to taxable profit calculations
by comparing with management’s book-to-tax
reconciliation schedules.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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s NEEXRARSLESIUTEMARY
VLI  RYEPTEREREY S ITEIE -
BERGHFESFEMHBRBERNE
ARAHEN - NMATBES BT Stk
HI S LB - A ERERE © 40
RBEANVANFEERTHEN - WA
BEEZHMRERRBEEREIR
FEMSHERPNBEREE - BRER
ROBESRE  WERMNNERRIET
REBIN - HATWE IR E T2
& B IERTEUS R & 1T AL » A1
AREBUHIBRAAESH SEEAT

o FMEAEMBRROBMAEIHRIA -
EHMMNE - BERE  UREEW
FHMREETBERBRRIZMED °

o B BREHAZMKKUSEHNOMS
EEIRMAR  EHMNFITEI - A
BWEEMFMEREERER - FAIR
R REHTITAR - EEMBRNIT o
BTN EITENAB L EBRE -

FREMELSN BNSEFRZRANBT
I EIteEE B ERH  EAFITAA
% BRERBAET IR R EE SR
EAATE KERPE

BNEREZERRZXER - HBREA
ENAARRIMENBAXTLERER
HEMAVDRAAIREA B BIAN R
BAPR NI BERFMEMED - AR
FEEMAMBRT - HXABEREE

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. WWe remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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FE —ET-NF=A-1H
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Liao Weining.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March 2019
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LR R

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

HEZF—)\F+=H=-+—H L5 ZFor the year ended 31 December 2018

—ZE—)\F —EF—LF
2018 2017
ME ARMBEART ARMBEAT
Notes RMB miillion RMB million
=% Turnover 6 31,867 29,732
HE A Cost of sales (20,669) (19,703)
EH Gross profit 11,198 10,029
H b ug A Other income 7 993 903
HERDHTER Selling and distribution expenses (5,570) (5,012)
—MRITE A General and administrative expenses (5,041) (3,976)
Wt 25 A A< Finance costs 8 (48) (128)
B H4 A1 S A Profit before taxation 1,532 1,816
I Taxation 13 (547) (630)
AEERER Profit for the year 9 985 1,186
oSBT Attributable to:
ZINNESTE 7 Shareholders of the Company 977 1,175
FE 9= I AR AR AN 2= Non-controlling interests 8 11
985 1,186
BRAER Earnings per share 15
BN Basic RMBO0.30 RMBO0.36
S Diluted RMB0.30 RMB0.36
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L &
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HE2ZZT—)\F+=H=-+—H L= For the year ended 31 December 2018

—E-)\F —F—+tF
2018 2017
ARTEATT ARMBEAT
RMB million RMB million
R EFE R F Profit for the year 985 1,186
Hibem (A Ik Other comprehensive (expenses)/income:
BEAIESEXEHR Items that may be reclassified
ZWA : subsequently to profit or loss:
BN 2L ERES Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations (31) 135
rEEHML®E (A, Other comprehensive (expenses)/income
Wz (BRHE) for the year, net of tax (31) 135
AEELHERE L Total comprehensive income for the year 954 1,321
BT : Attributable to:
NN 7 Shareholders of the Company 946 1,309
E B RN & Non-controlling interests 8 12
954 1,321
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T, A Y D .
B A
Consolidated Balance Sheet
FZEF-—NF+=-A=+—H Asat31 December 2018
—E-)\F —EF—LF
2018 2017
ME ARTEART ARMEAT
Notes RMB miillion RMB million
R BT~ Non-current assets
ek Fixed assets
—EEBEME L — Interests in leasehold land
T4+ A s held for own use under
operating leases 16 3,141 3,253
—H el — Other property, plant and
IRy a S equipment 16 16,491 17,196
EES Goodwill 17 8,390 8,318
H TR 7= Other intangible assets 18 124 147
UNARMEITEEEZTS  Financial assets at fair value
TTAEMEGERENS through other comprehensive
BR = income 19 9 -
AlERR Available for sale investments 20 = 9
TR FR I Prepayments 21 240 81
158 JE AR T2 7E Deferred taxation assets 26 2,426 2,261
30,821 31,265
ik~ R Current assets
& Stocks 22 5,379 5,826
R 5 & HAth 7 W 5K M Trade and other receivables 23 906 1,006
AR B F I Taxation recoverable 240 114
BEHRFIRITSE T Pledged bank deposits 67 79
NekNEEND Cash and cash equivalents 1,858 2,361
8,450 9,386
sl Current liabilities
R 5 R FHA R 5 Trade and other payables 24 (17,637) (16,605)
52 AERTT R Short term loans 25 (704) (2,383)
IVERE R Taxation payable (29) (207)
(18,370) (19,195)
R REE Net current liabilities (9,920) (9,809)
BAEF R AR R Total assets less current liabilities 20,901 21,456
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LR R bR

Consolidated Bala

nce Sheet

—ZE—)\F —EF—LF
2018 2017
ME ARMBEART ARMBEAT
Notes RMB miillion RMB million
E| ik R Non-current liabilities
KEIDT R Long term loans 25 (9) (1,087)
13 I F 10 £ {5 Deferred taxation liabilities 26 (399) (255)
E A 3ERoh ffi Other non-current liabilities 27 (1,583) (1,629)
(1,991) (2,971)
18,910 18,4856
NN Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 28 14,090 14,090
& Reserves 4,758 4,331
b NN Y R & Equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company 18,848 18,421
JEIRHI R RN & Non-controlling interests 62 64
B Total equity 18,910 18,485

M5Bl CHEN LANG
ZE Director

£ 7 LAI PO SING, TOMAKIN
ZE % Director
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HAERERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HEZF—)\F+=A=+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

—E-)\F ZEFE—tF
2018 2017
hpEa ARTEART ARMELT
Notes RMB miillion RMB million
REZHZAERE Cash flows from operating activities
REMEZIS® Cash generated from operations 29A 4,815 5,053
BEARE R ATER Chinese Mainland income tax paid (927) (812)
Rk E R ETE Chinese Mainland income tax
refunded 46 14
REFHN2AEHRAEH  Net cash from operating activities 3,934 4,255
BREEHZNERE Cash flows from investing activities
6 B TE 7R 7 FT S R Proceeds from disposal of fixed
assets 394 200
2 YRS Interest received 110 95
%X BUT*ND Receipt of government grants 111 433
W El g F —8) & A A Repayment of loan to a fellow
EHHE QR TTR subsidiary = 300
B —BEERREH Loan to a fellow subsidiary
BB A BB B3R - (300)
19 A Bl & 7r Purchase of fixed assets (1,641) (1,915)
EMBRITE T 2D Changes in pledged bank deposits 12 24
REEHEAZ%IUE  Net cash used in investing activities (1,014) (1,163)
RRESzIERE Cash flows from financing activities
ERARE Dividends paid (519) (487)
B E A RFEE S Dividends paid to non-controlling
AR 2R 2 B% B shareholders of subsidiaries (10) (16)
B E Interest paid (63) (117)
BARIT R E A E BT Proceeds from bank and other
Fr 18 31 borrowings 298 867 3,059
2R ARTT R E At Repayment of bank and other
f& bt borrowings 29B (3,729) (3,894)
Sl IF 1R /N Repayment of loan from a holding
VBT company 29B = (2,715)

MEFHERZ22ME Net cash used in financing activities (3,454) (4,170)
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SAEUEHER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

—E-)\F ZEFE—tF
2018 2017
ARMBEART ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
USRI SEERD Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (534) (1,078)
LRIFEZ M Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 31 (48)
F—A—BZIE& K Cash and cash equivalents as
NeZE at 1 January 2,361 3,487
F+=ZA=+—H Cash and cash equivalents as at
ZUERNEEE 31 December 1,858 2,361
NeRNESEELER Analysis of the balances of cash
2 and cash equivalents
& RARITEF Cash and bank balances 858 2,361
HAMRITIF R Other deposits with banks 1,000 -
1,858 2,361
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G IR X 2R 2 B A%

Consohdated Statement of Changes in Equity

HEZF—)\F+ZA=1+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018
E a0
RENE
Non- ERE
KARRFRENE controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
R
Lmitkl
ik
Shares held
for restricted
[ fhERE L% incentive REEF
Share  Valuation  Exchange award Retained fif
capital reserve reserve scheme profits Total
ARTEAR ARMEAR ARMEAR ARMEAR ARTEAR ARTEAR ARFEART ARFEART
RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
F-%-\¥-A-H Asat 1 January 2018 14,090 3 (2,317) (19) 6,664 18,421 64 18,485
Sz RER Exchange differences
on translating foreign
operations - - (31) - - (31) - (31)
KEERT Profit for the year - - - - 977 977 8 985
REELEREET Total comprehensive
income for the year - - (31) - a7 946 8 954
& Transfer - - - 19 (19) - - -
SREARS: Transactions with owners:
RE (E+m) Dividends (Note 14} - - - - (519) (519) (10) (529)
SHEARS R Total transactions
with owners - - - - (519) (519) (10) (529)
FZF-\ETZA=1—H Asat31 December 2018 14,090 3 (2,348) - 7,103 18,848 62 18,910
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CRE BOR AR B A

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A
REnz
Non- Bia
AARRFLENE controling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
R
Zmitkl
s
Shares held
for restricted
B hEES RS incentive REER
Share Valuation Exchange award Retained A1t
capital reserve reserve scheme profits Total
ARMERRT ARMBEAT ARMEAT ARPEAT ARPEAT ARTEAT ARTMEAT ARMEAL
RMB million ~ RMBmillon ~ RMBmilion ~ RMB milion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMB milion  RMB million
F-%-t5¥-A-H Asat 1 January 2017 14,090 3 (2,451) (19 5,978 17,601 66 17,667
Mg L RER Exchange differences
on translating foreign
operations - - 134 - - 134 1 135
REEER Profit for the year - - - - 1175 1,175 1 1,186
AEELENHEH Total comprehensive
income for the year - - 134 - 1175 1,309 12 1,321
SREARS: Transactions with owners:
Eh—EfEL NS Purchase of additional
interest in a subsidiary - - - - (2) (2) 2 -
e (+m) Dividends (Note 14) - - - - (487) (487) (16) (503)
SREARSEH Total transactions with
owners - - - - 489) (489) (14) (503)
FZEF—tFTZA=1—H Asat31December 2017 14,090 3 2,317) (19 6,664 18421 64 18,485
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GENERAL
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Company is a public company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liabilities and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
directors regard the ultimate holding company to be China
Resources Company Limited ("CRC"), a company established
in the Chinese Mainland. The address of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company is 39/F, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing, sales
and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of the
Company is investment holding. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are shown on pages 164 to 167.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. Save
as specified in the principal accounting policies as set out
in Note 2, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS,

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") has issued a number of new standards,
amendments, improvements to existing standards and
interpretations on Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("“"HKAS") and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") that are effective for the financial year beginning 1
January 2018. In the current year, the Group has adopted the
following standards, amendments, improvements to existing
standards and interpretations.

HKAS 40 (Amendment)  Transfers of investment property

HKFRSs (Amendment) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)  Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
instruments” with HKFRS 4
“Insurance contracts”

HKFRS 4 (Amendment)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers
HKFRS 15 (Amendment)  Clarifications to HKFRS 15

HK(IFRIC) 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration

The adoption of the standards, amendments, improvements
to existing standards and interpretations has had no material
effect on the results or financial positions of the Group for
the current and prior accounting periods, except for HKFRS 9
“Financial instruments” and HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
contracts with customers” as set out below.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

The Group has adopted HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
from 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in accounting
policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in
the financial information. In accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 9, the Group has adopted the modified
retrospective approach for transition to the new financial
instruments standard. The reclassification arising from the
new rules is therefore not reflected in the consolidated
balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, but is recognised in
the opening consolidated balance sheet on 1 January 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B ROE R (50)

(BEAVSHEENFIS R
TAI®)
FoE-\F—A—BEARFRG
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1.

GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS,

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

The adjustments on the consolidated balance sheet as at 1
January 2018 are summarised below:

—E—t&§ —E-)\E§
+tZA=+t-0 XHEBUSHSE -A-H
31December 2017 ANEISHEMW  1January 2018
RE25 Effect of
As originally adoption of ZEJ
presented HKFRS 9 Restated
ARTBEAT ARTEAT ARTMBAT
RMB million RMB million RMB million
SARBRFARK (TTR) Consolidated balance sheet
(extract)
JERR Available for sale investments 9 (9) -
UARMETEBETHITA  Financial assets at fair value through
HEfra amme i other comprehensive income - 9 9

AREHE A B L S EAE R T A
SHBENERA  ACBHEER
RERABRAENELNEEM SR
FENE QS MR - TR B g
RS REEIKEEF TERES -
REREFEH 2 A DR N A ERAR
ERERRERARASET AR MBEE
Yoad o AR5 B RO BRI % 3 M [ AT B 4
RIEFDRNARRNMETERE
TP ARMBEARENERA]
tE BREFE L ERAEIEMN

i B D EBIMER -

The Group has assessed which business models apply to
the financial assets held by the Group and has classified its
financial assets and liabilities into the appropriate HKFRS 9
categories. There were no changes to the carrying amount
of the financial assets and liabilities through transition. For
the investment in equity securities previously classified as
available for sale investments, the Group elected to present
its change in fair value in other comprehensive income. As
a result, the investment was reclassified from available for
sale investments to financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income. There is no longer any
reclassification of accumulated amounts from reserves to
profit or loss on the disposal of these investments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS,

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

There was no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial
liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through
profit or loss and the Group does not have any such liabilities.

The Group has also assessed on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial assets
carried at amortised cost. The Group has applied simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses for trade
receivables. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk,
as set out in Note 23.

There was no impact on the Group’s hedge accounting after
adoption of HKFRS 9, as the Group does not adopt any hedge
accounting in current and near periods.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts
with customers” from 1 January 2018, resulting in changes
in accounting policies. In accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has adopted the modified
retrospective approach for transition to the new revenue
standard. The receipt in advance on sales and majority of the
accruals on promotion and marketing expenses, which were
classified as receipt in advance and accruals respectively
in the last financial year, will be classified as contract
liabilities after the adoption of HKFRS 15. There were no
material adjustments to the amounts of receipt in advance
and accruals on promotion and marketing expense through
transition.
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GENERAL (Continued)

D(ii) ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS,

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new standards,

amendments, improvements to existing standards and

interpretations that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKAS 19 (Amendment)  Plan amendments, curtailment or
settlement’

Long-term Interests in an Associate or
Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle'

HKAS 28 (Amendment)

HKFRSs (Amendment)

HKFRS 9 (Amendment)  Repayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

HKFRS 16 Leases'

HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments'
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material?

(Amendments)
HKFRS 3 (Amendment)  Definition of a Business?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint
venture*

Notes:
1. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

2. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

3. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

4. To be determined.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of these new standards, amendments, improvements
to existing standards and interpretations in the period of initial
application. So far the Group has identified some aspects of
HKFRS 16 “Leases” which may have an impact on the Group.
Further details of the expected impacts are discussed below.
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IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Effective for annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2019)

Nature of change

HKFRS 16 was issued in May 2016. It will result in almost all
leases being recognised on the consolidated balance sheet,
as the distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are
recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value
leases.

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for Group's
operating leases. As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of approximately
RMB120 million. The Group estimates those related to
payments for short-term and low value lease which will be
recognised on straight-line basis as an expense in profit or
loss are insignificant.

Upon adoption of HKFRS16, the Group expects to recognise
rights-of-use assets and lease liability. The Group expects
that profit for the year will decrease for 2019 as a result of
adopting the new rules. Further update of the impact will be
provided in the interim report for the six months ending 30
June 2019.

Date of adoption by the Group

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory
adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends to
apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption.
Right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the
lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued
lease expenses).

There are no other new standards, amendments and
interpretation that are not yet effective and that would be
expected to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include
the financial statements of the Company and of all its direct
and indirect subsidiaries. The results of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are included from the effective
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate. All material intra-group transactions and balances
have been eliminated on consolidation.

Prior to 1 January 2010, increases in interests in existing
subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the
acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For
decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration
received and the carrying amount of the share of net assets
disposed of was recognised in the consolidated profit and
loss account.

From 1 January 2010 onward, changes in the Group's
ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
involve a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.
When control of subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, the Group derecognises all
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their carrying
amount. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is
recognised at its fair value at the date the control is lost, with
the gain or loss arising recognised in the consolidated profit
and loss account.

SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases. In the Company’s balance
sheet, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary prior to 1
January 2010 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary on or after 1 January 2010
represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the previously held
equity interest in the acquiree over the net fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting date and
whenever there is an indication that the cash generating
unit to which the goodwill relates may be impaired. Such
goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. An impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account and is not reversed in a
subsequent period. On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Prior to 1 January 2010, a discount on acquisition arising on
an acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the
Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary
at the date of acquisition over the cost of acquisition. Gain
on bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed over the aggregate of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the fair value of the previously held equity interest in the
acquiree. Discount on acquisition or gain on bargain purchase
arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is recognised
immediately in the consolidated profit and loss account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Classification and measurement of financial assets

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets
in the following measurement categories:

- financial assets carried at amortised cost;

- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI"); and

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL").

Classification is driven by the Group's business model for
managing the debt instrument and the debt instrument'’s
contractual cash flow characteristics.

Debt instruments

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss. Subsequent measurement of
debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into which
the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in other income together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the consolidated profit and
loss account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVOC/

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss and recognised in other income. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in other income and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated profit and loss account.

Financial assets at FVPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other
income in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in
OClI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in other income in the consolidated profit and
loss account as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
initially measured at fair value. At each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in the profit and loss
account in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9. Management considers the debtors do
not contain a significant financing component. Thus, the
impairment provision recognised during the year was equal to
the lifetime expected losses.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of other receivable have occurred since
initial recognition, the impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset in its
entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in the profit and loss
account.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in the profit and loss account.

FIXED ASSETS

Construction in progress

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production or administrative purposes, are carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes all
construction expenditure, professional fees, borrowing costs
capitalised and other relevant expenses directly attributable to
such projects.

No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time when construction work is
complete and the costs of construction are transferred to the
appropriate category of fixed assets when available for use.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
Other property, plant and equipment

Fixed assets other than construction in progress are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation of other fixed assets is provided to write off the
cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account their estimated residual values, using the
straight line method. The residual values and useful lives are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Interests in leasehold land held for own use under
operating leases are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease term

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being 20 to 40 years

— Leasehold improvements 3 to 10 years or over the

unexpired term of lease,
whichever is shorter

5 to 25 years
3to 10 years
5to 6 years

— Plant and machinery
— Furniture and equipment
— Motor vehicles

Leased assets
Assets acquired under finance leases

Assets acquired pursuant to finance leases that transfer to
the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases and are accounted for as if purchased whereby an
amount equivalent to cost is recorded as fixed assets and as
obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is provided in
accordance with the Group's depreciation policy. Payments
to the lessor are treated as consisting of capital and interest
elements. The interest element is charged to the profit and
loss account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)

Operating lease charges

All leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income or expense arising from operating leases (net
of any benefits received and receivable as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease) is recognised in the profit and
loss account on a straight line basis over the periods of the
respective leases except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
term except where the property is classified as an investment
property.

Impairment of fixed assets

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external
sources of information are considered to assess whether
there is any indication that fixed asset are impaired. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Such impairment losses are
recognised in the profit and loss account.

The calculation of recoverable amounts are using cash flow
forecast projections based on financial budgets approved
by management, cash flows covering five-year period are
extrapolated using the key assumptions including expected
revenue growth rates and a discount rate. A reasonably
possible change in a key assumption would not cause the
recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount of the
respective cash-generating unit.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
Impairment of fixed assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the assets is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of
impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to the profit and loss account in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item of
fixed asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the profit and loss account.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

On initial recognition, other intangible assets acquired
separately and from business combinations are recognised
at cost and at fair value respectively. After initial recognition,
other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are stated
at cost and are amortised on the straight line method over
their useful lives with amortisation commences when the
asset is available for use. The estimated useful lives of other
intangible assets with finite useful lives are as follows:

Brand names 10 to 20 years
Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable
amounts. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are
assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. Where impairment exists, an impairment
loss is charged to the profit and loss account to reduce the
assets to its recoverable amount. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the assets is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount.
Such reversal of impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION
Current taxation

The current taxation charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associated companies operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with
limited exceptions. Deferred taxation assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised. Deferred taxation is calculated at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and associated companies,
except for deferred tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current taxation assets
against current taxation liabilities and when the deferred
taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxation levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
STOCKS

Stocks which comprise raw materials, consumables and
packing materials, work-in-progress and finished goods are
stated at the lower of cost (Include those costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of finished goods. Purchase
rebates are deducted in determining the cost of purchase)
and net realisable value or amortised into expense based
upon periods of usage.

Cost of work-in-progress and finished goods comprise direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads.

Cost is determined on the weighted average method.

Net realisable value is determined as the estimated net selling
price less all further costs of production and the related costs
of marketing, selling and distribution.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income over the periods necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair
value is credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the profit and loss account over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset.

RECOGNITION OF REVENUE

Revenue is recognised based on the price specified in the
contract, net of the estimated volume rebates, allowances,
discounts, etc. Sales of goods (i.e. beer products) are
recognised when the control of the goods is transferred to
the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods may
transfer over time or at a point in time.

For sales contracts which the control of the goods is
transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
control of the goods is transferred to the customer.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
RECOGNITION OF REVENUE (Continued)

Control of the goods is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

- creates and enhances the goods that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

- do not create the goods with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of:

- the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9; and

- the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are accounted for on the accrual basis
and charged to the profit and loss account in the year
incurred, except for costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of that assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Fees paid for the arrangement of syndicated loan facilities and
debt securities are deferred, and are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in the profit and loss account in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences arising on a
monetary item that forms part of the Group's net investment
in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in
the consolidated financial statements. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN EXCHANGE (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Renminbi) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the Group's exchange reserve. Such
exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
profit and loss account in the period which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Upon entering into a contract with a customer with the
scope of HKFRS 15, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes performance
obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability depending
on the relationship between the remaining rights and the
performance obligations. Contract assets are recognised if
the measure of the remaining rights exceeds the measure of
the remaining performance obligations. Conversely, contract
liabilities are recognised if the measure of the remaining
performance obligations exceeds the measure of the
remaining rights.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2C. The Group conducted an impairment review
by comparing the recoverable amounts of the goodwill,
estimated based on value in use calculation, with their
carrying amounts. The key assumptions and judgements
adopted by management in the relevant discounted cash
flow forecasts included discount rates and expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five-year projection period. Details of
the key assumptions are disclosed in Note 17.

ACCRUALS ON PROMOTION AND MARKETING
EXPENSES

Management records accruals for promotion and marketing
expenses according to the relevant terms in the agreements
with a large number of distributors in various regions in
Mainland China, taking into consideration of the nature of
the promotion activities such as volume rebates, allowances,
discounts, etc. If the promotion activities are related to future
sales volume, the related costs are treated as a reduction of
revenue. The costs related to general marketing activities are
classified as promotion and marketing expenses in selling
and distribution expenses. Determining and calculating the
accruals as at period ends and the respective classification
as either a reduction of revenue or selling and distribution
expenses requires application of various accounting principles
relating to classification, measurement and recognition,
which involved significant management estimates and
judgements. The estimation basis is reviewed on an on going
basis and revised where appropriate.

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS

According to the accounting policies stated in Note 2E(d),
if impairment indicators exist on the cash generating
units (“CGUs") to which the assets belong, management
conducted an impairment review by estimating the
recoverable amounts of the relevant CGUs, using the
higher of value in use calculation and fair value less costs of
disposal. The key assumptions and judgements adopted by
management in the relevant discounted cash flow forecasts
included discount rates and revenue growth rates, etc. Details
of the key assumptions are disclosed in Note 16.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The recognition of tax losses as deferred tax assets depends
on management’s assessment as to whether the relevant
subsidiaries would have adequate future taxable profits to
utilise these tax losses within a period of five years from
the year of occurrence. Determining the adequacy of future
taxable profits requires assessment of projection of both the
amounts and timing of future taxable profits which are based
on approved business plans or profit forecasts, and such
assessments involve significant management estimates and
judgements. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

CREDIT RISK

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables and bank balances.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk to
trade and other receivables as its customer bases are widely
spread across diverse geographical locations. The Group
has policies in place to ensure that open account customers
are financially viable and with an appropriate credit history.
To minimise its credit risk exposure, credit evaluations are
performed for the determination and approval of credit limits
granted and other monitoring procedures are implemented
to ensure that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, regular reviews on aging and recoverability
are performed to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group's exposure to
trade and other receivables is set out in Note 23.

In respect of bank deposits, the Group has procedures and
policies in place to ensure they are made to counterparties
with good credit rating.
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0. MEREEEBHRREBER (&) 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)
2 RohBEEMRE B LIQUIDITY RISK
REFRN TSN - REFLFRT The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
Wille  HERUBHEFREERAE sufficient cash and the availability of adequate committed
AHER - ASER  BEREN credit facilities to fund capital, prospective investment
2 HEEHERREMNHERBRE - opportunities, debt servicing obligations and dividend
ER - EEENEYEERNEANR payments. Management also closely monitors the Group's
HRETN - EZERIASRE - RS rolling forecast and actual cash flows and maturity profiles of
BAGEBIEIER - financial liabilities.
ERIAREANAGEE - JE KM Taking into account the gearing ratio, historical and expected
HIRRAEIN SR E AR AHNT AL future cash flows from operations and unutilised available
TEAT  EREMITASH B R banking facilities of the Group, management expected the
FORBIT R AR By RoRGE - HTE Group has adequate resources to meet its liabilities and
Al LB SR =T o commitment as and when they fall due and to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.
TRIFFIAEFE R A B af (s The following table details the outstanding contractual
TR SR IAN K EB 59 TR AE 48 Je e S 3% maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group's
RIHNRSEEMNNFINTSEEH borrowings and trade and other payables but excluding
K RAE YR - TIIRIES LRI contract liabilities (or receipt in advance and majority of
Nerns (BEXAGAHAFEITER accruals on promotion and marketing expenses), which are
FIEBAR - B Fah & - MIRTE based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
SLERABITHRE)  ARAEHA interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if
BEWERNTNEEAE - floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
BiTARER
NeFERH
FT-E-f F-EZEif total
—FR 2 ZH BLEE  contractual KEE
Within 1 Between 1 Between 2 Over undiscounted Carrying
year  and 2 years to 5 years 5 years cash flow Amount
ARMBEAT ARMEAT ARMERT ARTEAT ARTEAR ARMEAT
RMB milion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million
—E-)\F 2018
EEMRELR Fixed rate borrowings
BAEY Finance lease (4) (4) (7) = (15) (12)
FHRRER Variable rate borrowings
RITR Bank loans (704) - - - (704) (701)
(708) (4) (7) - (719) (713)
FitE Non-interest bearing
RHREMAFFI Trade and other payables (10,469) = = = (10,469) (10,469)
—2-tF 2017
FHRRER Variable rate borrowings
R Bank loans (2,425) (1,095) - (1) (3,521) (3.470)
Fits Non-interest bearing
RHREMARFR Trade and other payables (9,176) - - - (9176) (9,176)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly from its long
term and short term borrowings. Borrowings at fixed and
floating interest rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. To cover
interest rate risk, the Group maintains the loan portfolio in a
preferred fixed/floating interest rate mix and review regularly.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and
non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For
floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet date was
outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the
year ended 31 December 2018 would decrease/increase by
RMB7 million (2017: decrease/increase by RMB31 million).

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on a
hypothetical situation. In reality, market interest rates would
not change in isolation. In management'’s opinion, the analysis
is used for reference purpose and should not be considered a
projection of the future profits or losses.

CURRENCY RISK

The following table details the Group’'s exposure at the
balance sheet date to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate.

“E-)0\§ e ot
2018 2017

B i R ik
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
ARTERART ARTEART AETBEAT ARMEAT
RMB million ~ RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR Renminbi 2 304 3 3
e US Dollars 241 - 42 -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

CURRENCY RISK (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
strengthen in Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and US
Dollars, assuming the pegged rate between Hong Kong dollar
and US dollar would be unaffected. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at year end for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. For a 5% weakening
of Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and US Dollars, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

—E-)\F —TE—+F

2018 2017

ARTBEART ARTAEAIT

RMB miillion RMB million

AT EA R Effect on profit after tax (16) (1)

It 3 17 TOARIE R LR E M ARIRB IR
BT o TREBRT > mimLEAS
BT - ERRINNE ST R AE
S2E - T NRAERFEF NS R
M o

RENKREE
REFXRTAAEENBE  BEH
REFANKREFELLE  BehdEd
RESMMmERNMIM - RSN B
REEIR - ANEHERRIE SH— 4
EHTAR e

REFNRAEMBERS (BEW
EZTHABEMNER) AR
TENY - ARBN&EFHFA AN AR
#® (BREENaELIRMEEND
RITHRA - & RREEM) -

AEHERREMTFUARARLEN - K
SHERRAARARERKARNIER
Rpg - FBEBIABE  RITHR
NEEHRITERIBEEAEHRSE
TR NBAER NG L T -

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on a
hypothetical situation. In reality, market exchange rates would
not change in isolation. In management’s opinion, the analysis
is used for reference purpose and should not be considered a
projection of the future profits or losses.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group'’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 25, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained
profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues as well as the raise of bank borrowings or
the redemption of existing debt.
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N, BlEmEoHER 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
—ZE—)\F —E—F
2018 2017
ARMmBEART ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
BlLFmEERE THME Turnover comprises revenue
Pl LBI )k : from:
e Sales of goods 31,867 29,732
7 BB 7% SEGMENTS INFORMATION
DEEH/
AKX X Bx X4
Eastern Central Southern  Corporate/ &it
region region region  Elimination Total
ARMBAR ARMERAR ARTEAR ARTEAR ARFEAR
RMB million  RMB million  RMB million  RMB million  RMB million
HE-Z-)\fF For the year ended
TZAZ+-HLEE 31 December 2018
L& TURNOVER'
IMEE External sales 15,639 7,680 8,548 - 31,867
DHEEE Inter-segment sales 426 180 319 (925) -
A1t Total 16,065 7,860 8,867 (925) 31,867
252 Segment result 2 199 396 1,003 1,598
REHWR AT EHLH Unallocated corporate expenses (133)
?'JE\W\ Interest income 115
SR Finance costs (48)
BRB AR R Profit before taxation 1,532
B Taxation (547)
KEERF Profit for the year 985
F-E-)\F+=A=1-H Asat31December 2018
R’ ASSETS
PR Segment assets 17,288 7,762 11,542 36,592
BRERIR Deferred taxation assets 2,426
REHI Taxation recoverable 240
REDRONABHR> Unallocated corporate assets 13
é’%%’ﬁFBE Consolidated total assets 39,271
ik LIABILITIES
PR Segment liabilities 10,456 4,302 4,425 19,183
BRI Taxation payable 29

\%Lﬁlﬁﬁfm Deferred taxation liabilities 399
RENME 2 E B HAR Unallocated corporate liabilties 750
BARRAE Consolidated total liabilities 20361
R H OTHER INFORMATION
REFRIR”? Additions to non-current assets ® 810 831 448 = 2,089
¥718 R 4 Depreciation and amortisation 847 414 392 1 1,654

BHAAESH Impairment loss recognised 805 202 294 - 1,301
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued)

NEEE/
KX X B hok::
Eastern Central Southern Corporate/ Ait
region region region Elimination Total
AETEAL ARTEAT ARMERFRT ARMEBAT ARMEATL
RMB million ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
HE-Z-tF For the year ended
+ZA=t-HILEE 31 December 2017
ElE TURNOVER'
KM External sales 15,154 6,930 7,648 - 29,732
PERHEE Inter-segment sales 451 4 245 (737) -
aif Total 15,605 6,97 7,893 (737) 29,732
A% Segment result 2 877 63 1014 1,954
RENMR R E B HLH Unallocated corporate expenses (103)
S WA Interest income 23
g% Finance costs (128)
BRBE AR R Profit before taxation 1,816
LAl Taxation (630)
KEERF Profit for the year 1,186
F-B-t%+=A=t—-H Asat31December 2017
B ASSETS
PR Segment assets 18,859 7413 11,979 38,251
BRRIR = Deferred taxation assets 2,261
Ti&@ﬁlﬁ Taxation recoverable 14
FEADWO DR SBART Unallocated corporate assets 25
GRRERE Consolidated total assets Y
Ak LIABILITIES
PER LR Segment liabilities 12,137 3877 4,520 20,534
IENE;A Taxation payable 207
BRI R Deferred taxation liabilities 255
REDWH AR BEAR Unallocated corporate liahilties 1170
BARRLE Consolidated total liabilities 2166
Htrg s OTHER INFORMATION
REFRDR”? Additions to non-current assets 3 554 508 690 - 1,752
I7IR B Depreciation and amortisation 906 393 406 1 1,706
BEBRINEESR Impairment loss recognised 383 256 100 - 739
fE - Notes:
1. BlHAREEE R BEEHEE TS 1. Turnover represents sales of beer products and was recognised at a
BiA o point of time.
2. 7 8l SR R FLEHA - S5 J AR 2. Segment result represents earnings before interest income, finance
A& R o costs and taxation.
3. REFRDR~REEER™ 3. Additions to non-current assets included fixed assets.
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+. HEMRA 7. OTHER INCOME
—E-)\E —E—EF
2018 2017
ARMEART ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
Httw A BHE T &M : Other income includes the following:
M EHA Interest income 115 93
BEFIABAT*N B Government grants recognised 187 206
& B E R s Profit on disposal of fixed assets 94 101
. M EA 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-)\E ZE—EF
2018 2017
ARMEART ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
AT LT 8 Interests on finance leases 1 -
RITH R EAMTRFE Interests on bank loans and other loans 62 99
R 2 Financing charges 9 19
L3 (Wzs) /= iR Exchange (gain)/loss (13) 26
59 144
W RAAF B Less: Interest capitalised* (11) (16)
48 128

* FZE-NFR, —BEROMFER *
REFIR P EBR134% (ZFE—+HF :
1.34%) °

During 2018, the weighted average capitalisation rate on funds
borrowed generally is 1.34% (2017: 1.34%) per annum.
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. AEERF

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

—E-)\F —E—LF
2018 2017
ARTEART ARMEBEAT
RMB million RMB million
REEZRNSHBRT KM : Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging:
ZET NS Auditors’ remuneration
—FZR S — Audit services 11 10
—EEiERS — Non-audit services 5 -
ATKAR Staff costs (including directors’
(BIEESHE) emoluments) 6,324 6,061
Eial=! Depreciation
—BER” — Owned assets 1,630 1,683
— B ARANEENE — Assets held under finance leases 1 -
E TR R R Amortisation of other intangible
(BIEE—REITHEARN)  assets (included in general and
administrative expenses) 23 23
EIARESH Impairment loss recognised on
(BIEAE—MEITERZEAMN)  (included in general and
administrative expenses)
— &l 7~ — Fixed assets 961 415
—F% — Stocks 340 324
T REF BN ZER  Operating leases charges on land and
buildings 125 120
2 & Hmmi AR Cost of goods sold 20,669 19,703

T. EEZEAENE
EEHE

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

—E-)\E —E—+tF

2018 2017

ARMBEART ARMBELT

RMB miillion RMB million

e Fees 1.43 0.87
HEARFHE MEM Basic salaries and allowances 2.72 2.61
NS HR Provident fund contributions 0.23 0.18
LT Bonus ' 3.09 6.52
7.47 10.18
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10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

E2EMS (&) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
He Hite
Fees Other Emoluments
HERge
Basic Provident aif
Salaries and Fund B &1t 2017
Allowances Contributions Bonus' Total Total
ZE-)\F 2018 ARTEART ARTEAR ARMBRAR ARMBART ARMEART ARMEAT
E=f? Name of director RMB million  RMB million  RMB million  RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million
PRgRe Chen Lang® 2 - - - - -
f5 Jian i 2 0.43 0.02 - 0.45 -
&2E Hou Xiaohai 2 145 0.17 2.23 3.85 7.15
G Lai Po Sing, Tomakin 2 0.84 0.04 0.86 1.74 1.70
Brse Chen Rong ¢ 2 = = = = -
Rtk Lai Ni Hium, Frank 0.10 - - - 0.10 0.53
EAT Houang Tai Ninh 0.27 - - - 0.27 0.1
P Li Ka Cheung, Eric 0.27 - - - 0.27 0.1
BER Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0.26 - - - 0.26 0.16
BKER Berard Chamwut Chan 0.26 - - - 0.26 0.16
it [l Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 0.27 - - - 0.27 0.16
&t Total 1.43 2.72 0.23 3.09 147 -
“E-tE 2017 0.87 261 0.18 6.52 - 10.18
BEE - Notes:
1. RATNBERFREZ2ZE LG - MRIAL 1. The bonus is determined with reference to the operating results,
THERIRFRETGEITRTEE ° individual performance and comparable market statistics during both
years.
2. AEEZHRXEFHUEEOWHE - 2. Director fee for the year had been waived by respective directors.
3. EEMeHFELBFEE - 3. The director's emoluments were borne by CRC.
4. ZE- )\ FERRUEEERSAEEL 4, During 2018, no retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect

A2 S A Bl ¢ R AR A, Bl 2 slM) 2
EEMNNK(ZFE—EF: ) - 8F
NREEFRSHOFE =ERFHERN AU
K(ZFE—tF: %)  REANTESE,
E bl 8RN BR Bk R SRARR B
RRFEMR S (ZF—FEF: ) °

of termination of directors’ services were paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable (2017: Nil). No
consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available directors’ services (2017: Nil). There are no loans, quasi-
loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled body
corporate and connected entities (2017: Nil).
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- EUEESFER 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
HE_Z—)\F+_A=1+—HIL*F During the year ended 31 December 2018, the five highest
B hAEZEeHEABRE—REE (= paid employees included one (2017: one) Director, details of
E—tF:—R) BEMIFEHR whose remunerations are set out in Note 10. The details of
FHEEA - U (ZF—H4F : I the remunerations paid to the other four (2017: four) highest
) xR ARSI ZHES 115 paid employees are as follows:

T
—E-)\F —E—HF
2018 2017
ARMEART ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
HEAH & MEN Basic salaries and allowances 3.22 2.70
N A Provident fund contributions 0.34 0.18
LT Bonus 12.93 28.25
16.49 31.13

Bz (ZF—+F : Ok

NFTINEE

The emoluments of these four (2017: four) highest paid
individuals were within the following band:

A
No. of person
—E—)\F —E—tF
2018 2017
AR 3,369,001 TE RMB3,369,001 to RMB3,791,000
AE™3,791,000 7T (HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000)
(7™ 4,000,001 TE
71 4,500,000 7T) 1 -
AEM3,791,001 TE RMB3,791,001 to RMB4,212,000
AEM4,212,0007T (HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000)
(# M 4,500,001 L=
71 5,000,000 7T) 1 -
AEM4,212,001 TE RMB4,212,001 to RMB4,633,000
AEM4,633,0007T (HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000)
(# M 5,000,001 L&
761 5,500,000 7T) 2 -
A 6,498,001 L& RMB6,498,001 to RMB6,932,000
AEM6,932,0007T (HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000)
(# 1 7,500,001 L&
75 7 8,000,000 7T) = 2

ARM 7,798,001 T&E
AR 8,232,000
(# 1 9,000,001 L&
#5M 9,500,000 7T)

AEK™9,098,001 TE
AFEM9,532,0007T
(# 10,500,001 TZ
75 11,000,000 7T)

RMB7,798,001 to RMB8,232,000
(HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000)

RMB9,098,001 to RMB9,532,000
(HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000)
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ZEFHEFORMITE - ZF IR ZA
FEAEARFHITTER - FHHIRT
BEZESRA -HAADRERA
EXFeZHEAMLITE  mMER
R T TEB Z AR AR WA TR A A
BAR A SR Z K -

RERNFEAERERTREARAN
BRANREZER(ZF—EF T )

RERNi
AEHEFERNMBNRE R R TR
BRI BFEENEREZIRIKE
AT R R > AREHE A% 1T R X
NETRFEEDLLOHEK - ENR
MAE - AEHE I F TR HE—R
EERMRERNR -

N ERRFERNHIRIKITR TELSRE
MERPHBRABRANDEART
508B H (=& —+t%F : ARM528
BAT) °

12.
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STAFF PROVIDENT FUND
HONG KONG

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all Hong Kong employees.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
amount of contributions is based on a specified percentage of
the basic salary of employees and any forfeited contributions
in respect of unvested benefits of staff leavers are used to
reduce the Group's contributions.

The total cost charged to consolidation profit and loss account
in respect of Group contributions to staff provident fund in
Hong Kong amounted to Nil (2017: Nil).

CHINESE MAINLAND

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to the consolidated profit and loss
account in respect of the above-mentioned schemes in the
Chinese Mainland amounted to approximately RMB508
million (2017: RMB528 million).

. BT 13. TAXATION

—E-)\F —E—tF
2018 2017
ARMERAT ARMARLT
RMB miillion RMB million

FERNLEEH Chinese Mainland income tax
R E R IN Current taxation 571 889
12 JE 7 I Deferred taxation (24) (259)
547 630
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T, BI(%)
ERFESHRIREBEAFEZM1TNIR
Fim AR E16.5% (ZFE— L4 -
16.6%)1T& »

13. TAXATION (Continued)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year.

PENHE QR 2SR REE
B RS ARG R OR T R T %
FoHEzE_ZE—\F+=_A=+—H
IEFENERAMBHEN2B% (ZF
—+H&F 1 25%) °

Chinese Mainland income tax has been provided for based
on the estimated assessable profits in accordance with the
relevant tax laws applicable to the subsidiaries in the Chinese
Mainland. The applicable principal income tax rate for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is 25% (2017: 25%).

AREHA RBR B AD® A 2 T IA B T
REXBBERERERRRITE 2
BB FENT

The taxation on the Group's profit before taxation differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the domestic
rates applicable to the country concerned as follows:

—E-)\F —E—tF
2018 2017
ARTEART ARMEBEAT
RMB million RMB million
B T BT V2 ) Profit before taxation 1,532 1,816
LBEXEREAREITE Tax calculated at the domestic rates
2 F I applicable in the country concerned 365 456
TR 2 WA Income not subject to taxation (19) (18)
AR 2 H Expenses not deductible for taxation
purposes 47 51
FAFIRBEHIAZ Utilisation of previously unrecognised
HENHEZES temporary difference (243) (265)
REWWINZ B R Tax losses and temporary difference
HiEZES not recognised 437 319
EFZRE 2T Over provision on taxation in previous
year (58) (6)
ROBFEZ NS Withholding tax on undistributed profits 18 93
BRI H Taxation charge 547 630
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14. DIVIDENDS

—E—)\F e
2018 2017
ARTEART AEMEAET
RMB million RMB million

ZE-N\FWHEIRAEFTH 2018 interim dividend paid

REEREBERART of RMBO0.09 per ordinary share

0.09L(ZEFE—+4F: (2017: RMBO0.07)

AERM0.077T) 292 227
ZE - N\FMRLUR & RE 2018 proposed final dividend

REEREERART of RMBO0.03 per ordinary share

0.03TL(ZF—+F: (2017: RMBO0.07)

ARM0.077T) 97 227

389 454

BE - Note:

EARNRTE-AE=ZA-FHEITHLIN
F ESFPRREKRESREBRARTO0.037T
—E—tF: ARM0.0770) » VR B THERA
ARTHETEZCOWH AN LT BRBIITE -
ZERBHLTTVSIRENWIAN AL - AFE
WS IREFTRBARRIRGRE BFEBES
E-EFENRPRER =S \FENFR K
B BEAARMBIOEAL(ZE—1F: A
RM487EATT) °

At the meeting held on 20 March 2019, the directors proposed final dividend of
RMBO0.03 (2017: RMBO0.07) per ordinary share. This proposed dividend, which
is calculated on the Company's number of ordinary shares as at the date of the
board meeting, is not recognised as a liability in these financial statements. The
total dividends paid by the Company, including the final dividend for the year
2017 and the interim dividend for the year 2018, amounting to RMB519 million
(2017: RMB487 million) are reflected in the current year financial statements.
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L. BREF 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
—E-)\F —E—tF
2018 2017
ARTEART AEMEAET
RMB million RMB million
EFREARR M ERF|TIENE  The calculation of the basic and diluted
THEHEITE - earnings per share is based on the
following data:
2R Earnings
RARITESREERR Profit attributable to shareholders
PF R A AR T] of the Company for the purposes
B8 5= R o o of calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share 977 1,175
—E-)\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
R#H#%E Number of shares
RAURITEERER RS Weighted average number of ordinary
£ N H 3 d@ R oA 1 25 shares for the purpose of calculating
basic and diluted earnings per share 3,244,176,905 3,244,176,905
—E-)\F —E—tF
2018 2017
AR ARMTT
RMB RMB
EREXRMBERT Basic and diluted earnings per share 0.30 0.36

BREREN K ERMEEEFERIT
BE EXFTRE—E -

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above
for both basic and diluted earnings per share.
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B E R’ 16. FIXED ASSETS
KHEBR Rl - MERRE
HELEY Other property, plant and equipment
iR
Interests in
leasehold HREZ =0
land held for Buildings BERF
own use under held for Other fixed M fit
operating leases own use assets Sub-total Total
ARMEAIL  ARMEAT  ARMEAT  ARMEAR  ARMEAR
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
A Cost
F-5-t5-F-H Asat 1 January 2017 3,961 9430 20,935 30,365 34,326
RE Additions 30 131 1,585 1,116 1,752
HE Disposals (25) (18) (487) (505) (630)
Biin% Reclassifications - 145 (145) - -
LRER Exchange difference 1 18 49 67 68
F-E-+tF+-A=1-H As at 31 December 2017 and
R=E-N\E-A-H 1 January 2018 3973 9,706 21,937 31,643 35,616
RE Additions 22 93 1974 2,067 2,089
e Disposals (57) (126) (772 (899) (955)
Bfin% Reclassifications - 497 (497) - -
LRER Exchange difference (1) (1) (34) (45) (46)
F-E-\E+ZA=+-H As at 31 December 2018 3937 10,159 20,608 32,767 36,704
ZitERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
F-5-+t5-F-H Asat 1 January 2017 637 2858 9,931 12,789 13426
AEERIR Charge for the year 87 3n 1,204 1,596 1,683
HERE Written back on disposals (5) (14) 410) (424 (429)
BEAZRBESS Impairment loss recognised - 135 280 415 415
LRED Exchange difference 1 18 53 7 72
F-E-LE+-A=+-HR  Asat31 December 2017 and
“E-)\F-F-H 1 January 2018 720 3,369 11,078 14,447 15,167
AEEHR Charge for the year 8 386 1,159 1,545 1,631
HEKE Written back on disposals ¢] (34) (594) (628) (637)
BRIZAESR Impairment loss recognised - 496 465 961 91
LRER Exchange difference 1) (12) (37) (49) (50)
F-E-\E+ZA=+-H As at 31 December 2018 79 4,205 12,071 16,276 17072
kE4E Net book values
F-E-\E+ZA=+-H As at 31 December 2018 3141 5,954 10537 16,491 19,632
FIE-tETZA=T-H As at 31 December 2017 3253 6,337 10,859 17,19 20,449
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TR BERF (&)

FER - ARRESHE  XEFABERE
KAETEH B RALE DR BT
o RARAERATEREHEIERE
AR R B F = HIARES RN
ARTGIBATL(ZE—EF : AR
MA15BHL) - ZERHAIKE S
MIREARNMEREERAITE -

Br EsRITRIN - RIS = A B AL
WRAFFERELER  ERE2#HTT
RAETHE - RIE XL -~ AEm ]
WEegs TR~ IKEE -

HiEEAFEBREERTIRE il
FRE BEVLEE RAREE
RAE -

AEHRBABNFAEZBEER ST
—E-N\Ft+A=+t—BZKHEE
NARMBELTT °
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16. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

During the year, as a result of efficiency enhancement, certain
breweries were determined to be closed down and certain
aged assets were determined as obsolete. Consequently
the Group has recognised an impairment loss of RMB961
million (2017: RMB415 million), after considering any
possible benefit receivable during the disposal process. The
recoverable amounts of these assets are based on their fair
value less costs of disposal.

Except for the above, if other impairment indicators exist on
the cash-generating units, management have conducted an
impairment review and based on these assessments, the
resulting recoverable amounts was higher than the carrying
amount of the assets belong.

Other fixed assets mainly comprise construction in progress,
plant and machinery, leasehold improvements, furniture and
equipment and motor vehicles.

The carrying amounts of fixed assets held under finance
leases of the Group as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
RMB8 million.
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X BER (&) 16. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
ERIE nERg  BRNLES
Construction Plant and Leasehold Bt Ait
in progress machinery  improvements Others Total
ARMEIL  ARPEAT  ARMEAT  ARMEAR  ARMEIR
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
A Cost
F-E-t5-F-H Asat 1 January 2017 780 19,086 5 1,064 20,935
HE Additions 1218 342 - 25 1585
e Disposals - (393) - (94) (487)
Bfin% Reclassifications (889) 700 - i (145)
LRED Exchange difference (5) b4 - - 49
F_E-tF+ZA=t-H As at 31 December 2017 and
RZE-\E-F-H 1 January 2018 1,104 19,789 5 1,039 21937
RE Additions 1,139 176 - h9 1974
e Disposals (1) (67) - (104) (772)
Bin% Reclassifications (1,924) 1,352 - 75 (497)
LRER Exchange difference 4 (38) - - (34)
F-E-\E+Zp=t-H As at 31 December 2018 922 20,612 5 1,069 22,608
ZitfERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
F-Z-t5-A-8 As at 1 January 2017 2 9,197 5 721 9931
REEAR Charge for the year - 1135 - 89 1,204
HERE Written back on disposals - (327) - 83) 10)
BRI RESH Impairment loss recognised - 275 - 5 280
LRER Exchange difference - 53 - - 53
FoE-tF+ZA=T-Bk  Asat31 December 2017 and
—3-)\§-A-H 1 January 2018 2 10333 5 738 11,078
AEEHR Charge for the year - 1,079 - 80 1,159
HEKE Written back on disposals 1) (504) - (89) (594)
EWAZRESS Impairment loss recognised - 457 - 8 465
LRER Exchange difference - (37) - - (37)
FZE-N\§TZA=+-R As at 31 December 2018 1 11,328 5 737 12,071
KEAE Net book values
FZE-N\§TZA=T-R As at 31 December 2018 91 9284 - 332 10,537
FIE-tETZA=T-H As at 31 December 2017 1,102 9456 - 301 10,859
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17. GOODWILL
AETBERAT
RMB million
BN Cost
F=—F—+tF—H—H As at 1 January 2017 8,422
LR ZEEN Exchange difference (104)
F_E2—tF+=-_A=+—8 As at 31 December 2017
;E=F-N\F—H—H and 1 January 2018 8,318
LR ZEA Exchange difference 72
F=E-NF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 8,390
IETEED Carrying values
F=E-NF+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 8,390
F—2—tF+=-A=+—8H As at 31 December 2017 8,318

HEKEENEEZAS R~ E LM
(ICGUD) » I AREHRFEITHEZ
MMYENEEDKABZEER
e ATHNBENEZDEME

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the cash
generating units (“CGU"), each of which represent an
operating entity within the operating segments identified by
the Group for the purpose of segment reporting. A segment
level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:

—E-)\F —E-LF

2018 2017

ARTEART AEMEAET

RMB million RMB million

KX Eastern region 2,320 2,281
A X Central region 838 828
mX Southern region 5,232 5,209

CGU Z A] Wy B & &0 Jh 4= & A M & it
BEEE - ZZUWERFEZXARES
BEBEZzAFHVEMEmMEL 2
itilene  BERAFHZIASR
EXAWTHRMTITIMAE K ER
89% (ZFE—+t%F :91%) 2F it
RESABILSIHITE -

TEBRRNABEIBAI2EHE
CGUHIRT W m S #RR =K T HIKE & -

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
based on a value in use calculation. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period, cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the key
assumptions including expected revenue growth rates stated
below and a discount rate of 8.9% (2017: 9.1%) per annum.

A reasonably possible change in a key assumption would
not cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying
amount of the respective CGU.
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

BHAFHEMSMEZ
it A K =
Expected revenue growth rate
beyond the five years’
financial budget

(%)
—ZE—)\F —E—F
2018 2017
KX Eastern region 2% 2%
X Central region 2%—3% 2%-3%
X Southern region 2%-3% 2%-3%
T\ HE R &= 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
[EEA
Brand names
ARMBELT
RMB million
BN Cost
F—E2—+tF—H—H As at 1 January 2017 469
LR ZEE Exchange difference 4
F—E—tFE+_A=1+—H8K As at 31 December 2017
—E-NF—HA—H and 1 January 2018 473
LR ZE Exchange difference (3)
FZE2-N\F+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018 470
Rt RORE Accumulated amortisation and impairment
FZE2—+tF—H—H As at 1 January 2017 298
AN E P Charge for the year 23
LR ZE Exchange difference 5
F_FE—+F+-_A=+—HBRK As at 31 December 2017
—E-NF—H—H and 1 January 2018 326
AN Charge for the year 23
LR ZE Exchange difference (3)
FZE-NF+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018 346
QETDERIE Net book values
F_E-—N\F+-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 124
F—E—+tF+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2017 147
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th. LM ETEEEZITA
HttR S BN SRR

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

—E-)\FE —E—EF
2018 2017
ARMmBEART ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
FERH SRR Listed equity shares in Chinese
NAME Mainland, at fair value 9 -

EHAERRERO A NMERSRT 7
AN 0 58 5E e

The fair values of investment in listed equity shares are
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices.

Z+.UERRE 20. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS
—E-)\F —E—EF
2018 2017
ARMBEART ARMEATT
RMB miillion RMB million
REN ETRG Listed equity shares in Chinese
NRNE Mainland, at fair value = 9

EFHABRRIR RO AN RNMERSRT7
R 158 7E -

The fair values of investment in listed equity shares are
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices.

“t- FAY I 21. PREPAYMENTS
—ZE-)\F —E—EF
2018 2017
ARTEAT ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
T3 @l JE 7 7= 2 1] & 5 Deposit payment for purchase
of fixed assets 240 81
It ESR 22. STOCKS
—E-)\F —E—tF
2018 2017
ARTEART AEMEAET
RMB million RMB million
R Raw materials 676 659
S FEm M BEME Consumables and packing materials 3,571 4,069
£ %l oh Work-in-progress 242 244
Il A o Finished goods 890 854
5,379 5,826
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2tz R 5 & H 4t 5 Y FRIm 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E-)\E —E—EF
2018 2017
ARMEART ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
MU E=FRZHER Trade receivables from third parties 457 609
MU E R RIEHNE A R Trade receivables from fellow
R 5 KK subsidiaries 25 33
N 9= Provision for doubtful debts (39) (35)
443 607
B EELE Value-added tax recoverable 173 125
T4 3R I Prepayments 173 154
BffLe Deposits paid 9 7
H b B U FR IR Other receivables 108 112
MU E R RIEHME A R Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
I (fE) (Note) = 1
906 1,006

BT -
Rz R R B A RIS A EARIF - 28 K bEes A

)&°

REH—RETEF AT ZE5TH

() JEIMEH =X
() Z+EA+RKK

THEARAREAHZ27NNKE=
TREBRAREAMEARRSIKKZ
Ik AT an R

Note:
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The Group normally trades with its customers under the
following credit terms:

(@)  cash upon delivery; or
(b)  open credit from 30 to 90 days

The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables from
third parties and fellow subsidiaries as at the balance sheet
date by invoice date:

—F-)N\F —EFE—tF
2018 2017
ARTEART AEMALT
RMB miillion RMB million

& The Group
0-30K 0 - 30 days 78 78
31-60X 31 -60 days 68 58
61-90X 61 - 90 days 41 34
> 90K > 90 days 256 437
443 607
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2tz B 5 R H A R R () 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

R 5 MWK BB B 8 T 5 157
ENETHENKEEANNTF 215
THE - FAREMEFLSEBER DN
TRUNRE J) 2 BIRE M G RLE L 12 o

H A S R 2 BB Ty 12 D A IR
s HMEBERS RIS
MFENSTHINERT LU EXET
MBS 8 hn o

RIFEEZHITZIHE - AEH T4
B BN R 5 K EAD RN YRR S NME
SHEIKEERS °

Impairment on trade receivables is using the expected loss
rates, which are based on credit assessments on each aging
category of customers and adjusted for forward-looking
information affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
trade receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since the initial recognition.

Based on the assessments performed by management, the
fair value of the Group's trade and other receivables at balance
sheet date was approximate to the corresponding carrying
amount.

INIKAER 2ZE D) MOVEMENT IN THE PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL
DEBTS

—E—)\F —EF—LF

2018 2017

ARTEART ARMEAT

RMB miillion RMB million

F—HA—H As at 1 January 35 40

BN Z BES R Impairment losses recognised 80 6

AT EWE mEHE 2 25 Amounts written off as uncollectible (76) (11)

F+—-A=+—8H As at 31 December 39 35
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1R R 5 K& H At A FRIR 24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—ZF-)\F ZE—+F

2018 2017

ARMEART ARMEAT

RMB miillion RMB million

NTE =R SR Trade payables to third parties 2,339 1,616

INERRSI/ASIE [ E=/NG]| Trade payables to fellow

RS KR subsidiaries 1 1

2,340 1,617

& R E) Contract liabilities (Note 1) 7,168 -

T R I (B E 1) Receipt in advance (Note 1) = 654

R A (MhE1) Accruals (Note 1) 2,374 8,734

Bligs (Kfx2) Deposit received (Note 2) 3,891 4,243

Ho b R 53R Other payables 1,830 1,329
VKRS /NCIE ST Amounts due to holding companies

(MH%E3) (Note 3) 33 28
INERE RSN E- il N Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

N R)FI(HE3) (Note 3) 1 -

17,637 16,605

BT -

EHHE—(T) () AEHARPEITER
ANATEBMSIREENE 155 - F
—E-N\E+ZA=+—8 AEARY
FENG S E— M BEE B R ik
I I HE 25 A A T A & SR IR i
RERETFRAPENEGRNG - TEE
AMERAGIMEBEE T —FRNHIA &R
NEBEARME52H FT(2017 1 AR
654 B 77 7T) K TG R AR 6,516
B (2017: ARM6,775 A F7T) HT
IR R A -

FMERBESFEMRBEMHNENR
B -

RARHR R A RO K& B 22 7 5 L P B 28
BIFIUR TR - 28 R BEe FIE o

THERREARAHEINONGRS
TKFR 2 K& o AT an s

Notes:

As set out in Note 1D (i), the Group has adopted the modified
retrospective approach for transition to the HKFRS 15. As a result of the
adoption, the receipt in advance on sales and majority of the accruals
on promotion and marketing expenses, which were classified as receipt
in advance and accruals respectively in the last financial year, were
classified as contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018. The contract
liabilities as at the balance date, which were expected to be recognised
within one year, included receipt in advance on sales of RMB652 million
(2017: RMB654 million) and accruals on promotion and marketing
expenses of RMB6,516 million (2017: RMB 6,775 million).

Amounts mainly included deposits received for consumables and
packing materials.

Amounts due to holding companies and fellow subsidiaries were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables as at the
balance sheet date by invoice date:

—E—)\F —E—EF

2018 2017

ARTBEAR ARMBRTT

RMB miillion RMB million

0-30K 0 - 30 days 1,963 1,635
31-60K 31 -60 days 132 17
61 -90K 61 - 90 days 176 8
> 90K > 90 days 69 57
2,340 1,617

AEHTEE RN R S MEM MR
MARMESEIKEERE °

The fair value of the Group's trade and other payables as at
balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding
carrying amount.
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Ith B

25. LOANS
—E-)\F

2018
BB KERZ
Short-term Long-term
loans loans

// 154
—FtF
2017
BERR KEHT
it Shortterm Long-term aif
Total loans loans Total

ARMERR ARMEAR ARMEART ARMEAT ARMEAR ARMAAT
RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million

BRANER Finance leases 3 9 12 - - -
THRBRITAT Unsecured bank loans 701 - 701 2,383 1,087 3470
704 9 713 2,383 1,087 3,470
—E-)\F —EF—tF
2018 2017
ARTEART ARMELT
RMB miillion RMB million

Bl H A &8 Finance leases
—F N Within 1 year 3 -
—FAEERFN After 1 year, but within 2 years 3 -
WENEZERFN After 2 years, but within 5 years 6 -

MITEAXN Bank Loans

—FN Within 1 year 701 2,383
—FUAEERFN After 1 year, but within 2 years - 1,086
MELNEERFR After 2 years, but within 5 years - -
hFfF After 5 years = 1
713 3,470

RERBAEMRARM N EAL 2 F
BER - BRI SEHERITROLYF
B (THIBOR)) kA EARRITAELZ

PR R4

AEFEBBRZEBREFEEER
1.18% E2.68% (ZFE—+HF  §4F

1.09% £2.80% ) 5 o

The Group has floating rate borrowings denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars and Renminbi with interest rates linked to Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR") and the lending rate

stipulated by the People’s Bank of China respectively.

The effective annual interest rates on the Group's floating rate
borrowings range from mainly 1.18% to 2.68% (2017: from

1.09% to 2.80%) per annum.
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A B FEE R I 26. DEFERRED TAXATION
FRBIEFR IR = MR T The movement in deferred taxation assets and liabilities
recognised during the year is as follows:
HE BERAM
B Impairment, provision &it
Tax losses and others Total
—E2-)\E Z—E-+F ZBE-)\E —FT-+tf ZE-)\f C—F+tF
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ARMBAT ARTEATL ARMEAR ARTERT ARMBART ARMAATL
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
BRERIR Deferred taxation assets
T-A—-H As at 1 January 101 81 2,160 1,930 2,261 2,011
ESARERITA  Credited to consolidated
profit and loss account 64 20 101 230 165 250
F+ZA=+—8  Asat31 December 165 101 2,261 2,160 2,426 2,261

BIERIE = AR RSNEE
AR RFEEFZD R LR
NS SREERIA T2 N\F
+-A=1+—8 AEHARBIAZTE
STHMmAEARM221TBHFT (==
—t&F: ARM2,998F A7T) © MA
EHAREREASHIAZERNS K
SRERORFAW AT - k& ET
RERNEHZ ABIAZHMESHRE A
REM2738BATL(ZE—LF : AR
M2,859AFT) °

Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. At
31 December 2018, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
of RMB2,921 million (2017: RMB2,998 million) which is
uncertain as to whether it can be utilised to set off against
future taxable income. Out of this amount, the unrecognised
tax loss of RMB2,738 million (2017: RMB2,859 million) will
expire within 5 years.
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2R, BB EE B I ()
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KT REEFERSARERTRIAZ
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26. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The components of deferred taxation liabilities recognised in

B ERL A AN EB D R T F R the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during
3 the year are as follows:
RPBAEZ
MM EH
EHTATIA Withholding
Accelerated tax on
tax undistributed &it
depreciation profits Total
ARTBAT ARMEAT ARTBAT
RMB million RMB million RMB million
T-F—+t%-A—H Asat 1 January 2017 139 132 271
EZERERITA Credited to consolidated profit
and loss account (7) (2) 9
LERIFE Exchange rate adjustment (1) (6) (7)
F-E—+tF+-A=+—H Asat31 December 2017 and
—E-\E—-A—H 1 January 2018 131 124 255
ERaRsRIG Debited to consolidated profit
and loss account 123 18 141
LRIFE Exchange rate adjustment 8) 1 3
F=F-A\F5+-A=1+—H Asat31 December 2018 246 153 399
BIEPEARKLMEEN - TIRFAE Under the Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
MEXNPEMREARE Z_ZTENF— dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC

A—BERROFEMEMREM
EH = 33 SE B BUA KR 29 BE FLE T T
A LRSSk E A BB B R ETR

£ o

Efﬂ_’,qlzuwlj] J\{m
FZE-N\F+ZA=+—8, Hfb3E
R EIES HIA % T Y S B B

R ART1,416F AL (ZE—
F: ARM1,487F A7) BTN
FE R AR FEFE KRNI
SEFE R A o

27.

subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has been provided for undistributed profits to the extent that
declarations of dividends are anticipated in the foreseeable
future.

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, other non-current liabilities included
government grants of RMB1,416 million (2017: RMB1,487
million) recognised as deferred revenue. The government
grants mainly represent subsidies granted by PRC
governmental authorities towards the purchases of leasehold
land.
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2N R 28. SHARE CAPITAL
—E-)\F —tF
2018 2017
R 41 %k B HfE e [EE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
Bk ARMEAR Balk ARMBEAT
million RMB million million RMB million
BRITRERRAK Issued and fully paid

F—-H—-H As at 1 January 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090
F+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090
S GEMERERMA 29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

ZEEHZ2NETRE

STATEMENT

A  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

—E-)\F —E—tF
2018 2017
ARMmBART ARMEAT
RMB million RMB million
B 5 BT Va8 ) Profit before taxation 1,532 1,816
B Adjustments for:
LR Exchange gain (13) (10)
FEHRA Interest income (115) (93)
B Interest expenses 52 83
& BT R A Net gain on disposal of fixed assets (94) (101)
EEIAZBE R - RIE Impairment loss recognised
=i on fixed assets 961 415
BN FHRRESHR Impairment loss recognised
on stocks 340 324
Sil|= Depreciation 1,631 1,683
= b At Amortisation of other intangible
assets 23 23
B2 HIABUT B Government grants recognised (44) (28)
EERSEPHIZEE Operating cash inflows before
&R working capital changes 4,273 4,112
GFH2ED) Changes in stocks 107 (40)
R 5 N o Ath 57 W 5k Im Changes in trade and other
Zx &) receivables 227 268
R 5 K E AR F I Changes in trade and other
235 payables 208 713
KXEFBZIE Cash generated from operations 4,815 5,053
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S EETERERME (&)

2 RBBEEIBTFEZAFETR

vs]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Continued)

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

B—RER
ySEiE KERR ARRK
Short-term Long-term a holding ait
loans loans company Total
ARTBRAT ARTBRAT ARTMBAT ARMBEAT
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
F-E—+tF—A—H  Asat1January 2017 1,692 2,953 2,722 7,267
Neng Cash flows 770 (1,605) (2,715) (3,550)
NS Foreign exchange movement (63) (177) (7) (247)
THRIEWEZMES  Non-cash movements 84 (84) - -
—E—tF As at 31 December 2017 and
+-A=+—-8%k at 1 January 2018
—E-\F-H-H 2,383 1,087 - 3,470
NeneE Cash flows (2,434) (428) - (2,862)
INCED) Foreign exchange movement 51 41 - 92
BARE 6 Finance leases inception - 13 - 13
AHEEINE WS HEL  Non-cash movements 704 (704) - -
TZF-N\F As at 31 December 2018
+-A=1+—H 704 9 - 713
=+. &i8 30. COMMITMENTS
—ZE-)\F —F—tF
2018 2017
ARMEART ARMEAT
RMB miillion RMB million
TFEEREARTHRWEREE Capital commitments outstanding on
RFEZRAFBAT ¢ acquisition of fixed assets at the
balance sheet date are as follows:
BEEAEMKRK R Contracted but not provided for 1,704 2,055
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=+, & (w) 30. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
BrERZHN REAF_ZF—NEF Other than the above, on 5 November 2018, the Group
+— A A H SHeineken £ #H £ 1T % entered into a master share purchase agreement with the
PDWEEHE - RIEZDE - NEH Heineken Group, pursuant to which the Group has agreed
[A & A Heineken & ] W 52 L 7£ A E to acquire from Heineken Group its current operations in
AR~ BB (338 S i) /9T mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau (or the Exclusive
Bl % - 3 R7E™ 2,354,670,000 7T Territory) at a consideration of HK$2,354,670,000 (subject to
(ZBRFRERAIFE) - completion adjustment).
FR—X  X&H IS Heineken &£ H On the same date, the Group also entered into (i) a trademark
ZAT T () o< THE3h A 33k 093 5 5 B licensing agreement with the Heineken Group in relation
Heineken® on h& #) B R % A& 29 5 AN to the use of the Heineken® brand on an exclusive basis in
(i) = T A EH 5 Heineken £ H 2 B8] A9 the Exclusive Territory; and (ii) a framework agreement with
KA B & VEXR ROVAERIDE » the Heineken Group in relation to the long term strategic
collaboration between the Group and the Heineken Group.
HERER  ERZHHEARTK ° The above transactions had not been completed as at the
reporting date.
St- B ALY AR 31. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
By A A AS LESSEE
—E-)\F —E-tF
2018 2017
ARTEART AEMEAET
RMB million RMB million
T&8R8 - REARNESE At the balance sheet date, the total
BN T T e future minimum lease payments
AT 2 B AR TR under non-cancellable operating
BN leases are payable as follows:
—E—FR — Within one year 37 64
—HEE_FEERF — In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BIEEEMEF) 46 30
—-E¥ZE — After five years 37 37
120 131
BLHEREER—E-_+FH% Operating leases are negotiated for lease terms principally
HARIX © ranged from 1 to 20 years.
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SHLERXRERS 32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

o ARARISHEMEAR (BTARXRFZ A Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
KIEAT) BT 2R B TFLRAEKE which are related parties of the Company, have been
B - HEERKDEFRHE - BA eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
WMHERESITHRBE LR RERIN Note. In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
RERFHIT TS MERKERS ¢ elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered

into the following material related party transactions:

—E-)\F —E—EF
2018 2017
ARTEART AEMEAET
RMB million RMB million

BEX T RRREZRS Receipt of services from

— AR AR 2 B (B E—) A holding company (Note 1) 112 81
BRNINGIE R Sales of goods to

SYNSIESvi 11 =-FNE Fellow subsidiaries 102 89

FTI ARG 2ELELHTE  Operating lease expenses to
BRAERZHMEAF Fellow subsidiaries 25 24

kB TAlRaEZFERA Interest income from

— RS EEHZHERT A fellow subsidiary 9 9
FTRAINNFZHAELZH Interest expenses to
— B A E (HE=D) A holding company (Note 2) - 32
BEE - Notes:
1. TTEARSS B B — BIE AR A RIEE - ELp AR 1. Administrative service is provided by a holding company, of which costs
Al FIR5) - HIEAFAREBOEED P are identifiable and are allocated on a fair and equitable basis.
2. B—REZERARERRTF-E—tFN2E 2. Loans from a holding company were fully repaid during 2017.
R °
F2018F12A31B e kIleF As at 31 December 2018, cash and cash equivalents or
M=k B MIFIRITF R BEAEH M pledged bank deposits included deposits of RMB161
KEEHRITRNDBRARERAR million (2017: RMB200 million) made by the Group to China
161 H T (20176 : ART2008H Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

TT) e
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Z

S5HMPERNBERIEH K2
RB/ER

AREH ARG A BT 6+ E
LEHERAR(HELEDET—D
ERRBEREAZKA - REFELHRE
KEHTZRZIN  AEATERT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES WITH OTHER STATE-
CONTROLLED ENTITIES IN CHINESE MAINLAND

The Group itself is a part of a larger group of companies
under China Resources Company Limited (“CRC") which
is controlled by the Chinese State government. Apart from
the transactions with CRC group, the Group also conducts
businesses with other state-controlled entities. The directors
are of the opinion that those entities other than the CRC
group do not have the power to govern or participate in the
financial and operating policies of the Group. The transactions
including sales and purchases of goods and services and
bank deposits and corresponding interest income, with these
entities are conducted in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business. The Group believes that it has provided, at the best
of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of
related party transactions as summarised above.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

The Group regards the directors and the five highest
paid employees are key management personnel and the
respective compensation is set out in Note 10 and Note 11 to
consolidated financial statement. There was no remuneration
paid for key management personnel other than directors or
the five highest paid employees during the year (2017: Nil).
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L RFABRRRERED

a3

33. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

OF THE COMPANY
A BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2018

—E-)\F —E—EF
2018 2017
ARTEART ARMBELT
RMB miillion RMB million
Ry B Non-current assets
[&] 7€ 7 77 Fixed assets
—Hihll - ML KIEE - Other property, plant and equipment 2 2
TFHEARZ N Interests in subsidiaries 16,378 15,626
16,380 15,628
&= Current assets
R 5 K E At 57 RN Trade and other receivables 2 119
N&RBEITEF Cash and bank balances 10 19
12 138
o R Current liabilities
R 5 K E A R 5/ Trade and other payables (863) (36)
ISR E /4 Short term loans (701) (460)
(1,564) (496)
Rt eE Net current liabilities (1,552) (358)
BRF= AR Ak Total assets less current liabilities 14,828 15,270
ER B0 L 67 Non-current liability
KHITTR Long term loans - (669)
14,828 14,601
R & Capital and reserves
[ Share capital 14,090 14,090
= Reserves 738 511
14,828 14,601

BE

F_ZE-NF+-A=1+—08 RHREMNM
FIMBIEEWE AR IHARMI0EFTHE
AR HLFFEL36% 1HER—FREE - &Y
B84 E T (HBETFTHARMBI2ART) N
THL I 12 F K Z HIBOR+0.6% it B K K8 eS A

]&0

M5Bl CHEN LANG
ZE % Director

Note:
As at 31 December 2018, trade and other payables includ

ed loans from

subsidiaries of RMB300 million, which is unsecured, bears interest at 4.35%
per annum and repayable within one year, and approximately HK$584 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB512 million), which are unsecured, bear
interest at HIBOR + 0.6% per annum, and repayable on demand.

7 LAI PO SING, TOMAKIN
2% Director
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REmRRkEREED (&) 33. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
BATRZEBRED B RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
BHE-_F— ) N\F+-_A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2018
PR 5l 4
RRitkl
FrisR 4
Shares held
LR for restricted RE &R
Exchange incentive Retained &it
reserve award scheme profits Total
ARTBRAT ARMmBAT ARMBAT ARMEAT
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
FT-F—tF—H—H  Asat1January 2017 (2,229) (19) 2,603 355
LEZER Exchange differences on translation (989) - - (989)
KEFHF Profit for the year - - 1,632 1,632
i 458 Dividend - - (487) (487)
T-F—+tF As at 31 December 2017 and
+-A=+—Hk 1 January 2018
“E-\f-H-H (3218) (19) 3,748 511
LERES Exchange difference on translation 684 - - 684
KEE R Profit for the year - - 62 62
R E Dividend - - (519) (519)
2974 Transfer - 19 (19) -
F_E-NF+=A As at 31 December 2018
=+—H (2,534) - 3272 738

ARNBIAEDIRTREZEZNAR
11,2298 L (ZE—tF: ARM
1,506 H FT) °

HEEM

mKEE= + AT FREBEH =T
—NEZAXE  BRTHEEER
BRI AN R E & R 2
BEETFTRIRED 41X H
SRR R B 5 R 1 -

EEEMIT  XERXHEE2019FK
SR MRRZ H TR - MM iEEE D
REABER™  NELRIANFZ
NANMEZTHEILENBE -

HAEZEMSIRE
FI102MEF163MATH 2 ZAM S

BRECHKEELST -_E—HLE=A
—+B#E-

34.

35.

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to
the shareholders amounted to RMB1,229 million (2017:
RMB1,505 million).

SUBSEQUENT EVENT AFTER REPORTING
DATE

As set out in Note 30, subsequent to the reporting date on 6
March 2019, the State Administration for Market Regulation
issued a written decision to not restrict the acquisition from
a concentration of undertaking under the PRC anti-trust
law. The completion of the transaction is still subject to the
fulfillment of other conditions precedent.

Management expected the transactions will be completed
within 2019. If the transaction is completed, the excess of
the consideration transferred over the fair value of the net
identifiable assets acquired would be recorded as goodwvill.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 102
to 163 were approved by the board of directors on 20 March
2019.
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TEME A
Principal Subsidiaries
FZF—-N\F+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018
RABS
Percentage of capital
BRAOEERRA/EMEEX  AKANE AAARE WELARE
HERF Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby ZZL%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
TEBEMAY
Incorporated in Hong Kong
LARRRAERAA 2REBR 100.0 - 1000 W%
CRE Beverage Trading Limited 2 ordinary shares Financing
TRELZBHEMA L
Incorporated in British Virgin Islands
LHEREBAR AT 42800400 R BREE1ET 100.0 100.0 - RARR
China Resources Snow Breweries Z2EEk Investment holding
Limited 42,800,400 ordinary shares of
US$1 each
T o E R A K
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland
O LRERBE(U))ERREAT  ARM848,053,367.58 T 100.0 - 1000 HEHEEWE” R
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB848,053,367.58 Manufacturing and distribution
(Sichuan) Co., Ltd of beer products
O LRERRE(BR)ARAR AR 45,428,155 T 100.0 - 1000 HEMNEEE” R
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB45,428,155 Manufacturing and distribution
(Nanchong) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o ARERRE () FRREAF  ARM15,000,0007 1000 - 1000  HIEMEERES R
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB15,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Qionglai) Co., Ltd. of beer products
O LEERRE (BR)BRREAR  ARM2457925017T 100.0 - 1000 HEHEEWE” @
RMB245,792,501 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
O EEFEE(5H) BRAF 31,200,000% T 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEERE" R
China Resources Snowflake US$31,200,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Brewery (Jilin) Co., Ltd. of beer products
* RERBE (RRE)BRAR AR 260,000,00070 100.0 - 1000 HEREERE” R
RMB260,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
O RERRE () ARAR AR 438,147,500 0 100.0 - 1000 HEHEEWE”q
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB438,147,500 Manufacturing and distribution

(Anhui) Co., Ltd.

of beer products
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Principal Subsidiaries

FZE2—-N\F+ZHA=+—H As at 31 December 2018

RABS
Percentage of capital
BRAOEERRA/EMEEX  AKANE AAARE WELARE
HERF Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby ZZL%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
TFHRERMEMRK L (%)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
O EEREE (R BRAF A& 652,000,0007C 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEERE" R
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB652,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Wuhan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
* RERRE(IT)ARAA 118,504,683 % 7 100.0 - 1000 HEREERE” R
US$118,504,683 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
O ARERRE (PE)ARAR 159,030,076.09% 1T 100.0 - 1000 HHBEFR
US$159,030,076.09 Distribution of beer products
* LEEREE (RR)BRAF AR 182,000,000 7 1000 - 1000 HIEMEERES R
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB 182,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Liuan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o HEREE (LR)ERAA 21,000,000 100.0 - 1000 HEREEWE” R
US$21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
*OLEERRE (S R)BRAT 55,850,000 7T 100.0 - 1000 HEMEEWE”q
US$55,850,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* RERBE (KF) ERAA 32,797,869% T 100.0 - 1000 HEREEREF R
China Resources Snow Brewery US$32,797,869 Manufacturing and distribution
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o LHEREE (KE)ERAA AR92,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 HEHEEWE” R
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB92,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Changchun) Co., Ltd. of beer products
OLEEREERT) BRAF A 1264,400,0007C 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEERE" R
RMB264,400,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* LEERBE(ER)ARAF AR 95,000,0007 1000 - 1000 HIEMEERE"m
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB95,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution

(Fuyang) Co., Ltd.

of beer products
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B0 i) =P
Principal Subsidiaries
FZF—-N\F+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018
RABS
Percentage of capital
BRAOEERRA/EMEEX  AKANE AAARE WELARE
HERF Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby ZZL%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
TFHRERMEMRK L (%)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
OLESERE (BRI ARAR 29,166,116.38F L 100.0 - 1000  HEMEERE” R
China Resources Snow Breweries US$29,166,116.38 Manufacturing and distribution
(Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
AT RBE (TR ARAR 114,000,000% 0 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEEREF R
China Resources Snow Breweries US$114,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Jiangsu) Limited of beer products
o ARERRE (M) ARAR AR587,000,00070 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEERESR
RMB587,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
 LREREHE(EMN) ERAR 55,800,000% 7T 100.0 - 1000 HEMEERE" R
China Resources Snow Breweries US$55,800,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd. of beer products
* RERRE (BR)ARAA AR220,769,50070 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEEREF R
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB220,769,500 Manufacturing and distribution
(Gansu) Co., Ltd. of beer products
*OLEERRE (1) AR AT 58,020,000 T 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEERESR
US$58,020,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
 LHERER(ER)ERAF 88,710,000% T 100.0 - 1000 HEMEERE" R
US$88,710,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* LEERBE(HE)BRAF AR 850,000,000 7T 1000 - 1000 HIEMHEEREF R
RMB850,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o LEERRE (BR) AR A AR150,000,00070 100.0 - 1000 HEHEEWE” @
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB150,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Chaoyang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
*OESERE (B L) BRAF AR282,040,00070 95.73 - 9%5.73  HENHERE" R
RMB282,040,000 Manufacturing and distribution

of beer products
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FEE 2

Principal Subsidiaries

FZE2—-N\F+ZHA=+—H As at 31 December 2018

RABS
Percentage of capital
BRAOEERRA/EMEEX  AKANE AAARE WELARE
HERF Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable  Held by the Heldby ZZL%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
TFHRERMEMRK L (%)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
* WEEFBE(BE) BRAF A 285,000,007 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEERE" R
RMB285,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* LEEREE(EM) BRAF AR 180,000,0007C 1000 - 1000 HIEMEEREF R
RMB180,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
O LEERRE () BRAF AR400,000,00070 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEERE R
RMB400,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* EEERBE (TR) BRAF AR 140,000,000 T 1000 - 1000 HIEMEERE" R
RMB140,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* RREENXEEREERAA 30,000,000% T 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEEREF R
Tianjin Binhai New Area Snow US$30,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries Co., Ltd. of beer products
* EREECLK)BRAR AR186,000,00070 100.0 - 1000 HIEMEERESR
RMB186,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

i

Notes:

N

w1

* ok

* %

EFUN 2EIBIAEMBARTIE2EREI TR - R ERNEFINHNAEHA L SR EERZW N 2B RBIFE -
The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries will be of excessive length and therefore the above

list contains only the particulars of the subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the Group.

BEEEHEN

BENBZERELAEERTANEIMA LA S

Unless otherwise stated, the principal country of operation of each company is the same as its place of incorporation.

EFRERMIMKLRF BERXERATEE 2HEEBERE) °

For companies incorporated in the Chinese Mainland, the English name is as shown in the Certificate of Approval of each company (if any).

AR
Equity Joint Venture

MR Rl

Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise
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Five-Year Financial Summary

—F-mE  ZZ-RE ZE-RE ZBE-tE  ZE-)\E
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
AETEATL ARTEAT ARTERRT ARMERT ARMBAR
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million

BEL%K Consolidated results
2\F Turnover 133,757 106,872 28,694 29,732 31,867
RENSEF/ (5H) Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders (128) (4,118) 629 1175 977
SREREF/ (55) Basic eamnings/(losses) per share RMB(0.05) RMB(1.56) RMB0.22 RMBO.36 RMB0.30
FREE Dividend per share
b Interim HK$0.11 - - RMBO0.07 RMB0.09
(RMB0.09)
egil Special - HK$12.30 - - -
(RMB10.08)
R Final HK$0.16 - RMB0.08 RMB0.07 RMBO0.03
(RMBO0.13)
HK$0.27 HK$12.30 RMBO0.08 RMBO.14 RMB0.12
(RMB0.22)  (RMB10.08)
GRRFEARE Consolidated balance sheet
TR Fixed assets 69,468 21,389 20,900 20,449 19,632
BE Goodwil 18,029 8,326 8,422 8,318 8,390
ER b Other intangible assets 402 194 171 147 124
KRR Long term investments 1,116 10 9 9 9
iS5 Prepayments 801 158 89 81 240
BRERIA = Deferred taxation assets 1,794 1,655 2,011 2,261 2,426
R REE Net current liabilities 16,659) (7,714) 9,777) 9,809) (9,920)
REER Employment of capital 74,951 24,018 21,825 21,456 20,901
e Share capital 15,691 5,941 14,090 14,090 14,090
fE% Reserves 22,764 4115 3,511 4,331 4,758
BRENE Shareholders' funds 38,455 10,056 17,601 18421 18,848
AL e Non-controlling interests 16,469 9,264 66 64 62
KERH Long term loans 15,676 3,839 2,953 1,087 9
kAR Other non-current liabilities 2,580 601 934 1629 1,583
i TR A Deferred taxation liabilities 1,77 258 271 255 399

BEER%e Capital employed 74,951 24,018 21,825 21,456 20,901
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FERPITES
Chairman and Executive Director
P A Chen Lang

RITES

Executive Director

&5 Jian Vi
(F=E-NFELARARZEF)
(appointed on 5 July 2018)

HEPTERWNITES
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
G Hou Xiaohai

HEMSERINITES
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
ZE7  Lai Po Sing, Tomakin

ERITES

Non-Executive Directors
S Chen Rong
54t Lai Ni Hium, Frank

MM IERITES

Independent Non-Executive Directors
# AT  Houang Tai Ninh

ZZKEE  LiKaCheung, Eric

MEE  Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
%2 Bernard Charnwut Chan
7AW Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

2 H BB

Corporate Information

NE WP
Company Secretary
ZEFE  Lai Po Sing, Tomakin

B m

Auditor
FEBKESITIMEST
PricewaterhouseCoopers

AMHBBAREELS

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
BBBHELE26SHHKEINE

39/F, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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&P TR

Information for Investors

NEEF S

Announcement of Annual Results
201943 A20H

20 March 2019

EEARBRARE R BT R 2 & 5 R E

Last Day of Dealings in Shares with Entitlement to
Final Dividend

201945 H27H

27 May 2019

FEDEROIFBIEFE

Closure of Register Period
WEANEHERFAER2H T2 EREZRERSH
20195 H20HE 201945 H 24 H
(EEMARBELEN)

To determine the identity of members

who are entitled to attend and vote at the

annual general meeting:

20 May 2019 to 24 May 2019

(both days inclusive)

WERFZBREWN ZRARE ZNFH -
201945 H30H

To ascertain the members’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend:

30 May 2019

REBREAARKAE

Payment of Final Dividend
20196 A14H3A/A

On or about 14 June 2019

% 10 & g 4k

Share Registrar
FEREERAA
BEBERKNER183S
&ML 221

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

BREREL

Depositary

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.0. Box 30170

College Station

Tx 77842-3170

REKRS

Stock Codes
BEBBRER S - 00291
Z1E 1 291 HK

BEIEAL 1 0291.HK
ADRAS : CRHKY
CUSIP: 16940R109
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 00291
Bloomberg: 291 HK
Reuters: 0291.HK

ADR symbol: CRHKY
CUSIP: 16940R109

BRREXRE

Investor Relations
BB B : ir@cre.com.hk
Email: ir@cre.com.hk
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